ECONSTOR

Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Fornoni, Ruggero; Greunz, Lydia; Rabemiafara, Nirina; Römisch, Roman; Ward, Terry

Research Report Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions II: Recent Structural Reforms, Outstanding Needs and Governance Issues

wiiw Research Report, No. 422

Provided in Cooperation with:

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw) - Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche (wiiw)

Suggested Citation: Fornoni, Ruggero; Greunz, Lydia; Rabemiafara, Nirina; Römisch, Roman; Ward, Terry (2017) : Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions II: Recent Structural Reforms, Outstanding Needs and Governance Issues, wiiw Research Report, No. 422, The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw), Vienna

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/204194

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



DECEMBER 2017

Research Report 422

Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions II:

Recent Structural Reforms, Outstanding Needs and Governance Issues

Roman Römisch (wiiw, coordinator), Ruggero Fornoni (Applica sprl.), Lydia Greunz (Applica sprl.), Nirina Rabemiafara (Applica sprl.) and Terry Ward (Applica sprl.)

The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche



Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions II:

Recent Structural Reforms, Outstanding Needs and Governance Issues

ROMAN RÖMISCH (WIIW, COORDINATOR) RUGGERO FORNONI (APPLICA SPRL.) LYDIA GREUNZ (APPLICA SPRL.) NIRINA RABEMIAFARA (APPLICA SPRL.) TERRY WARD (APPLICA SPRL.)

Roman Römisch is Research Economist at the Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiiw). Terry Ward is Director at Applica sprl. Lydia Greunz is Senior Economic Analyst at Applica sprl. Ruggero Fornoni and Nirina Rabemiafara are Economic and Social Analysts at Applica sprl.

This report was produced as a part of the study 'Economic challenges of lagging regions' (Contract No. 2015.CE.16.BAT.053), funded by the Directorate-General for Regional and Urban Policy of the European Commission. It reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

The authors wish to thank the Economic Analysis Unit of the DG Regional and Urban Policy, in particular Blazej Gorgol, Lewis Dijkstra, Eric von Breska, Laura de-Dominicis, Moray Gilland, Paola Annoni, Alexandros Karvounis, Angel Catalina-Rubianes and Julien Genet for their useful comments.

The authors also wish to thank Ronald Hartwig and Loredana Sementini for administrative support.

Abstract

This report is concerned with analysing, for eight EU Member States with lagging regions, the main structural reforms carried out over the past five to ten years, essentially those which are relevant for the European Structural and Investment Funds. Furthermore it provides an overview of the remaining structural reforms needed, including to the system and operation of governance, and their relevance for lagging regions. The identification of the remaining reforms needed is based on a detailed analysis of the main indicators that can be identified to assess the situation in each of the eight countries concerned and, so far as possible, in the lagging regions in them. An additional concern is to gauge the effects of the reforms carried out with a particular focus on the lagging regions.

The first subsection of the report briefly sets out the structural reforms covered by the analysis and the rationale for choosing these from among all those subject to the European Council's Country-Specific Recommendations. It then presents for each of the eight countries and the lagging regions the main structural imbalances in the form of a concise summary bringing out the main points emerging from the detailed analysis for each country. The second sub-section assesses the effects of labour market reforms on investment, productivity and competitiveness. A third sub-section examines the business environment in each of the countries and the lagging regions within these as well as the structure of enterprises and business demography, and attempts to relate this to the business environment. It also considers the reforms which have been carried out over recent years which have been aimed at improving the situation in which businesses operate.

Keywords: regional economic development, EU, lagging regions, regional policy, economic challenges, structural reforms, labour market reforms, business environment

JEL classification: D21, E24, G30, H11, J21, J24, O15, O 16, O 18, O 38, R11, R38, R50

CONTENTS

1.	Project overview	1
2.	Introduction to Part II	6
3.	Structural imbalances and structural reforms	7
3.1. 3.2.	Structural reforms Structural weaknesses in the 8 Member States	7 11
4.	Synoptic overview of the main structural issues	14
4.1. 4.2. 4.3.	Low growth region countries Low income region countries Situation in other areas	14 34 48
5.	Effects of structural reforms	49
5.1. 5.2. 5.3. 5.4. 5.5. 5.6. 5.7.	Introduction The effect of labour market reforms Main labour market challenges in the 8 countries Labour market reforms Assumed effects of labour market reforms on employment, productivity, investment and competitiveness Gauging the effects Summary and conclusion	49 50 54 57 61 88

6.1.	Theoretical context - literature review: regulation, business demography and growth	92
6.2.	Reforms in the business environment	94
6.3.	The main remaining challenges in the business environment	96
6.3.1.	Demography and dynamics of business enterprises	121
6.3.2.	The structure of enterprises in the 8 Member States	121
6.3.3.	The business demography in the 8 Member States	123
6.3.4.	Business demography in the lagging regions	125
6.3.5.	Enterprise birth rates	127
6.3.6.	Country-specific summaries and conclusions	131
6.3.7.	Cross-country/region summary and conclusion	136

7.	Annexes
7.1.	Annex A: Classification of policies in the LABREF database
7.2.	Annex B: Definition of reform directions
7.3.	Annex C: Specifications underlying the partial correlation analysis and the results from OLS
	regressions

References......144 8.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 3.1 / Policy areas in which structural reforms have been made or called for	7
Table 3.2 / Rationale for CSRs in areas affecting investment	8
Table 3.3 / Policy areas with direct effects on investment decisions – evidence from empirical	
literature	.10
Table 3.4 / Indicators and source of data to measure progress in reform areas	.12
Table 5.1 / Labour market reform measures implemented in the 2000-2014 period	.56
Table 5.2 / Assumed effects of labour market reforms	.60
Table 5.3 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and annual	
average growth rate in employment over the same period	.62
Table 5.4 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and annual	
average growth rate in GFCF over the same period	.68
Table 5.5 / Developments in GFCF per employment over the period 2000-2014	72
Table 5.6 / Developments in investment rates (GFCF/GVA) over the period 2000-2014	.73
Table 5.7 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and the	
average annual growth rate of GVA per employment over the same period	74
Table 5.8 / GVA per hour worked, 2005, in EUR	.80
Table 5.9 / GVA per employment, 2005, in thousand EUR	81
Table 5.10 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and the	
change in cost competitiveness over the same period	.83
Table 5.11 / Real compensation of employees in relation to GVA	87
Table 5.12 / Real compensation of employees per hour worked	.88
Table 5.13 / Employment effects of LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis	.89
Table 5.14 / Investment effects of LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis	.89
Table 5.15 / Productivity effects from LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis	.90
Table 5.16 / Cost competitiveness effects from LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis	.91
Table 6.1 / 'Doing Business' reforms undertaken in the 8 Member States since 2006	94
Table 6.2 / Business environment indicators in Italy, 2016	.96
Table 6.3 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Italy, 2013 and 2016	97
Table 6.4 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Italy, 2013 and 2016	.98
Table 6.5 / Starting a business indicators in Italy, 2013 and 2016	.98
Table 6.6 / Business environment indicators in Spain, 2016	.99
Table 6.7 / Starting a business indicators in Spain, 2015 and 20161	100
Table 6.8 / Dealing with construction permits in Spain, 2015 and 20161	101
Table 6.9 / Registering property indicators in Spain, 2015 and 20161	101
Table 6.10 / Getting electricity indicators in Spain, 2015 and 20161	101
Table 6.11 / Business environment indicators in Greece, 20161	102
Table 6.12 / Registering property indicators in Greece, 20161	103
Table 6.13 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Greece, 20161	103
Table 6.14 / Starting a business indicators in Greece, 20161	104
Table 6.15 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Greece, 20161	104
Table 6.16 / Business environment indicators in Portugal, 20161	104
Table 6.17 / Starting a business indicators in Portugal, 20161	105
Table 6.18 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Portugal, 2016 1	106
Table 6.19 / Registering property indicators in Portugal, 2016	106

Table 6.20 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Portugal, 2016	106
Table 6.21 / Business environment indicators in Hungary, 2016	107
Table 6.22 / Share of entrepreneurs considering electricity and transport infrastructure as major	
constraints for doing business in Hungary, 2013	107
Table 6.23 / Indicators on regulations, taxation, and business licences as problems for doing	
business in Hungary and lagging regions, 2013	108
Table 6.24 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Hungary, 2016	108
Table 6.25 / Starting a business indicators in Hungary, 2016	109
Table 6.26 / Business environment indicators in Romania, 2016	109
Table 6.27 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Romania,	
2013	110
Table 6.28 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Romania, 2016	111
Table 6.29 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as problems for doing business in Romania	
and lagging regions, 2013	111
Table 6.30 / Registering property indicators in Romania, 2016	.111
Table 6.31 / Starting a business indicators in Romania, 2016	112
Table 6.32 / Corruption, crime and informality as problems for doing business in Romania and	
lagging regions, 2013	112
Table 6.33 / Business environment indicators in Bulgaria, 2016	113
Table 6.34 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Bulgaria,	
2013	114
Table 6.35 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as a problem for doing business in Bulgaria,	
2013	114
Table 6.36 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Bulgaria, 2016	115
Table 6.37 / Registering property indicators in Bulgaria, 2016	115
Table 6.38 / Starting a business indicators in Bulgaria, 2016	115
Table 6.39 / Corruption, crime and informal sector as problems for doing business in Bulgaria, 2013 .	116
Table 6.40 / Business environment indicators in Poland, 2016	117
Table 6.41 / Starting a business indicators in Poland, 2015 and 2016	118
Table 6.42 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as problems for doing business in Poland,	
2013	118
Table 6.43 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Poland, 2016	119
Table 6.44 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Poland, 2013	119
Table 6.45 / Registering property indicators in Poland, 2016	119
Table 6.46 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Poland, 2016	120
Table 6.47 / Corruption, crime and the informal sector as problems for doing business in Poland and	
lagging regions, 2013	120
Table 6.48 / Employment share in the tradable sector	121
Table 6.49 / Business density in the tradable sector	122
Table 6.50 / Share of employment in the tradable sector and employment by firm size	123
Table 6.51 / Enterprises birth rate and employment in the tradable sector	124
Table 6.52 / High-growth enterprises (growth in employment of 10% or more) in the tradable sector,	
2012-2014	124
Table 6.53 / Enterprise density and employment	126
Table 6.54 / Enterprise birth rate and employment in new enterprises	128
Table 6.55 / Churn rate in the lagging regions (% total enterprises)	129

Table 6.56 / Number of enterprises, number of enterprise births, churn rate of enterprises and	
average size of enterprises, 2011 and 2014 (2013 for churn rate)	130
Table 6.57 / Business demography in Poland	131

Figure 1.1 / Structure of the study, linkages and transmission mechanisms between tasks	4
Figure 4.1 / Corruption Perception Index in Italy, 1997 to 2015	15
Figure 4.2 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Italy, 2008 and 2014	15
Figure 4.3 / Quality of Government Index in Italy and lagging regions, 2010 and 2013	16
Figure 4.4 / Proportion of young people aged 25-34 with ISCED 0-2 in Italy and lagging regions:	
2008, 2011 and 2014	17
Figure 4.5 / Participation rate of persons aged 25-64 in continuing education or training in Italy and	
lagging regions: 2008, 2012, and 2015	18
Figure 4.6 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Italy and lagging regions:	
2008, 2012 and 2015	19
Figure 4.7 / Employment rate of those aged 25-29 with tertiary education in Italy and lagging regions:	
2008, 2011 and 2014	19
Figure 4.8 / Participation rate of women aged 25-64 with tertiary education in Italy and lagging	
regions: 2008, 2011 and 2014	20
Figure 4.9 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Spain and lagging	
regions: 2002 to 2015	22
Figure 4.10 / Youth unemployment rate (15-24) in Spain and lagging regions: 2002 to 2015	22
Figure 4.11 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) with temporary contract because they could	
not find a permanent job in Spain and lagging regions: 2006 to 2014	23
Figure 4.12 / Early leavers (18-24) from education and training in Spain and lagging regions, 2002	
to 2015	24
Figure 4.13 / Proportion of individuals aged 25-34 whose highest education level attained is	
ISCED 0-2 in Spain and lagging regions, 2005-2014	25
Figure 4.14 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Greece, 2008 and 2014	27
Figure 4.15 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Greece and lagging	~~
regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015	28
Figure 4.16 / Youth unemployment rate in Greece and lagging regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015	29
Figure 4.17 / Female participation rate in Greece and lagging regions: 2010, 2012 and 2015	29
Figure 4.18 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Portugal and lagging	24
Figure 4.10 (Linempleyment rote of young people aged 15.24 in Dertugal and legging regions	
Figure 4. 197 Onemployment rate of young people aged 15-24 in Portugal and lagging regions,	21
Eigure 4.20 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) with temporary contract because they could	
not find a permanent job in Portugal and lagging regions: 2005 to 2014	30
Figure 4.21 / Proportion of individuals aged 25.34 whose highest education level attained is	52
ISCED 0-2 in Portugal and lagging regions 2005-2014	22
Figure 4.22 / Proportion of individuals and 25-34 whose highest education level attained is	
ISCED 5-8 in Portugal and lagging regions 2005-2014	23
Figure 4.23 / Corruption Percention Index in Bulgaria 1996-2015	
Figure 4.24 / Quality of Government Index in Bulgaria and lagging regions. 2010 and 2013	20 AS
righter a second second and a second se	

Figure 4.25 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Bulgaria and lagging	27
Figure 4.26 / Properties of young people aged 15.24 paither in employment per in education and	51
training in Bulgaria and logging regions: 2008, 2012, 2015 (%, of the age group)	27
Eigure 4.27 / Employment rates of these aged 25.64 with low education in Bulgaria and logging	51
Figure 4.27 / Employment rates of those aged 25-64 with low education in Bulgaria and lagging	20
Figure 4.20 (Dependicular of employees (25 and ever) with temperature street because they could	30
not find a permanent job in Poland and lagging regions: 2008, 2011 and 2014	39
Figure 4.29 / Participation rate of people aged 25-64 in continuing education and training in Poland	
and lagging regions: 2008, 2011 and 2015	40
Figure 4.30 / Participation rate of women aged 25-64 with upper secondary education in Poland and	
lagging regions: 2008, 2011 and 2015	41
Figure 4.31 / Proportion of young people aged 25-34 with ISCED 5-8 in Hungary and lagging regions,	
2005 to 2014	42
Figure 4.32 / Share of young people aged 15-24 in vocational education or training in Hungary and	40
lagging regions, 2014	43
Figure 4.33 / Corruption Perception Index in Romania, 1996-2015	45
Figure 4.34 / Quality of Government Index in Romania and lagging regions, 2010 and 2013	45
Figure 4.35 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Romania, 2008 and 2014	46
Figure 4.36 / Early leavers (18-24) from education and training in Romania and lagging regions	
in 2008, 2012 and 2015	47
Figure 4.37 / Proportion of people with ISCED 5-8 in Romania and lagging regions in 2008, 2011 and 2014	47
Figure 4.38 / Participation rate of 25-64 in continuing education or training in Romania and lagging	
regions in 2008, 2012, and 2015	48
Figure 5.1 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Greece, Spain, Portugal	
and Italy in 2015.	51
Figure 5.2 / Youth unemployment rate in Greece, Spain, Italy and Portugal in 2015	51
Figure 5.3 / Female participation rates in Italy, Romania and Greece, in 2015	52
Figure 5.4 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) in temporary jobs because they could not find a	
permanent job in Spain, Poland and Portugal in 2014	54
Figure 5.5 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and number of contracting ALMP	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	63
Figure 5.6 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and number of expanding ALMP	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	64
Figure 5.7 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and decreasing labour taxation	•
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	65
Figure 5.8 / Partial correlation between growth in employment growth and increasing labour taxation	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	66
Figure 5.9 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and decreasing welfare-related	00
henefits (scatter of residuals and trend)	66
Figure 5.10 / Partial correlation between growth in employment growth and decreasing	00
unemployment benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)	67
Figure 5.11 / Partial correlation between growth in CECE and relaying ich protection (EPL)	01
(scatter of residuals and trend)	60
	09

Figure 5.12 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and strengthening job protection (EPL)	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	70
Figure 5.13 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and increasing welfare-related benefits	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	70
Figure 5.14 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and moderating wage setting (scatter of	
residuals and trend)	71
Figure 5.15 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and number of increasing wage setting	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	71
Figure 5.16 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and contracting ALMP measures	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	75
Figure 5.17 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and expanding ALMP measures	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	76
Figure 5.18 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and tightening immigration/mobility	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	76
Figure 5.19 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing labour taxation	
measures (scatter of residuals and trend)	77
Figure 5.20 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing labour taxation	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	77
Figure 5.21 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing welfare-related	
benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)	78
Figure 5.22 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing welfare-related	
benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)	78
Figure 5.23 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing wage setting	
(scatter of residuals and trend)	79
Figure 5.24 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and relaxing	
immigration/mobility measures (residuals and trend)	83
Figure 5.25 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and tightening	
immigration/mobility measures (residuals and trend)	84
Figure 5.26 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and strengthening job	
protection (scatter of residuals and trend)	85
Figure 5.27 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and decreasing labour	
taxation (scatter of residuals and trend)	85
Figure 5.28 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and increasing labour	
taxation (scatter of residuals and trend)	86
Figure 6.1 / Italy – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	97
Figure 6.2 / Spain – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	100
Figure 6.3 / Greece – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	103
Figure 6.4 / Portugal – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	105
Figure 6.5 / Hungary – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	107
Figure 6.6 / Romania – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	110
Figure 6.7 / Bulgaria – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	113
Figure 6.8 / Poland – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016	117
Figure 6.9 / Enterprise density, 2014	126
Figure 6.10 / Average employment size of enterprises in the tradable sector, 2014	127
Figure 6.11 / Employment concentration in the tradable sector, 2014	127
Figure 6.12 / Enterprise births, 2014	128

Figure 6.13 / Employed per enterprise birth,	20141	28
Figure 6.14 / Churn rate		29

1. Project overview

This report is the second part of a bigger study on the 'Economic challenges of lagging regions' commissioned by the European Commission's Directorate-General for Regional and Urban Policy. The study was a joint undertaking of three institutions, i.e. Applica sprl., Cambridge Econometrics and the Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies (wiw).

The focus of the study is the economic challenges of lagging regions in the EU-28. In this respect, regions – in general – are defined according to the NUTS 2 level of regions¹. As far as lagging regions are concerned, there are two specific types:

- > Low growth regions, i.e. those NUTS 2 regions that did not converge to the EU average GDP per head at PPS between the years 2000 and 2013. This group covers almost all the less developed and transition regions in Greece, Italy, Spain and Portugal.
- > Low income regions, i.e. those NUTS 2 regions with a GDP per head in PPS below 50% of the EU average in 2013. This group covers several less developed regions of Bulgaria, Hungary, Poland and Romania.²

The main challenge regarding the low growth regions is to find policies and strategies to overcome the low growth path they have been locked in for more than a decade. The main challenge of the low income regions is the long-term sustainability of the respectable growth path they have been following in the past and the need to prevent them from entering the development trajectory of the low growth regions. Overall therefore, the major challenge of the lagging regions is to increase and/or stabilise their economic performance in order to enable them to re-enter and stay on a convergence path to the more prosperous regions in the EU.

At the same time, the economic performance of the regions is, from the study's point of view, dependent on three factors, namely:

- a) the fiscal and macroeconomic conditions under which the regions and the respective countries operate;
- b) the structural imbalances they are subject to;
- c) the amount and structure of investment going to the regions to increase their productive capacity.

It is the aim of the study to analyse these three points and their relation to the economic performance of the lagging regions. The results and conclusions of the study are intended to assist the EU Commission in developing strategies to overcome the economic problems and challenges in the lagging regions of the EU.

1

¹ Defined according to the 2013 NUTS classification.

² According to this definition there are 46 NUTS 2 lagging regions in the EU (see Annex II in *wiiw Research Report* No. 421).

For this, the study is structured in four Parts:

(I) An analysis of the fiscal and macroeconomic environment for each of the eight Member States containing lagging regions

- (II) An analysis of the main structural reforms carried out in the eight Member States
- (III) An analysis of the main investment trends in the eight countries and the lagging regions
- (IV) Three case studies to provide an in-depth analysis of lagging regions, aimed at identifying their development opportunities and comparative advantages

The aim of Parts I-III is to work out the links between the macroeconomic environment, structural reforms and investment trends on the economic performance of especially the lagging regions, while Part IV, accounting for the fact that there may be no one-size-fits-all solution for the lagging regions, provides a deeper analysis of potential strategies to foster economic development for a selected number of individual regions.

In some more detail, the four Parts centre on the following issues:

- Part I analyses the fiscal and macroeconomic environment in the lagging regions and the relevant Member States, as a sound and sustainable macroeconomic framework is a necessary, but by itself not a sufficient precondition for investment and growth in the regions. The first task therefore
 - presents a range of indicators which represent the fiscal and macroeconomic environment, drawing on the most recent economic governance reports, and covering sufficiently long time periods to capture current trends;
 - 2) discusses the relationship between these indicators and the narrative that emerges with respect to the current status and development path of the macroeconomic environment;
 - further analyses investment activity, and demonstrates how the macroeconomic situation influences what investment takes place, where it occurs (across the regions) and how this relates to the development of regional export capacity and competitiveness;
 - 4) summarises the principal macroeconomic policy challenges that are affecting the lagging regions and what this implies for the national and regional government.
- Part II focuses on structural reforms and governance issues in the lagging regions and the respective Member States. The analysis is broken down to address six questions:
 - 1) What have been the main structural reforms carried out over the recent past which are relevant for the ESI Funds?
 - 2) What has been their effect on the countries concerned but most especially on the lagging regions within them?

- 3) Which remaining structural reforms need to be implemented which are relevant for the performance of lagging regions in the eight countries?
- 4) Which governance issues affect the performance of the programmes cofinanced by the ESI Funds?
- 5) How does the implementation of structural reforms affect the investment decisions of enterprises located both within these Member States and regions and outside?
- 6) How are the investment decisions affected by the quality of governance?
- Part III analyses recent investment trends in the lagging regions, regional development strategies and future investment requirements. The analysis is broken down into three parts:
 - A detailed analysis of regional investment trends, focusing on investment as recorded by the National Accounts, ERDF and Cohesion Fund investment for the periods 2000-2006 and 2007-2013 and foreign direct investment.
 - An assessment of the effects of these investments on regional GDP, employment and productivity growth in the lagging regions, as well as an analysis of their opportunity costs.
 - 3) An analysis of investment needs and investment support policies in lagging regions.
- Part IV includes three case studies on lagging regions, namely a) the Romanian Nord-Est region (RO21), representing a predominantly rural, low income region; b) the Portuguese Norte region (PT11), representing a low growth region specialised in manufacturing; and c) the Italian Campania (ITF3), representing a low growth urban region specialised in services activities. Each case study analyses the region's comparative advantages and development opportunities, the constraints on exploiting these opportunities as well as the potential consequences that may arise if these development opportunities are realised.

Overall therefore, the study explores determinants of and challenges to regional economic performance from three different angles (represented by Parts I-III). Individually, each of these angles not only affects in one way or another, the level and sustainability of growth in the regions. Also, each angle has effects on the distribution of growth across regions, considering that changes in the macroeconomic environment or national structural reforms may entail asymmetric effects on the regions, depending on their characteristics. At the same time there are also transmission channels between these angles, i.e. the macroeconomic framework, structural issues and investment trends, so that changes in one of them has repercussion on the others, which in sum have further repercussions on the regions' economic performance (e.g. changes in the macroeconomic conditions may necessitate the introduction of structural reforms and/or change the investment behaviour in the regions). Finally, there are also repercussions from the regional performance itself on the countries' macroeconomic development, the need and ability to conduct structural reforms and also the investment trends in the regions (e.g. through agglomeration effects).

3

From this, the structure of the study, the links between the individual tasks analysed in Parts I-IV and regional economic performance as well as the transmission channels between the tasks are illustrated in Figure 1.1.





This structure shows the relationship between the macroeconomic environment, the more fundamental structural issues and the investment trends in the regions that are believed to be at the root of their potential performance. It shows how the macroeconomic environment through stabilising and destabilising transmission channels directly and/or indirectly affects both, structural issues and investment trends. Thus, the structure suggests that the macroeconomic environment also has both, a direct and indirect impact on regional performance. The direct impact emanates from the stabilising factors, as e.g. a sound monetary policy with low and stable inflation, favourable nominal and real exchange rates is directly conducive to the regions' foreign competitiveness, thus generating spillovers on the regions' labour markets, tax revenues, income growth and even the economic structure (e.g. through easier financing of R&D or start-ups). The indirect effects of the macroeconomic environment on

regional performance are transmitted through its impacts on structural issues and investment, both of which affect the regions' performance on their own.

The impacts of the macroeconomic environment or, in this case, rather the macroeconomic imbalances on structural issues are transmitted through a number of destabilising factors, as long-term economic underperformance can exacerbate the fundamental structural problems of a country and its regions. Thus, running high public deficits and debt levels lower the government's ability to invest e.g. in infrastructure, education, R&D, leading to a decline of the capital stock, a deterioration of public infrastructure, an erosion of the skill and science base etc. Equally, high public deficits make the implementation of necessary structural reforms much more difficult, and the required cuts in public spending and employment might not necessarily be conducive to the institutional capacity or the quality of governance (e.g. through an increase in corruption, adverse selection in public employment etc.).

As far as the impacts of the macroeconomic environment on investment trends are concerned, the structure indicates that both, stabilising and destabilising factors may affect the size and structure of investment. A sound macroeconomic performance stabilises expectations, providing a secure environment for investment, while low or sustainable public (and private) debt levels facilitate the financing of public (and private) investment via banks or the capital market. Interest rates may be conducive to investment if low (though this is only a necessary, not sufficient condition), yet if misaligned may distort the relative prices of capital and lead to investment bubbles³.

Long-term fundamental structural issues, which include social, institutional, physical, regulatory and economic problems, directly impact upon the regions and their ability to compete and attract external investment. Major direct impacts on the regions' performance include a) a lack of competitiveness within sectors, b) a potential over-reliance on low wage and low productivity sectors, c) low income growth and levels, d) unfavourable labour market situations and conditions or e) low tax revenues and high expenditure requirements faced by the local government, with repercussions on the central government budget.

Simultaneously structural issues in one way or another also affect the (foreign or domestic) investment going to the regions as low skill endowments, a low institutional capacity and outdated infrastructure are likely to deter private investment from the regions and may lead to an inefficient use of public and Structural Funds investments. In this way, structural issues indirectly affect regional performance, too, as investment is a major determinant of regional growth and development.

Finally, the regions' performance itself has repercussions on the macroeconomic environment (as the country is the sum of its regions), and reveals itself through the designated macroeconomic indicators referring to the labour market, public finances, foreign competitiveness or monetary policy.

This report is Part II, 'Recent Structural Reforms, Outstanding Needs and Governance Issues'.

³ In the structure this is considered as rather exceptional cases, therefore no link between 'destabilising factors' and 'investment trends' is shown.

2. Introduction to Part II

Part II is concerned with analysing, for the 8 EU Member States⁴ with lagging regions, the main structural reforms carried out over the past five to ten years, essentially those which are relevant for the European Structural and Investment Funds, and with providing an overview of the remaining structural reforms needed, including to the system and operation of governance, and their relevance for lagging regions. The identification of the remaining reforms needed is based on a detailed analysis of the main indicators that can be identified to assess the situation in each of the 8 countries concerned and, so far as possible, in the lagging (NUTS 2) regions in them. An additional concern is to gauge the effects of the reforms carried out with a particular focus on the lagging regions.

This report is divided into three sub-sections. The first subsection briefly sets out the structural reforms covered by the analysis and the rationale for choosing these from among all those subject to the European Council's Country-Specific Recommendations (CSRs). It then presents for each of the 8 countries and the lagging regions the main structural imbalances in the form of a concise summary bringing out the main points emerging from the detailed analysis for each country. Detailed country reports are included in the Online Annex to this report.⁵ The second sub-section assesses the effects of labour market reforms (LMRs) on investment, productivity and competitiveness. The analysis is based on a detailed database on LMRs in the EU28 countries over the period 2000-2014. A third sub-section examines the business environment in each of the countries and the lagging regions within these as well as the structure of enterprises and business demography, i.e. the rates of birth and death of businesses, and attempts to relate this to the business environment. It also considers the reforms which have been carried out over recent years which have been aimed at improving the situation in which businesses operate.

⁴ Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain (with lagging low growth regions); Bulgaria, Hungary, Poland and Romania (with lagging low income regions).

⁵ See wiiw Research Report No. 425, 'Online Annex – Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions: Annex I – Country Case Studies'.

3. Structural imbalances and structural reforms

3.1. STRUCTURAL REFORMS

In practice, the Country-Specific Recommendations (CSRs) cover a wide range of policy areas. While many of them have been aimed directly at boosting economic growth and job creation, or strengthening productivity and competitiveness with the same ultimate objectives in mind, others have been targeted at reducing poverty and social exclusion, which can also be important for improving the conditions for sustained growth to occur. The policy areas in which reforms have been recommended are set out in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1 / Policy areas in which structural reforms have been made or called for

PUBLIC FINANCES Public finances, Taxation, Pension system, Healthcare system FINANCIAL SECTOR Banking and access to finance, Housing and private debt LABOUR MARKET Active labour market policy, Unemployment benefits, Incentives to work, Job creation and labour market participation, Wage setting, Employment protection legislation and labour contracts EDUCATION Education, skills and lifelong learning PRODUCT AND SERVICES MARKETS Service and network industries, Innovation and business environment ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENT TRANSPORT QUALITY OF GOVERNANCE AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

Administration modernisation, Judiciary reform, Anti-corruption, Public procurement

Note: Based on the policy areas distinguished in the European Council's Country-Specific Recommendations (CSRs).

8

Areas	Rationale
1. Corporate	> Investment has declined particularly strongly in sectors where sector-specific surtaxes have been
taxation	imposed in recent years.
	 Reducing corporate tax rates can enhance investment.
2. Banking and	> SMEs are the main source of economic growth and new jobs. They however often face problems
Access to	in obtaining finance to develop new products or access new markets.
finance	> The high debt cost of firms can weigh on their performance and impede new investment.
3. Labour market	 Aligning wage developments with productivity is essential to maintain cost competitiveness. Labour market institutions, via their effect on the wage structure, affect the investment decisions of firms. Labour market segmentation, which is important in some countries, can obstruct the entry of
	young workers into employment with consequent effects on productive potential. Extensive use of temporary contracts can have a negative impact on productivity as temporary employees tend to have less access to vocational training and limited possibilities to build up experience and expertise in particular tasks.
	A reform of the Public Employment Services (PES) has the potential to play a prominent role in matching supply and demand in the labour market through more effective counselling, targeted employment measures and better identification of future skills requirements.
4. Education	Early school leaving is an important challenge to be addressed as it undermines the size of the skilled workforce, affects the job prospects of the individuals concerned and reduces potential growth.
	The quality and labour market relevance of education and training are often not adequate and contribute to youth unemployment. They also hamper the development of high-value added and innovative sectors.
	 Low education expenditure and/or a reduction in public investment on education adversely affects long-term growth prospects.
5. Business	> Structural reforms should aim at removing obstacles preventing businesses from growing,
environment and	helping SMEs to expand their markets, and promoting innovation, boosting export capacity,
innovation	stimulating job creation, and helping companies to improve productivity and to compete more effectively.
	 Reforming business and professional services could increase GDP and investment since they play a crucial role as drivers of knowledge, new technology and innovation. Reducing regulatory
	barriers to professional services has the potential to increase labour productivity by improving the allocation of resources.
	 Insufficiently innovation-friendly business environment is likely to be a major obstacle to medium- and longer-term economic growth.
6. Governance	 Bad governance can deter businesses from investing, as can corruption and an excessively bureaucratic administration which poses high costs on businesses.
	> Lengthy public procurement procedures can hamper the growth of firms, especially of small
	firms. Irregularities in public procurement procedures have a negative impact on the business
	environment and hold back investment particularly in infrastructure.
	An efficient and independent judicial system contributes to trust and stability. Predictable, timely and enforceable judicial decisions are conducive to a business environment which encourages investment. Efficient judicial systems can play a key role in maintaining business confidence and ensuring the returns to growth. They are a key building block for an investment-friendly business environment and effective mechanisms to fight corruption.
	Low administrative capacity hampers investment in general and EU co-funded investment in particular. Inefficiencies in public administration also weigh on a country's capacity to implement reforms effectively. One of the key levers to ensure smoother policy action lies in improved coordination and more efficient allocation of responsibilities between the various levels of covernment
	 The development of e-government contributes to increasing transparency and to reducing administrative burdens.

Table 3.2 / Rationale for CSRs in areas affecting investment

Not all of these areas, however, are of equal relevance for the present report which is essentially concerned with their effect on investment in lagging regions and on improving the conditions which are conducive to attracting investment. Although in principle, most kinds of structural reform have the potential to boost investment by increasing the attractiveness of a national or regional economy as a place to locate and produce in, in practice, some are likely to be much more important, or relevant, than others. The intention of the study is to focus attention on those reforms which are likely to have a direct and significant effect on investment decisions.

The main policy areas selected are:

- > Corporate taxation
- > Banking and Access to finance
- > Labour market (wage setting, labour market policy, unemployment benefits)
- Education
- > Business environment including product markets, research and innovation
- Governance (effectiveness and efficiency of public administration, anti-corruption, public procurement, justice system).

The choice of the reform areas is very much in line with the check list of investment challenges established by the Commission in December 2015 and published in a Staff Working Document on Member States' investment challenges⁶.

Table 3.2 outlines the main justifications for CSRs in the areas affecting investment.

The choice of the reform areas is also based on the literature and the empirical evidence available on the way interventions or reforms in these areas affect investment decisions and the development of the economy as a whole. The linkages providing the basis for the choice and the related references are briefly outlined in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3 / Policy areas with direct effects on investment decisions – evidence from empirical literature

Areas	Empirical evidence of Effects
1. Corporate taxation	An increase in corporate income taxes can adversely affect aggregate investment, FDI and entrepreneurial activity because taxes reduce expected as well as actual profits. Corporate tax rates are negatively correlated with investment essentially in manufacturing and positively with the size of the informal economy. References: for instance Devereux, Griffith and Klemm (2002), Desai, Foley and Hines (2004b), Auerbach (2002), Gordon and Hines (2002), Hasset and Hubbard (2002), Hines (2007), Djankov (2010).
2. Banking and access to finance	Credit constraints and other financial frictions have a negative impact on investment in general and innovation expenditure in particular because they make it harder to obtain the necessary finance. By deterring investment, financial constraints have a negative effect on productivity and, as a consequence, on exports. References: for instance Carpenter and Petersen (2002), Aghion et al. (2007), Savignac (2008), Musso and Schiavo (2008), Moreno-Badi and Slootmaekers (2009) Manova, (2008), Berman and Héricourt (2010), Bellone et al. (2010).
3. Labour market	A well-functioning labour market promotes job creation, increases living standards and builds the basis for a cohesive society. Deficiencies of the labour market result in high unemployment, low labour force participation and job-skill mismatches. The latter tent to deter investment from taking place. New OECD analysis, however, finds that less strict employment protection is associated with lower investment rates, though the effect is small and positive effects on GDP and investment come through higher employment. References: for instance Blanchard and Wolfers (2000); Bertola et al. (2002); OECD (2003), Nickell et al. (2005), Varga, Roeger and Veld (2013), Coenen, McAdam and Straub (2007), Lusinyan and Muir (2013).
4. Education	Skills (e.g. education) and competences are key factors for prosperity and economic growth. They are inputs to many productive activities including R&D. Human capital and skills form the intellectual capital of companies. Depending on the sector of activity, investment will take place where the appropriate skills are available. References: for instance Sala-i-Martin et al. (2004), de la Fuente and Doménech (2006), Cohen and Soto (2007), Barro and Lee (2010), Hanushek and Ludger (2012).
5. Business environment and RDTI	Competitive markets and the absence of barriers are seen as important conditions for innovation and investment. Theoretical models suggest that reforms which liberalise or improve the functioning of markets can positively affect productivity through three different channels: a reallocation of scarce resources (allocative efficiency), an improvement in the utilisation of production factors by firms (productive efficiency) and an incentive for firms to innovate to move towards the technology frontier (dynamic efficiency). The empirical literature on these effects, however, is limited. References: for instance Bayoumi, Laxton and Pesenti (2004), Griffith, Harrison and Simpson (2006), Alberto, Ardagna, Nicoletti and Schiantarelli (2005)
6. Governance	Institutional quality is a determinant of investment and FDI in particular, for a variety of reasons. First, good governance is associated with higher economic growth, which should attract more FDI inflows. Second, poor institutions that enable corruption to occur tend to add to investment costs and reduce profits. Third, the high sunk cost of FDI makes investors highly sensitive to uncertainty, including the political uncertainty that arises from poor institutions. Good institutions have a positive effect on development through the promotion of investment by raising productivity prospects and expected rates of return and by lowering uncertainty. References: Kaufman et al. (1999), Wei (2000), Habib and Zurawicki (2002), Kaufmann and Kraay (2002), Kinoshina and Campos (2003), Levchenko (2004), Walsh and Yu (2010)

3.2. STRUCTURAL WEAKNESSES IN THE 8 MEMBER STATES

The analysis carried out has identified the structural weaknesses in the 8 countries and the extent to which they have been tackled, in order to assess the effect that the reforms have had, in so far as it is evident, and to determine structural problems which remain to be tackled where further efforts are accordingly necessary.

The identification of structural weaknesses in each of the 8 countries has been carried out by examining the data at both national and regional level which bear on them and by relating the situation in the areas in question to that in the rest of the EU. The areas where structural reforms are likely to be most necessary are those considered to have the most important potential effects on investment and economic development and in which the situation differs significantly from that elsewhere in the EU. The data used to assess the extent of structural weaknesses in the different areas are set out in Table 3.4 below.

In order to identify the areas where further reforms might be needed, the starting point was to screen the information assembled and published as part of the European Semester process on the CSRs. This includes both the reforms recommended and an assessment of the extent to which previous recommendations have been acted on. The screening, however, was not limited to the CSRs but covered all relevant policy documents, including the Annual Growth Surveys, country reports produced by the European Semester, the OECD, the World Bank and national reform programmes.

The reforms carried out and those which have been recommended to the 8 Member States were examined in the light of the results of the statistical analysis aimed at identifying structural reform areas. This indicated whether all areas identified as needing structural reform according to the data have actually been tackled and the extent to which they have achieved the effect intended.

The remaining part of this section summarises for each of the 8 countries the main points resulting from the analysis. Detailed country reports are included as an Online Annex⁷ to this report together with a note specifying the data used, their sources and definitions.

⁷ See wiiw Research Report No. 425, 'Online Annex – Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions: Annex I – Country Case Studies'.

Areas	Variables	Source
1. Corporate taxation	Corporate income tax rate (at national level)	OECD Tax Database, 200-2016
	Implicit tax rate on capital and business income of corporations (at national level)	Eurostat, Government Statistics, 2000-2012
2. Access of enterprises to finance	Access to finance by SMEs (at national level) - Problems faced by enterprises in the past 6 months - Current most important problem for enterprises - Outcome of applications by enterprises for bank loans - Availability of bank loans	Survey on access to finance of enterprises (SAFE), European Commission and European Central Bank, 2015
3. Labour market	Unemployment and long-term unemployment rates (at national and NUTS 2 level)	Eurostat, LFS (lfst_r_lfu3rt) and (lfst_r_lfu2ltu) 2002-2015
	Young people neither in employment nor in education and training by NUTS 2 regions (NEET rates, 15-24)	Eurostat, LFS (edat_lfse_22) 2000-2015
	Unemployment rate for people aged 15-24 (Youth unemployment rate), by education level and NUTS 2 regions	Eurostat, LFS (lfst_r_lfu3rt) and microdata for regional data, 2000-2015
	Employment rate for people aged 20-64 by sex, and by NUTS 2 regions	Eurostat, LFS (lfst_r_lfe2emprt) 2000-2015
	Employment rate for people aged 25-64 by educational attainment level and by NUTS 2 regions.	Eurostat, LFS (lfst_r_lfe2eedu) and microdata for regional data, 2000-2014
	Temporary employment, as percentage of total employees for those aged 15-24 by NUTS 2 regions, and by age groups (15-24 and 25+ years old)	Eurostat, LFS (Ifsa_etpga) 2002-2015, and microdata for regional data, 2005-2014
	Job vacancy statistics by occupation and NUTS 2 regions – annual data, NACE Rev. 2	Eurostat, Job vacancy statistics (jvs_a_nace2) 2000-2008 and (jvs_a_nace2) 2008-2014
4. Education	Early leavers from education and training by NUTS 2 regions (18-24 years old)	Eurostat, LFS (edat_lfse_16) 2000-2014
	Educational attainment level by ISCED level by NUTS 2 regions and by age groups (25-64 and 25-34 years old)	Eurostat, LFS (edat_lfse_04), 2015 and microdata 2005-2014
	Young people enrolled in regular education or vocational training, by NUTS 2 regions (15-24 years old)	Eurostat, LFS microdata, 2005-2014
	Young people enrolled in vocational education or training, by NUTS 2 regions (15-24 years old)	Eurostat, LFS microdata, 2005-2014
	Participation rate in continuing education and training by NUTS 2 regions (lifelong learning), 25-64 years old	Eurostat, LFS (trng_lfse_04) 2000-2015
	Early childhood education, participation rate of 4-years-old in education, by NUTS 2 regions	Eurostat, Regional education statistics [educ_regind], 2001-2012
	Education expenditure, expenditure of the general government in education as % of GDP (at national level)	Eurostat, General government expenditure [gov_10a_exp]

Table 3.4 / Indicators and source of data to measure progress in reform areas

Table 3.4 / ctd.

5. Business environment and RDTI	Enterprise statistics: employment by size of enterprise in critical sectors (national level)	Eurostat, Structural Business Statistics [sbs_sc_sca_r2] 2013
	Information on ease of doing business and starting a business (number of procedures, cost and time, etc.) (For Spain 2015, Italy 2013, and Poland 2015, data are available at regional level – for the remaining countries, data only at national level) http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=doing- business	Doing Business World Bank, Ease of doing business index 2005-2015
	 Product market regulation (PMR) indicators (at national level) covering indicators on: State Control (Public ownership, Scope of state-owned enterprises, Government involvement in network sectors, Direct control over business enterprises, Governance of state-owned enterprises, Involvement in business operation, Price controls, Command & control regulation) Barriers to entrepreneurship (Complexity of regulatory procedures, Licence and permits system, Communication and simplification of rules and procedures, Administrative burdens on start-ups, corporations, sole proprietor firms, Barriers in services sectors, Regulatory protection of incumbents, Legal barriers to entry, Antitrust exemptions, Barriers in network sectors) Barriers to trade and investment (Explicit barriers to trade and investment, Differential treatment of foreign suppliers, Barriers to trade facilitation) 	OECD 1998-2013
	Employment in high-technology sectors (manufacturing and knowledge-intensive services) by NUTS 2 regions (NACE Rev. 1.1) (as a % of total employment)	Eurostat, High-tech statistics [htec_emp_reg2] 2008-2014
	Total R&D personnel and researchers by NUTS 2 regions (as a % of total employment)	Eurostat, R&D statistics (rd_p_persreg) 2000-2013
	Total intramural R&D expenditure (as a % of GDP) (at national level)	Eurostat, R&D statistics (rd_e_gerdreg) 2000-2013
6. Governance	Judicial independence (at national level) It measures the perceived extent in which the judiciary of the country is independent from influences of members of government, citizens, or firms. https://www.transparency.org/country	World Economic Forum, Global Competitiveness Report, Competitiveness dataset, 2006-2016
	Corruption Perception Index (at national level) It ranks countries based on how corrupt a country's public sector is perceived to be. It is a composite index, drawing on corruption-related data from expert and business surveys carried out by a variety of independent institutions. https://www.transparency.org/country	Transparency International 2005/2006-2015/2016
	Businesses' attitudes towards corruption in the EU (at national level) <u>http://ec.europa.eu/COMMFrontOffice/PublicOpinion/index.cfm/Result</u> <u>Doc/download/DocumentKy/69434</u>	Flash Eurobarometer 428, 2015
	Interaction of businesses with public administration (at national level) <u>http://ec.europa.eu/COMMFrontOffice/PublicOpinion/index.cfm/Result</u> <u>Doc/download/DocumentKy/70331</u>	Flash Eurobarometer 417, 2015
	Worldwide Governance Indicators (at national level) on political stability, government effectiveness, the quality of regulations, the rule of law, control of corruption and the extent of public accountability http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=worldwide-governance-indicators	Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI), World Bank, 1996-2014
	E-government usage by individuals; people using the internet for interaction with public authorities (16-74 years old) by NUTS 2 (if not available, NUTS 1 is used)	Eurostat, [isoc_r_gov_i] for regional data. For national data ([tsdgo330] for years 2000-2010; [tin00012] afterwards.
	Enterprises using the internet for submitting a proposal in a public electronic tender system to public authorities (at national level)	Eurostat, (tin00109) 2005-2013
	European Quality of Government Index, by NUTS 2 region	Gothenburg Institute of Quality of Government, 2010 and 2013

4. Synoptic overview of the main structural issues

The purpose here is to briefly highlight the areas which pose the main structural challenges in each of the countries covered, i.e. those which pose major structural obstacles to growth and economic development and on which future reforms should focus.

The most problematic areas are identified by both the performance of the country in relation to relevant quantitative indicators (taking the EU average as a benchmark) and qualitative information gathered from various reports and surveys⁸.

Governance-related issues seem to be the main problems in Bulgaria, Romania, Greece and Italy while education is a major challenge in Portugal and Hungary and labour market rigidities in Spain and Poland. The business environment is also particularly unfavourable in Greece, Poland and Hungary. On the other hand, access of enterprises to finance and the level of corporate taxation do not seem to be major sources of concern in the 8 Member States examined.

4.1. LOW GROWTH REGION COUNTRIES

Italy

Governance, education and the labour market pose significant obstacles to investment in Italy and are particularly in need of structural reform. The aspects concerned are examined below, with an indication where possible of whether the situation is improving or worsening as well as whether the situation is better or worse in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country.

Governance

Despite some improvements in recent years, governance continues to be a major structural weakness in Italy. Corruption, the low quality of government, a large informal economy and the lack of stability of legislation represent significant deterrents to investment.

Corruption in particular remains a serious problem in the country, despite a slight improvement in the Corruption Perception Index (developed by Transparency International) in the recent past. According to the index, Italy was the second most corrupt country in 2015 among the 8 Member States covered in this study after Bulgaria. The 2015 Eurobarometer survey of business views on corruption confirms that it is perceived as more of a problem in Italy than in the rest of the EU, particularly in relation to public

⁸ These are mainly documents related to the European Semester process (such as the Country reports 2016 and the Country-specific recommendations), but also the European Commission report on 'Employment and social developments in Europe 2015' and 'Member States' Investment Challenges' as well as the OECD reports on 'Employment Outlook 2016' and 'Going for growth 2015'.

procurement. In addition, according to the World Bank Worldwide Governance Indicators, control of corruption is especially deficient in Italy, and the situation seems to have worsened over recent years. Moreover, the statute of limitations remains an obstacle to tackling corruption (as repeatedly highlighted in the country-specific recommendations addressed to Italy).



Figure 4.1 / Corruption Perception Index in Italy, 1997 to 2015

Note: The scale ranges from 0 to 100, from highly corrupt to highly clean. Source: Transparency International.



Figure 4.2 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Italy, 2008 and 2014

Note: The scale ranges from -2.5 to 2.5, higher values corresponding to better governance. Source: Worldwide Governance Indicators, World Bank.

Although action has been taken in the form of the adoption of anti-corruption legislation in 2012, the speeding-up and rationalisation of the decision-making process in public procurement in 2015, and the strengthening of the competence of the national anti-corruption authority (ANAC), it remains to be seen how effective it will prove to be.

In addition, the **quality of government** was assessed in 2013 (the latest year available) as being significantly lower in the country than on average in the EU, Italy being ranked 25th on the European Quality of Government Index. Equally, Italy scored well below the EU average in terms of government effectiveness in 2014 according to the Worldwide Governance Indicators and much the same as 5 years earlier.

In all the lagging regions, apart from Abruzzo and Sardegna, moreover, government is assessed less favourably than in the rest of the country, especially in Campania and Calabria.

Action has been taken, in the form of a comprehensive enabling law to reform public administration in 2015 to improve the recruitment, management and mobility of staff and the implementation of the Simplification Agenda in 2015-2017 to ease the administrative and regulatory burden. But again the effects remain to be seen.





The scale ranges from 1 to 100, higher values corresponding to a better quality of government. Source: N. Charron, L. Dijkstra and V. Lapuente (2015), 'Mapping the Regional Divide in Europe: A Measure for Assessing Quality of Government in 206 European Regions', *Social Indicators Research*, 122(2), pp. 315-346.

The extent of the **informal economy** and the **lack of stability of legislation** are also important deterrents to investment. According to a Eurobarometer survey carried out in 2015, around 90% of businesses operating in Italy considered that these represented significant obstacles to their activities. Regional data on these aspects are not available, but it is likely that the informal economy is an even more problematic issue in the lagging southern regions than in the rest of the country.

The Jobs Act, adopted in December 2014, encouraged the transition from informal activities to declared work and strengthened the sanctions against undeclared work but there is little evidence yet of its effectiveness.

Education

The low education level of the workforce also has a major adverse effect on the country's competitiveness and growth potential. The **proportion of people of working age with only basic schooling remains large**, with just over 40% of population aged 25-64 having lower secondary education or below as against 23.5% in the EU. Though the proportion is tending to decline, it still remains well above the EU average for young people aged 25-34 (24% as against 15%). The proportion, moreover, is larger than the national average in most of the lagging regions, most especially in Sicilia and Sardegna where over half of the population aged 25-64 had only basic schooling and over a third of those aged 25-34.





Source: Eurostat, LFS microdata.

Between 2011 and 2015, the Italian authorities undertook several reforms to reduce the number of young people with inadequate qualifications, including the 2011 reform of secondary schools and the 2015 school reform which gave more autonomy to schools and strengthened work-based learning in upper-secondary schools as well as in technical tertiary education.

At the same time, Italy also has a relatively **small proportion of people with tertiary education**, a key growth factor according to most studies, only 18% of those aged 25-64 having such qualifications as against the EU average of 30%. While the share of young people aged 25-34 with tertiary education was larger (25%), indicating that the situation is improving, it is improving less quickly than in the rest of the EU (40% on average). Apart from Molise, the situation is worse in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country, especially so in Sicilia and Sardegna but also, if to a smaller extent, in Puglia and Campania. The fact that many highly-educated young people seem to have left the country over the crisis period has only made the problem worse.

The relatively large number of people leaving the education and initial vocational training system with low qualification is exacerbated rather than compensated by the **small number receiving continuing training**. In 2015, only 7% of those aged 25-64 participated in education or training as against an EU

average of 11% and the difference has shown no tendency to narrow over recent years. This implies that workers (including the low-qualified) have limited opportunity to learn new skills and adapt to changes in technology and methods of working, with adverse effects on the quality of the workforce and the attractiveness of the country as a location in which to invest. The problem in lagging regions is generally worse, particularly in Sicilia where less than 5% of population aged 25-64 participated in education or training according to the 2015 EU Labour Force Survey.





Labour market

The Italian labour market is characterised by significant segmentation, with the unemployed, especially the young, finding it difficult to find a job and a relatively large number of women being economically inactive.

Structural problems in the labour market are reflected, in particular, in the large number of the unemployed out of work and looking for a job for a year or more. During the crisis, **the rate of long-term unemployment** (LTU) increased steadily, reaching 7.7% of the total active population in 2014. Though it declined slightly in 2015 (to 6.9%), the proportion was still well above the EU average. Long-term unemployment was even higher in all the lagging regions, and particularly so in Calabria where over 15% of the active population had been looking for a job for a year or more in 2015.

The **situation of young people is particularly unfavourable**, with almost twice the proportion of young people than the EU average neither in employment, nor in education or training (NEETs) in 2015 (though it was slightly smaller than in 2014). The difficulties that young people face in the labour market are reflected in the very low employment rate of those aged 25-29 with tertiary education. In 2015, it was only 49% as opposed to an EU average of 80%, indicating that even the better educated have difficulties finding work. Moreover, the rate has declined more over the crisis period (since 2007) than in the rest of the EU.



Figure 4.6 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Italy and lagging regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015

The problems are even more acute in the lagging regions: the NEET rate among young people being significantly higher than the national average in all of them, except Molise, and especially high in Calabria and Sicilia where around a third of young people aged 15-24 were not in employment nor in education or training.





However, there are signs of some improvement over the past two years, which may be related to the recent labour market reforms introduced. The 2014 Jobs Act was therefore intended to encourage openended contracts of employment and to reform the governance of active labour market policies (a new national agency was put in place in January 2016 to manage such policies). The Youth Guarantee scheme implemented in 2014 may also have contributed to the recent improvement of the labour market situation of young people.

In addition, **labour force participation is very low, especially among women** (54% against 67% in the EU in 2015), and has increased hardly at all over recent years. This is mainly due to a lack of care facilities, an unfavourable taxation system for second earners and a traditional view of the place of women being at home. These factors underlie the low participation rate even among those with tertiary education implying that skills which are potentially important for growth are not been sufficiently used. (Not only is the proportion of working-age population with tertiary education small but there is also limited use of those with such qualifications.)

In all the lagging regions, the participation rate of women was significantly lower than in the rest of the country, especially in Campania and Sicilia (where it was only 36% in 2015). The same is true of those with tertiary education, the rate being particularly low in Calabria and Sardegna (around 70% as compared with a national average of 81% and an EU average of 86%).





According to the OECD employment protection legislation indicators, the **strictness of regulation against dismissals** was eased in 2013, but it remains tighter than in the EU on average and the strictest of the 8 Member States examined here.

The bargaining framework is another factor worth highlighting. The fact that wages negotiated under collective agreements are valid for a relatively long period (three years) and that **firm-level bargaining** remains **under-developed** hampers the alignment of wages to productivity and labour market conditions, which is likely adversely to affect cost competitiveness.

Situation in other areas

Despite recent measures aimed at reducing the administrative burden for enterprises and easing product market regulation, doing business in Italy remains relatively difficult. In 2016, the country was ranked 24th of the 28 EU Member States according to the Ease of Doing Business survey. Resolution of commercial disputes is particularly problematic, almost twice the number of days being required than the EU average (1,120 as opposed to 594). Problems are even more acute in the lagging regions, where in all cases, it takes longer to resolve a dispute, especially so in Puglia where the procedure took over 2,000 days in 2012 (the last year for which information is available).

In addition, according to the European Structural Business Statistics, the share of employment in microsized and small firms (those with less than 50 people employed) remains larger than in the rest of the EU, suggesting a potential disadvantage in competing on international markets.

Following various measures introduced by the government after the crisis in order to support the access of SMEs to finance (such as the creation of the Banca del Mezzogiorno to provide credit to enterprises operating in the south of the country, and the Central Guarantee Fund to provide credit for SMEs while stimulating investment in innovation), business confidence in the future availability of bank loans has improved. Access to capital however remains more difficult than in most the other EU countries. Moreover, according to Banca d'Italia, both short- and long-term interest rates on business loans are higher in the lagging regions (particularly in Calabria) than in the rest of the country.

Spain

The labour market and education are two areas in particular in need of reform in Spain. The main aspects concerned are examined below, with an indication where possible of whether the situation is tending to improve or not and whether it is better or worse in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country.

Labour market

A segmented labour market is a prominent feature of the Spanish economy. This is reflected in the relatively large proportion of those in work on temporary contracts of employment, high unemployment among young people and a high rate of long-term unemployment more generally.

Unemployment in general rose markedly over the crisis period, increasing to over 25% at its peak in 2013, and while it has fallen since then, it was still well over twice the EU average in 2015 (22% as opposed to 9%). Unemployment in all the lagging regions is even higher, reaching close to 30% in Extremadura and around 32% in Andalucía.

Around half of the people concerned in 2015 had been out of work and looking for a job for a year or more, implying that the **long-term unemployment** rate, which reflects underlying structural problems in the labour market, averaged over 11% of the labour force in Spain in 2015, as against just over 4% in the rest of the EU. It was again higher in all the lagging regions, reaching almost 14% in Extremadura and 15% in Andalucía.


Figure 4.9 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Spain and lagging regions: 2002 to 2015

Unemployment was particularly high among **young people**, peaking at 55% of those aged 15-24 in the labour market in 2013 and remaining at 48% in 2015 (as compared with an average of 20% in the EU as a whole). In all four lagging regions, the rate was above the national average, in Murcia, only slightly so, but in the other three, considerably so (55% or more in each case).



Figure 4.10 / Youth unemployment rate (15-24) in Spain and lagging regions: 2002 to 2015

Temporary contracts of employment remain prevalent throughout the country, more so than in any other Member State, and most especially in the lagging regions, potentially deterring employers from providing continuing training and, accordingly, being likely to have a detrimental effect on productivity, not only because of this but also because of the higher turnover of the workforce which it implies. Most of the people working on such contracts, moreover, do so involuntarily because they cannot find a permanent job, close to 20% of all employees aged 25 and over in 2015 (i.e. excluding young people

who are most likely to be in fixed-term jobs because of being on a training contract or serving a probationary period) as opposed to an EU average of 7%. In the lagging regions, the figures are even higher. While in Castilla-la-Mancha, the proportion in temporary jobs involuntarily was only just above the national average, in the three other lagging regions, it was well above, at around 28-29% of employees of 25 and over in each case.

There is, moreover, little sign of a downward trend in the figures. Indeed, according to the OECD Employment Protection Legislation indicators, regulations on the use of fixed-term contracts have tended to become laxer over recent years rather than being tightened.

Figure 4.11 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) with temporary contract because they could not find a permanent job in Spain and lagging regions: 2006 to 2014



Source: Eurostat, LFS microdata.

The wage-bargaining system also potentially contributes to labour market rigidities. Though a new agreement for Employment and Collective Bargaining for 2015-2017 was signed by the social partners to promote decentralised wage bargaining and opt-outs from sectoral agreements, **firm-level agreements remain under-developed.** This, therefore, limits the extent to which wages can adjust to local or regional circumstances and represents a possible deterrent to investment.

Various reforms have been introduced by the Spanish authorities in recent years, such as to active labour market policies in 2011 (aimed at rationalising recruitment incentives and supporting youth employment), reductions in severance pay in the case of unfair dismissals, the provision of additional incentives to employers to hire workers on an open-ended basis in 2012 and the lowering of employers' social contributions to boost the creation of permanent jobs in 2015. Nevertheless, both youth and long-term unemployment remains high and a clear division remains between those on permanent contracts of employment and those on temporary ones. In addition, the capacity of the public employment services (PES) to provide effective individualised counselling and possibilities of employment and traineeships remains limited. Moreover, as the country-specific recommendations have indicated, there is also insufficient cooperation between the national and regional PES, as well as with private placement agencies, which is likely to reduce labour mobility.

Education

The education level of the workforce is another problem area, potentially adversely affecting competitiveness and growth potential.

Although it has declined since 2009, the relative number **of early school leavers** remains significant. Some 20% of young people aged 18-24 in 2015 had no qualifications beyond basic schooling and were not participating in education or training, almost twice the average as in the EU (11%). In the lagging regions, the proportion is larger, especially in Andalucía and Extremadura, where 25% of young people had left the education system without any qualifications.

Figure 4.12 / Early leavers (18-24) from education and training in Spain and lagging regions, 2002 to 2015



This is reflected in the equally **large number of people aged 25-34 with only basic education**, which amounted to just over a third of those in this age group in Spain as compared to an EU average of only 15%. While it is well below the figure for working-age population as a whole (42.6% for those aged 25-64 as against an EU average of 23.5%), signifying a long-term decline in the proportion of young people leaving school with inadequate qualifications, the decline has been no larger than in the rest of the EU. The number is again even larger in the four lagging regions, where 40-45% of people in the 25-34 age group had no qualifications beyond compulsory schooling (and over 50% in the case of those aged 25-64, 57% in Extremadura).

By contrast, the proportion of young people in this age group with tertiary education in Spain is larger than the EU average (44% as against 40% in 2015), so that the relative number with upper secondary education is substantially smaller than elsewhere (under a quarter as opposed to around a half). In the lagging regions, however, while the proportion of those aged 25-34 with upper secondary qualifications is also small, the proportion with tertiary education is equally below the EU average and considerably below the national average (36% in Extremadura and 32% in the other three in 2015).





A new Education Law (LOMCE) was adopted in 2013 in an attempt to reduce the number leaving education without adequate qualifications, against a backdrop of very little change in the proportion over the period 2005-2014. Among other things, it introduced new evaluations in primary school to track learning difficulties at an early stage as well as initiating a reform of vocational education. Whether this will lead to an actual reduction in the number entering the labour market with insufficient qualifications remains to be seen.

Situation in other areas

Although, according to the OECD product market regulation indicators, the overall business regulatory environment in Spain is no more or less restrictive than in the rest of the EU, doing business is, nevertheless, assessed by the World Bank as being more difficult than in other EU Member States on average. There is, however, a marked variation between lagging regions within the country, with Extremadura being ranked as being easier in these terms than most other regions in Spain whereas Murcia is ranked as being more difficult than average. At the same time, measures have been taken in recent years to improve the situation through a number of pieces of legislation, including on company insolvencies and facilitating market entry.

One of the major obstacles to doing business is the perception of corruption being more of a problem in Spain than in other EU countries (according to the Corruption Perception Index developed by Transparency International), along with the lack of predictability and stability of legislation and the existence of a relatively large informal economy (as shown by the 2015 Eurobarometer on the interaction of businesses with public administration). In addition, according to the European Quality of Government Index, the quality of government is regarded as being worse than in other parts of the EU, though in the lagging regions it is considered to be better than in the rest of the country.

Reforming the local administration and the judiciary system has been the focus of several countryspecific recommendations. In 2013, the Spanish government both rationalised the local authorities' structure to avoid duplication and the overlapping of competences, and improved access to public information. However, the public procurement system, especially at regional and local level, remains burdensome, with overly-lengthy proceedings and excessively complicated legislation which is subject to frequent change.

Greece

Problems of governance, the business environment and the labour market adversely affect growth prospects in Greece. The aspects concerned are examined below, with an indication, where possible, of whether the situation is improving or not as well as whether it is better or worse in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country.

Governance

Notwithstanding the progress achieved over the past few years, the low quality of governance remains a major structural weakness. A high level of corruption, a large informal economy and the lack of stability of legislation represent significant deterrents to investment.

Corruption in particular remains a serious problem. The Corruption Perception Index, produced by Transparency International, shows Greece as having a higher level than other EU countries. The 2015 Eurobarometer survey confirms that corruption is perceived as more of a problem than elsewhere. In addition, according to the World Bank Worldwide Governance Indicators, control of corruption, together with political instability, is especially deficient in Greece and the situation has worsened over recent years. Although regional data are not available, it is likely that corruption represents an even more important deterrent to investment in lagging regions.

In addition, the European Quality of Government Index, last produced in 2013, ranked Greece in the 21st position in these terms, while the World Bank's Worldwide Governance Indicators gave the country a similarly low ranking in 2014 as regards **government effectiveness**. Moreover, in the lagging regions of Voreio Aigaio and Kriti (the only two covered by the indicators), government is assessed even less favourably than in the rest of the country.

In addition, the difficulty of **contract enforcement**, the existence of a large **underground economy** and the **lack of stability in legislation** were also perceived as major obstacles for businesses operating in Greece as shown by the Eurobarometer survey.

Several measures have been implemented by the Greek authorities in the recent past to improve the situation, including the creation of a Single Public Procurement Authority in 2011, the National Anticorruption Action Plan in 2013, a comprehensive reform of the judiciary and a new Code for Civil Procedures in 2015. A new system for recruiting managers has also been introduced to increase the efficiency of public administration, and steps have been taken to improve the assessment system for civil servants, while a reorganisation of ministries and public bodies is underway.



Figure 4.14 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Greece, 2008 and 2014

Note: The scale ranges from -2.5 to 2.5, higher values corresponding to better governance. Source: Worldwide Governance Indicators, World Bank.

Business environment

The business environment poses major problems as well, with important implications for competitiveness, innovation and the potential for growth.

According to the OECD product market regulation indicators, the **business regulatory environment** in 2013 was **more restrictive** than the EU average along with state control and barriers to entrepreneurship.

The World Bank classified Greece as a place where **doing business** is one of the most **challenging** and in 2016, the country was ranked 26th of the 28 EU Member States according to the Ease of Doing Business indicators. While the abolition of the minimum capital requirement for limited liability companies in 2014 and the lowering of the registration costs in 2015 made it easier to start a business, Greece was still ranked in the bottom half of EU countries in this regard (17th out of 28). In addition, the 2016 Doing Business Report for Greece confirmed the difficulty of **enforcing contracts** and highlighted the problems of **registering property** and **resolving insolvency**.

Equally, as noted elsewhere, the share of **employment in micro-sized firms** (those with less than 10 people employed) is substantially larger than in the rest of the EU in the tradable goods and services sector, adversely affecting competitiveness and productivity growth.

28

Over the 2011-2016 period, the government introduced several measures to improve the business environment (such as the 2012 Business Friendly Greece Law, changes in customs procedures to reduce red tape for exporters, the easing of restrictions on many regulated professions and the simplification of the business licensing procedures), but as yet there is little sign that they have had a significant effect.

Labour market

The high rate of long-term unemployment, the difficulties of young people in finding a job and the low participation of women in the workforce are the most visible signs of structural problems in the labour market.

Not only is **unemployment** higher in Greece than anywhere else in the EU, most especially in the lagging regions, but most of the unemployed (75%) have been out of work for a year or more. In 2015, the rate of **long-term unemployment** was over 18% of those who were economically active (as against just 4% on average in the rest of the EU). It was even higher in half the lagging regions (22% in Dytiki Ellada and almost 20% in both Thessalia and Sterea Ellada) and though it was lower in Voreio Aigaio and Ionia Nisia (at less than 13%), it was still three times the EU average.



Figure 4.15 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Greece and lagging regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015

Source: Eurostat, LFS [tgs00053, tesem130].

In addition, half of **young people** aged 15-24 who had entered the labour market were unemployed in 2015, over twice the pre-crisis rate as well as that in the rest of the EU. Jobs for young people were even scarcer in most of the lagging regions, especially in Thessalia and Ipeiros, where the youth unemployment rate was close to 60%.



Figure 4.16 / Youth unemployment rate in Greece and lagging regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015

Note: Data in most of the lagging regions in Greece is only available from year 2010. Source: Eurostat, LFS [lfst_r_lfu3rt].

Only 60% of **women** of working age (15-64) were economically active in the country in 2015 (as against an EU average of 67%), which largely reflects the large proportion of women with only basic schooling. In 7 of the lagging regions, the proportion was lower than in the rest of the country, especially in Voreio Aigaio (where it was only around 50%).



Figure 4.17 / Female participation rate in Greece and lagging regions: 2010, 2012 and 2015

Various measures have been introduced in the recent past to improve labour market conditions (including initiatives to modernise the Public Employment Services, better targeted labour market policies, a reform of the apprenticeship system and a system to identify and forecast skill needs), though much remains to be done to reduce structural problems.

Situation in other areas

Despite measures taken to improve the vocational education system (including a more flexible curriculum in secondary school, and attempts to upgrade vocational education and apprenticeships), there remains a need to match what is taught more closely to labour demand (as underlined in Commission recommendations).

Access of enterprises to finance remains a serious problem. The proportion of businesses reporting access to credit as the most pressing challenge they face was three times larger than the EU average in 2015, and the gap has widened over recent years. The relative number of unsuccessful bank loan applications also remains significantly higher than in the rest of the EU, and while two new measures were introduced to improve access to finance for SMEs, it remains to be seen how effective they will be.

In addition, the corporate tax rate was markedly higher in Greece than elsewhere in the EU in 2016 and has risen markedly over the crisis period as part of fiscal consolidation measures, whereas in other EU countries, it has declined.

Portugal

Weaknesses in the labour market and education are major obstacles to economic growth in Portugal. These weaknesses are examined below both in the country as whole and in the lagging regions within the country.

Labour market

Long-term and youth unemployment are both relatively high in Portugal, signalling structural problems in the labour market. Though there has been some reduction in both in the recent past, it has been modest.

The overall unemployment rate in 2015 was above the EU average both in the country and in all the lagging regions, except Centro. Moreover, almost 60% of the unemployed in the country had been actively seeking for a job for a year or more in 2015 (against 48% in the EU). Accordingly, the rate of **long-term unemployment** was also above that in the rest of the EU, averaging over 7% of the economically active (as against an EU average of just 4%), even though it was some 2 percentage points less than the peak in 2013. In Norte, the centre of the textile industry in the country, it was even higher at over 8%, around twice the EU average. In the other three lagging regions, however, it was below the national average, especially in Centro, but still above the rate in the rest of the EU.

Young people are particularly affected by the nature of the labour market. Around a third of young people who had entered the labour market were unemployed in 2015 (as compared with an EU average of 20%). The **youth unemployment rate** increased markedly during the crisis and has remained high. In the lagging regions, the rate is below the national average in both Centro and Algarve – though still well above the EU average – much the same as the average in Norte and above the average in Alentejo, where it was almost twice the EU average.



Figure 4.18 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Portugal and lagging regions: 2005 to 2015

Figure 4.19 / Unemployment rate of young people aged 15-24 in Portugal and lagging regions, 2003-2015



The reduction in youth and long-term unemployment is almost certainly largely a consequence of a resumption of GDP growth in 2014, even if at a relatively low rate, but the various measures implemented to tackle the problem, such as the Labour Market Reform in 2012, the modernisation of the Public Employment Services and new measures to increase the employability of the long-term unemployed (such as the REATIVAR traineeships introduced in 2015) are also likely to have contributed to the reduction.

The extent of **temporary employment** is also large, implying significant labour market segmentation and a potential deterrent to employers providing continuing training. Some 16% of employees worked on fixed-term contracts in 2015 because they could not find a permanent job, well over twice the average EU proportion (7%) and with no tangible sign of a reduction over recent years. In the lagging regions, the proportion was very similar to the national average in Norte and Centro, but well above the average in Alentejo (19% of employees) and Algarve (21%).

According to the OECD Employment Protection Legislation indicators, the protection of permanent workers against dismissal has become slightly less stringent, though it remains more restrictive than in the rest of the EU. A reduction of the maximum duration of fixed-term contracts is planned for 2017, though it remains to be seen what effect this will have on the numbers concerned.

Figure 4.20 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) with temporary contract because they could not find a permanent job in Portugal and lagging regions: 2005 to 2014



In addition, the **wage-setting system remains very centralised**, with limited scope for firm-level bargaining, so that wages cannot effectively adjust to productivity and labour market conditions, with adverse effects on the competitiveness of Portuguese enterprises.

Education

The large share of the workforce which is low educated, with only basic schooling, adversely affects competitiveness and is an obstacle to shifts in the structure of the economy towards higher value-added activities.

Over half of population of working age has only basic schooling ((55% against an EU average of 23.5% in 2015). Even for young people aged 25-34, around a third have this level of education, over twice the EU average, implying that although there is a long-term decline in the proportion, there is still a long way to go to reduce it to the level in the rest of the EU.

32

The proportion of the 25-34 age group with only basic schooling is much the same as the national average in Centro and Algarve but larger in both Norte and Alentejo, where some 36-40% of young people had only basic schooling (and 58-61% of those aged 25-64).





Figure 4.22 / Proportion of individuals aged 25-34 whose highest education level attained is ISCED 5-8 in Portugal and lagging regions, 2005-2014



In addition, the share of **young people with tertiary education**, which is recognised as playing a key role in terms of economic development, is also smaller in Portugal than the EU average (32% as against 40% in 2015). Although the share has increased over the past 10 years, the gap in relation to the EU average has not been reduced. The share is even smaller in three of the lagging regions (particularly in Algarve and Alentejo, where it is less than 25%.

Among the various measures implemented, a new Law on Education was passed in 2015 which, among other things, laid the basis for reforming the dual vocational training system and which might lead to more young people attaining at least upper secondary qualifications.

Situation in the other areas

According to the 2016 World Bank report on Doing Business, Portugal is considered the second best place in the EU to start a business. Over the past 10 years, the time taken to set up a new firm and the minimum capital required have been reduced to well below the EU average. It is also ranked in the top half of EU Member States in terms of the ease of doing business, while overall product market regulation is considered less restrictive than in the rest of the EU. However, businesses operating in Portugal are on average much smaller than elsewhere in the EU, so possibly affecting their productivity.

Despite various measures to improve the quality of governance (such as the 2011 reform of public administration, the modification of public procurement legislation in 2012 and the 2014 reform of the judicial system), corruption is regarded as one of the main obstacles to doing business by more businesses in Portugal than in the EU (according to recent Eurobarometer surveys).

Both the EU SAFE survey and the European Central Bank database indicate that access to finance has improved over the past few years, partly due to several initiatives taken by the authorities. In 2015, however, the number of enterprises that failed to obtain a loan was larger in Portugal than in the rest of the EU.

Although, the government has initiated a comprehensive reform of taxation since 2014, aimed in part at increasing competitiveness, the system continues to be seen as unstable and unpredictable, potentially inhibiting investment.

4.2. LOW INCOME REGION COUNTRIES

Bulgaria

Poor governance along with structural problems in the labour market represent potentially important deterrents to investment in Bulgaria.

Governance

Deficiencies in the judicial system, very high corruption level as well as poor quality of government pose major problems.

According to the World Economic Forum, the **judicial system** in the country was perceived in 2015 as being less independent than in other parts of the EU. The situation, moreover, seems to have worsened over recent years, Bulgaria being ranked among the most problematic countries in the EU in this respect.

At the same time, **corruption** seems pervasive and the perception of the extent of this has not diminished over the recent past. According to Transparency International, Bulgaria was regarded as the country with the biggest problem in the EU in this respect in 2015, with little change over the past 15 years or so. This is confirmed by the 2015 Eurobarometer survey of business views which indicates that corruption is perceived as more of a problem in Bulgaria than in other EU countries, particularly in relation to public procurement. In addition, the World Bank Worldwide Governance Indicators show that control of corruption is particularly deficient in the country.





Note: The scale ranges from 0 to 100, from highly corrupt to highly clean. Source: Transparency International.

Bulgaria was also assessed as being well below the EU average as regards **government effectiveness** in 2014 according to the Worldwide Governance Indicators. Equally, the European Quality of Government Index ranked Bulgaria below all other Member States in this respect in 2013, though the situation was considered to have improved over the preceding three years. In three of the lagging regions – Severozapaden, Yugoiztochen and Severen tsentralen – the quality of government, especially in the first, was perceived as being even lower than the national average. Moreover, in each of these, as well as in Severoiztochen, the quality was regarded as having worsened between 2010 and 2013.

In 2015, the authorities took various initiatives to improve governance, in particular to increase the efficiency and transparency of the judicial system (with a new electronic system for random case allocation, a new law reforming the structure of the Supreme Judicial Council, and the adoption of an updated Strategy for Continuing Reform in the Judiciary) and to combat corruption (a comprehensive anti-corruption strategy was proposed by the government in April 2015). It remains to be seen how effective these measures will prove to be.



Figure 4.24 / Quality of Government Index in Bulgaria and lagging regions, 2010 and 2013

The scale ranges from 1 to 100, higher values corresponding to a better quality of government. Source: N. Charron, L. Dijkstra and V. Lapuente (2015), 'Mapping the Regional Divide in Europe: A Measure for Assessing Quality of Government in 206 European Regions', *Social Indicators Research*, 122(2), pp. 315-346.

Labour market

The Bulgarian labour market shows evidence of serious structural problems, in the form of a large pool of long-term unemployed, especially among those with only basic schooling, a large number of young people neither in employment nor in education or training and a low rate of employment among those with only basic schooling.

Even before the crisis, **long-term unemployment** was well above the EU average and since then the proportion of the unemployed who had been out of work for a year or more has risen to 61% in 2015 (as against an EU average of 48%), or 5.6% of the economically active population (as compared with an EU average of 4.5%). In three of the lagging regions, the long-term unemployment rate is similar to the national average, but in Severozapaden and Severen tsentralen, it is well above, most especially in the first, where 75% of the unemployed had been out of work and looking for a job for a year or more, some 9% of the active population.

Although the relative number of young people aged 15-24 who were **neither employed nor in education or training** (NEETs) has declined over the recent past, it was still well above the EU average in 2015 (19% as against 12%). It was even higher in four of the lagging regions, especially in Severozapaden where the figure was around a third of the age group.

A number of specific measures have been implemented by the Public Employment Services (PES) over the recent past to improve contact with non-registered NEETs, but further efforts seem necessary, especially with regard to those with only basic schooling, the Roma, in particular.



Figure 4.25 / Long-term unemployment rate (% of total active population) in Bulgaria and lagging regions: 2008, 2012 and 2015



Figure 4.26 / Proportion of young people aged 15-24 neither in employment nor in education and training in Bulgaria and lagging regions: 2008, 2012, 2015 (% of the age group)

This applies equally to those **with only basic schooling** in older age groups, only around 40% of whom were in employment in Bulgaria in 2015, 13 percentage points below the EU average (for those with higher education levels, the proportion was much the same as the EU average). This reflects a particularly low labour force participation among the low-educated in Bulgaria, especially among men, for whom the rate of participation was only just over 60%, 14 percentage less than the EU average (the rate for women was 7 percentage points below the EU average).

The problem was even more marked in all the lagging regions (except Yuzhen tsentralen), and most especially in Severozapaden where only just over a quarter of those with only basic schooling were in employment in 2015, less than half the EU average.





Several measures have been implemented in recent years to increase employment of both young people (such as New Start in 2011 and Jobs for young people in 2012) and vulnerable groups such as the long-term unemployed, as well as to strengthen and modernise the PES. However, the capacity of the PES to provide effective guidance to jobseekers and support for vulnerable groups remains limited.

Situation in the other areas

Despite recent measures making it easier to do business (such as lowering registration fees for setting up a business or making it easier to void suspect transactions in resolving insolvency), the business environment is still regarded as being unsupportive of investment.

A new law on pre-school and school education was adopted in 2015 and new strategies for the educational integration of children from ethnic minorities and for lifelong learning have been launched. With regard to the last, action was sorely needed since an average of only 2% of those aged 25-64 were in continuing training in 2015, much less than the EU average of 11%. Moreover, the proportion was less in all the lagging regions, especially in Severozapaden and Severen tsentralen, where the figure was less than 1%. However, while the measures tackle some of the most pressing problems, it is yet not clear how far they will help to resolve them.

Source: Eurostat, LFS [lfst_r_lfe2eedu] and LFS microdata for the regional data.

Poland

Structural weaknesses in the labour market and a relatively unfavourable business environment are potentially important obstacles to growth in Poland. In particular, there are signs of labour market segmentation, which seems to impact on the extent of continuing training, difficulties of young people to find employment and low participation among women, other than those with tertiary education. Starting a business is also more difficult than elsewhere.

Labour market

Temporary employment is widespread across the country, even for those aged 25 and over. Some 17% of employees were in jobs with **temporary contracts of employment** in Poland in 2015 because they could not find a permanent job, the second highest figure in the EU and as compared with an EU average of 7%. The proportion, moreover, has risen over the recent past. In three of the lagging regions, Warmińsko-Mazurskie, Podkarpackie and, most especially, in Świętokrzyskie (where 22% of employees of 25 and over were working in temporary jobs involuntarily), the figures were even higher.



Figure 4.28 / Proportion of employees (25 and over) with temporary contract because they could not find a permanent job in Poland and lagging regions: 2008, 2011 and 2014

The large number of people employed in fixed-term jobs is due to a large extent to the high costs of dismissing workers on standard, open-ended contracts of employment. They also reflect, however, the widespread use of civil law contracts which are regulated by the Civil Code (unlike standard employment contracts which are regulated by the Labour Code) and for which the requirements in terms of social protection are limited and, accordingly, involve lower costs.

Several measures have been introduced over the recent past to tackle the situation. A minimum hourly remuneration for those working on civil law contracts was introduced in 2016 and the social contributions for some civil law contracts were increased. In addition, it was announced for 2017 to limit the total

40

number of fixed-term contracts which an employee can have with the same employer to three and to reduce their maximum duration to 33 months.

Partly as a reflection of the extent of temporary working, **participation in continuing training** is much lower in Poland than in the rest of the EU since employers are likely to be more reluctant to provide such training to the employees concerned. In 2015, therefore, less than 4% of those aged 25-64 participated in continuing training as against an EU average of 11%. The figure, moreover, declined over the 2008-2015 period whereas the EU average increased.

Participation in continuing training is even lower in the lagging regions, particularly in the ones where temporary employment contracts are most in use (Warmińsko-Mazurskie, Świętokrzyskie and Podkarpackie). In each of these, the proportion of employees participating was less than 3% in 2015 and in the last, less than 2%. In all three, the proportion had declined over the preceding 7 years.



Figure 4.29 / Participation rate of people aged 25-64 in continuing education and training in Poland and lagging regions: 2008, 2011 and 2015

Youth unemployment is also relatively high in lagging regions, reflecting the difficulty of young people entering the labour market to find jobs. Whereas the Polish average rate was much the same as the EU average in 2015 (around 21%), in four of the five lagging regions, it was higher, especially in Lubelskie (8% percentage points higher) and even more so in Podkarpackie (18 percentage points higher).

In addition, **labour force participation rates of women** are lower than in most other parts of the EU, especially of those with education below the tertiary level. While the participation rate of women with only basic schooling is particularly low (36% as against an EU average of 52%), these make up only a small part of the workforce (only around 10% of women). More concerning is the low rate among women with **upper secondary level education** which is the lowest in the EU (at only around 62% of those aged 25-64 and well below the EU average of 74%). This contrasts with the participation rate of women with tertiary education which is slightly above the EU average. The rate, moreover, has remained almost unchanged over the past decade or so while in the rest of the EU, it has increased.

In two of the lagging regions, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Podkarpackie, the participation rate is even lower (59% and 61%, respectively, in 2015). Although in the other three regions, it is higher than the national average, it is still well below the EU average and in all cases, it has declined over recent years (by around 4 percentage points over the 2007-2015 period in four of them, all except Podlaskie, where it declined by 2 percentage points).





Although various measures have been taken over the recent past to improve the business environment in Poland, a number of adverse features remain which are likely to deter investment.

While the ease of doing business in Poland is no less favourable than in the EU on average, **starting a business** is by contrast much more difficult. According to the World Bank in 2016, the country was ranked 24 of the 28 EU Member States in terms of the ease of setting up a new business. It was both much more time-consuming (30 days being required as against an average of 10 in the EU) and costly (three times higher than the EU average). In Świętokrzyskie and Podkarpackie, the time needed was even longer (36 and 37 days, respectively in 2015 – the latest year available at the regional level).

In addition, obtaining **construction permits** was much more cumbersome in all the lagging regions than in the rest of Poland as well as in other parts of the EU on average, with around 20 or more procedures to go through instead of an average of 21 in the country as a whole in 2015. **Registering property** also takes longer in Poland than elsewhere in the EU (33 days instead of an EU average of 26 in 2015), most especially in Świętokrzyskie (39 days) and Lubelskie (45 days, almost twice the EU average).

Moreover, according to the OECD, **product market regulation** was assessed in 2013 as being more restrictive in Poland than on average in the EU, particularly as regards the degree of state control, though the situation seems to have improved over time.

Hungary

Weaknesses in education and training and the business environment have potentially an adverse effect on competitiveness and growth in Hungary and are therefore areas in which further policy action seems to be called for.

Education

Despite a steady increase over the past decade, the proportion of working-age population with **tertiary education**, which is recognised as an important determinant of economic growth potential, remains smaller than the EU average (24% against 30% for those aged 25-64 in 2015). Moreover, despite the increase, the gap between Hungary and the EU average in the share of young people aged 25-34 with this level of qualification was no narrower than for the broader age group (around a third in Hungary having tertiary qualifications as against 40% across the EU as a whole). The gap is even wider in all the lagging regions, where less than 20% of those aged 25-64 has tertiary education and only around 27-28% of those aged 25-34. In addition, the gap has tended to widen over the recent past instead of narrowing.





The proportion of young people aged 15-24 in **vocational education or training**, i.e. in the process of obtaining upper secondary qualifications, was also significantly lower in Hungary (7%) than the EU average (16%) in 2014. Although the proportions in the lagging regions are in three cases slightly larger, they are, nevertheless, far below the EU average.

Since 2011, various measures have been introduced to tackle the issue without having a marked effect in closing the gap with the rest of the EU. The latest initiative is the Higher Education Strategy which was approved in 2016 with the aim of increasing the tertiary education attainment rate, though it is too soon to judge its effectiveness in this regard.



Figure 4.32 / Share of young people aged 15-24 in vocational education or training in Hungary and lagging regions, 2014

Business environment

The business environment also poses major problems for investment. The country was ranked 22nd of the 28 EU Member States as regards the **ease of doing business** by the World Bank in 2016. For the ease of **starting a business**, it was ranked slightly higher, at 18, but the cost of so doing in terms of the minimum capital required, was particularly high at almost double the EU average.

Over the 2011-2016 period, the government introduced various measures to improve the business environment, which have so far had a limited effect on the indicators used to assess this. In addition, the introduction of an electronic filing system to facilitate contract enforcement and the removal of restrictions limiting the operating hours for retail shops are planned for 2017.

Various measures have also been taken to reduce corruption, such as the 2011 public procurement law, the creation of a Public Procurement Database in 2013, and the implementation of the Anti-corruption programme 2015-2018. However, corruption and the scale of the informal economy remains a concern for businesses, especially in the three lagging regions in the east of the country, Észak-Magyarország, Észak-Alföld and Dél-Alföld. In these three regions taken together, therefore (i.e. in the NUTS 1 region which they form), 20% of businesses surveyed in 2013 by the World Bank reported that the activities of their competitors in the informal economy were a serious constraint on their ability to do business, twice the proportion in the country as a whole.

The labour market

Labour market conditions, as reflected in the various indicators used for judging these, seem to have improved over recent years. The employment rate (69% for those aged 20-64) is close to the EU average of 70%; unemployment is below the EU average and above the average only in Észak-Alföld among the lagging regions (10.9% as opposed to 9.4% in 2015); youth unemployment is around the EU

average, except again in Észak-Alföld (25.1% as against 20.4%) and the share of long-term unemployed is slightly below the EU average in all the lagging regions. The only indicator which suggests a structural problem is the proportion of employees in temporary jobs because they could not find permanent ones. In the country as a whole, this is much the same as the EU average (around 7%), but in all the lagging regions it is significantly higher, especially in Észak-Alföld and Dél-Alföld, where it was around twice the EU average (at 13-14%).

The relatively high employment rate and the low rate of unemployment is partly due to the extensive use of the Public works scheme, which is the main active labour market policy measure in the country, and which provides jobs of community benefit to jobseekers. However, there is a question-mark over the capacity of the scheme to improve the employability of the people concerned and the extent to which it helps them find regular jobs. Accordingly, the Staff Working Document produced for the 2016 European Semester recommended that the focus should be put on other more effective measures.

Other areas

Sector-specific taxes remain a potential hindrance to investment as pointed out repeatedly in the country-specific recommendations addressed to Hungary. Over the past few years, various new sector taxes have been introduced, though some were abolished shortly after their introduction.

Romania

Poor governance along with deficiencies in the education system represent important deterrents to investment in Romania and limit growth potential.

Governance

According to the World Economic Forum, the **judicial system** is perceived as less independent than in the EU on average and it seems to have become less so over recent years. Indeed, of the 8 countries covered here, Romania is ranked only above Bulgaria in terms of judicial independence.

Equally, **corruption** remains a serious problem, even though the situation seems to have improved in the recent past. According to Transparency International, Romania was considered among the countries with the highest level of corruption in the EU in 2015. This is confirmed by the 2015 Eurobarometer survey of business views which indicates that corruption is perceived as more of a problem than in other EU countries. In addition, the World Bank Worldwide Governance Indicators show that control of corruption is particularly weak in the country.

The Worldwide Governance Indicators developed by the World Bank also show that **government was perceived as significantly less effective** in Romania than elsewhere in the EU in 2014.

Government is equally assessed as being of lower quality. Although the situation seems to have improved in this respect between 2010 and 2013, including in all the lagging regions, Romania was still ranked in penultimate position by the European Quality of Government Index. In two of the five lagging

regions (Sud-Est and Nord-Est), the situation was worse than in the rest of the country, while in another two, Sud-Vest Oltenia and Nord-Vest, it was similar to the country average.



Figure 4.33 / Corruption Perception Index in Romania, 1996-2015

Note: The scale ranges from 0 to 100, from highly corrupt to highly clean. Source: Transparency International.



Figure 4.34 / Quality of Government Index in Romania and lagging regions, 2010 and 2013

The scale ranges from 1 to 100, higher values corresponding to a better quality of government. Source: N. Charron, L. Dijkstra and V. Lapuente (2015), 'Mapping the Regional Divide in Europe: A Measure for Assessing Quality of Government in 206 European Regions', *Social Indicators Research*, 122(2), pp. 315-346.

Important steps have been taken to tackle these issues over the recent past (such as the 2012-2015 National anti-corruption strategy, the Public administration strategy, the 2014-2020 National strategy on public procurement and the 2015-2020 Strategy for the development of the judiciary), and the survey evidence suggests that there has been some improvement, but there is still some way to go.



Figure 4.35 / Worldwide Governance Indicators in Romania, 2008 and 2014

Note: The scale ranges from -2.5 to 2.5, higher values corresponding to better governance. Source: Worldwide Governance Indicators, World Bank.

Education

The **early school leaving rate** was relatively high in 2015, with 19% of those aged 18-24 leaving education without adequate qualifications in 2015 as against an average of 11% in the EU. Moreover, the rate has risen over recent years instead of declining as elsewhere in the EU. In two of the lagging regions, Nord-Est and Sud-Est again, the relative number of young people leaving education with no qualifications beyond basic schooling was higher, at 25%.

At the same time, the proportion of **working-age population with tertiary education** was well below the EU average (17% for those aged 25-64 as against an EU average of 30%). Although the proportion is larger for younger age groups, indicating that there is an upward trend in participation in tertiary education, it was still much smaller than in other parts of the EU (29% for those aged 25-34 as opposed to an EU average of 40%). The proportion is smaller than the national average in all the lagging regions, most especially in Sud-Muntenia, Nord-Est and Sud-Est, where only 21-22% of young people aged 25-34 had tertiary education, close to half the EU average.

The proportion of working-age population **participating in continuing education or training** after leaving the initial education system was also considerably below the EU average. In 2015, only just over 1% of those aged 25-64 participated in education or training, a small fraction of the EU average (11%). The difference, moreover, has widened rather than narrowed over recent years. This implies that workers have limited opportunity to learn new skills and adapt to changes in technology and methods of working, with adverse effects on the quality of the workforce and the attractiveness of the country as a location in which to invest.





Figure 4.37 / Proportion of people with ISCED 5-8 in Romania and lagging regions in 2008, 2011 and 2014



In three of the lagging regions (Sud-Est, Nord-Est and Sud-Vest Oltenia), the proportion participating in continuing education or training was even smaller than the national average, at less than 1%. In the other two, Nord-Vest and Sud-Muntenia, the proportion was around the average or slightly above and, therefore, still only around 1-2%. In all of the lagging regions, the proportion in 2015 was either smaller than it was in 2008 or not significantly larger.



Figure 4.38 / Participation rate of 25-64 in continuing education or training in Romania and lagging regions in 2008, 2012, and 2015

Some action has been taken over recent years to modernise and improve the education system (including by implementing various measures to reduce early school leaving, and increasing the quality and access to vocational education and training as well as apprenticeship), but there is little evidence as yet of this being reflected in a reduction in early school leaving and action to increase participation in lifelong learning remains to be taken.

4.3. SITUATION IN OTHER AREAS

The OECD ranked Romania as 19th of the 28 EU Member States in terms of the ease of doing business. While the ease of starting a business was assessed as being around the EU average, the increase in the time required to register for Value Added Tax planned in 2017 will increase the difficulty. On the other hand, enforcing contracts was made easier in 2016 and the insolvency system improved.

Various measures have been implemented in the recent past to support the employment of disadvantaged groups and to increase the capacity of the Public Employment Services, but access to the labour market is still a challenge for the most vulnerable people, and, in particular, for young people. The unemployment rate of young people aged 15-24 with tertiary education was much higher than the EU average (33% as opposed to 17% in 2015), similar to the country average in four of the lagging regions and even higher in the fifth, Nord-Vest (49%).

5. Effects of structural reforms

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Although economic theory – or, more accurately, particular strands of theory – might predict that structural reforms can assist the development of lagging economies, it cannot simply be assumed that they will have such an effect. An attempt has therefore been made to assess the effect of the reforms introduced on the performance of the 8 Member States and, more particularly, on the lagging regions in them in relation to the aspects they were intended to address. The examination below focuses on the effects of Labour Market Reforms.

5.2. THE EFFECT OF LABOUR MARKET REFORMS

Analysis of the effects of Labour Market Reforms (LMRs) is given priority over reforms in other policy areas for several reasons. First, from a detailed review of the structural imbalances in the 8 Member States, it is evident that although the labour market has been subject to many reforms in most of the 8 Member States in the last decade, the situation remains unfavourable in most lagging regions and in low growth regions in particular. Secondly, Part I⁹ has shown that rigidities in the labour market in all lagging regions, and again in the low growth regions in particular, tend to exacerbate other structural weaknesses and widen existing disparities, especially in respect of human capital and labour market opportunities, resulting in underinvestment and lagging growth. Thirdly, given the data available, the labour market is the policy area where an investigation of the effects of reforms can be most readily carried out.

The aim is to assess the effects of labour market reforms (LMRs) on regional performance measured in terms of productivity, investment and cost competitiveness. The last indicator of performance deserves some clarification. Although it would be preferable to examine the effect on overall competitiveness and not simply cost competitiveness, the data to do so are lacking at the regional level. Competitiveness, therefore, should really be defined in terms of trade performance which is the ultimate goal of improving competitiveness, but the tendency is to define the latter in terms of relative costs alone, which are only element of trade performance and, in many cases, not the main or decisive one. There is equally a tendency to regard reductions in relative costs, particularly in unit labour costs, as improving competitiveness, defined in these terms, which it may well do in the short and medium term but not necessarily in the longer term if it adversely affects technological advance, innovation and the development of new products (which it may do by discouraging investment, especially in capital-intensive methods of production and shifts of activity into other sectors). It should also be said that productivity performance is particularly important in the traded goods and services sectors and less at the overall economy level, though there is often in practice a relatively close relationship between the two.

⁹ 'Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions I: Fiscal and Macroeconomic Environment', *wiiw Research Report* No. 421.

The approach adopted consists of summarising the main challenges on the labour market in the 8 countries covered by the study, of explaining the data compiled on LMRs which are used to gauge the effects, of setting out the way in which these reforms are believed, according to economic theory, to affect regional performance, of testing the transmission channels concerned on the basis of a partial correlation analysis and of reviewing the developments in regional performance over the period 2000-2014, distinguishing between low growth and low income regions.

It should be stressed that the results of the analysis do not necessarily imply that the reform in question led to the change which is observed in the target variable or that it was the major cause of the change. Other things could well have been happening at the time which affected developments, which are not taken into account here. All that the analysis is attempting to do is to see whether there is evidence that the change which was expected to occur as a result of a particular reform actually did so. If a change is observable, then it can be taken as prima facie evidence of the reform having the intended effect, but it remains to investigate whether it was in fact a significant cause of the change or whether other factors were (more) responsible. It also remains to examine whether the way in which the change was brought about was in line with the theory underlying the reform or whether the change might be observable does not necessarily mean that the reform concerned had no effect, since it may be that the effect was offset by other factors, or other developments, which shifted the target variable in the opposite direction. It can be said, however, that the effect of the reform was not strong enough to counteract the other factors, or developments, in question.

It should also be stressed that the reforms in question are not necessarily aimed at tackling structural problems but are those which were implemented over the period in the countries concerned. In some cases, they may have gone against the country-specific recommendations made by the Commission because, for example, they were intended to achieve a different objective, such as increasing income support to the unemployed which may have been regarded as inadequate, even though it might lessen incentives to work.

5.3. MAIN LABOUR MARKET CHALLENGES IN THE 8 COUNTRIES

Rigidities in the labour market seem to affect all the 8 Member States covered in this study, though the situation in Hungary and Romania seems less problematic than in the other 6 countries. The main structural issues in the labour markets in these countries are summarised below.

Long-term unemployment

Not only was the unemployment level higher in Greece, Spain, Portugal and Italy than in the EU, but over half of the unemployed in these countries had been out of work for a year or more in 2015 (in particular in Greece where the proportion was 73%), reflecting structural problems in the labour market. Some 18% of the active population was, therefore, long-term unemployed in Greece and 11% in Spain as against an EU average of 4.5%. Though the unemployment rate in Bulgaria was slightly below the EU average, here as well a large majority of the unemployed (61%) had been out of work for a year or more (compared with an EU average of 48%).

The problem was generally more severe in the lagging regions than in the country as a whole. In Spain, and Italy, the long-term unemployment rate was higher in all the lagging regions, while in Greece it was higher in around half of them and only in Norte in Portugal.





Youth unemployment

High levels of unemployment among young people relative to older age groups are also a sign of a segmented labour market where new entrants find it difficult to find work. Youth unemployment was particularly high in Greece and Spain, where about half of young people aged 15-24 who had entered the labour market were unemployed in 2015 (as against an average of 20% in the EU). In Italy and Portugal, the corresponding proportion was lower (40% and 32%, respectively), but still well above the EU average.





52

In the lagging regions, young people entering the labour market face even greater difficulties of finding a job. In all the lagging regions in Spain and Italy, in most of the lagging regions in Greece and in Alentejo and Norte in Portugal, the youth unemployment rate was higher than the national average. In Thessalia in Greece, the rate was as high as 60% in 2015 and in Calabria in Italy, 65%, i.e. over three times the EU average.

On a positive note, in each of these four countries, youth unemployment has declined over the recent past, possibly reflecting the measures implemented under the Youth Guarantee scheme, though it remains high.

Youth unemployment rates among those with a university education or equivalent are particularly high in these countries as well (ranging from 32% in Portugal to 50% in Greece in 2014, as compared with an EU average of 17%), emphasising the difficulties of young people finding a job. The rate was even higher in a number of the lagging regions, such as in Abruzzo in Italy (80%) or Thessalia in Greece (71%). In particular in Italy (and to a lesser extent in Greece and Spain), this is reflected by the low employment rates of young people with tertiary education, with only 49% of those aged 25-29 with this level of qualification in employment in 2015 as against an EU average of 80%. Although the rates are higher in Greece (58%) and Spain (70%), they are still well below the EU average.

Low participation rates

Accessing the labour market is difficult for women too. Low participation rates among women serve not only to reduce the size of the workforce but to deprive employers of potential skills. The participation rates of women of working age (15-64) are particularly low in Italy (54%), Romania (57%) and Greece (60% in 2015) as against an EU average of 67%. While in Greece, there has been some increase since 2013, the rate has tended to decline over the recent past in Romania and Italy.



Figure 5.3 / Female participation rates in Italy, Romania and Greece, in 2015

Moreover, participation rates of women are lower than the country average in most of the lagging regions. This is the case in all the Italian lagging regions, especially in Campania and Sicilia (where in both cases the rate was only 36% in 2015). The same is true in Greece for 7 of the lagging regions and in Romania for 3 of the lagging regions.

Participation rates of women in Italy as well as Hungary are particularly low among those with tertiary education (around 80% in both countries against 86% in the EU in 2015), implying that skills which are potentially important for growth are not sufficiently used. In all the lagging regions of these countries, the rates were even lower, and particularly so in the Italian regions of Calabria and Molise where participation rates among women with tertiary education were only around 70%.

In Poland, the problem is more acute among women with upper secondary education (only 62% of those aged 25-64 being in employment as against an EU average of 74%) who make up the majority of women of working age. In two of the lagging regions, Warmińsko-Mazurskie and Podkarpackie, the participation rate of women with this level of education was lower still (59% and 61%, respectively). Moreover, the rate has remained almost unchanged over the past decade or so while in the rest of the EU, it has increased.

Temporary work

A significant number of people working on temporary contracts of employment is a further sign of a segmented (or two-tier) labour market, especially if they work in the jobs concerned involuntarily because they are unable to find a permanent job (or one with a standard openended contract of employment). Involuntary temporary employment is widespread in Spain, Poland and Portugal, not only suggesting a segmented labour market but one which deters employers from providing continuing training to upgrade or extend the skills of their workforce and which, accordingly, is likely to have a detrimental effect on productivity. In 2014, 16-19% of all employees aged 25 and over in these countries (i.e. excluding young people many of whom in many countries are employed on short-term training or probationary contracts) were in jobs with temporary contracts of employment because they could not find a permanent job, as compared with an EU average of only 7%.

In Spain, the proportion was even larger in all the lagging regions (almost 30% of employees in Extremadura were working in temporary jobs involuntarily), in Poland in three of the lagging regions and in Portugal, in two of them.

There is no sign of any reduction in the use of temporary contracts over recent years in any of these countries – indeed, in many lagging regions and particularly those in Spain (such as Extremadura) but also in Świętokrzyskie in Poland, the use has risen markedly – suggesting that labour market segmentation is not tending to decline over time and in some places is expanding. According to the OECD Employment Protection Legislation indicators, regulations on the use of fixed-term contracts in Spain have tended to become laxer over recent years rather than being tightened. In Portugal and Poland, a reduction of the maximum duration of fixed-term contracts was announced for 2017, but it remains to be seen what effect this will have on the numbers concerned.





Limited wage bargaining at firm level

The fact that firm-level bargaining remains largely under-developed in Italy, Portugal and Spain contributes further to labour market rigidities by limiting the extent to which wages can adjust to productivity and labour market conditions, with potential adverse effects on competitiveness and investment.

5.4. LABOUR MARKET REFORMS

The reforms covered by the analysis are those set out in the country reports of the 8 Member States, included as Online Annexes¹⁰ to this report and summarised above. These reforms are combined with those listed in the LABREF database established in 2005 on the initiative of the European Commission's Directorate General for Economic and Financial Affairs (DG ECFIN) and the Labour Market Working Group (LMWG) attached to the Economic Policy Committee (EPC) of the ECOFIN Council.

The LABREF is a descriptive database covering labour market and welfare policy measures for the EU28 over the period 2000-2014 (for Romania and Bulgaria, data start in 2003; for Croatia, in 2012). Information up to 2013 has been validated by Members of the Economic Policy Committee of the ECOFIN Council. Information relating to 2014 is in the process of being validated. The measures reported in LABREF relate to legislation which has been enacted, as well as to other public acts of general scope, including measures entailing changes in the implementation framework of a previously adopted measure. In addition, they also encompass relevant collective and tripartite agreements. The database does not record information on planned reforms or draft bills (which might give rise in anticipation to changes in behaviour).

¹⁰ See wiiw Research Report No. 425, 'Online Annex – Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions: Annex I – Country Case Studies' and wiiw Research Report No. 426, 'Online Annex – Economic Challenges of Lagging Regions: Annex II – Economic Analysis and Supplementary Tables'.

The database is organised into 9 broad policy areas:

- 1. active labour market programmes
- 2. disability and early retirement schemes
- 3. immigration and mobility
- 4. job protection legislation
- 5. labour taxation
- 6. other welfare-related benefits
- 7. unemployment benefits
- 8. wage bargaining
- 9. working time organisation

Policy areas are further divided into 49 policy fields. Annex A gives a detailed overview of the policy fields covered by each broad policy area.

Policy measures within each one of the 49 policy fields can be very heterogeneous as regards their impact on labour market outcomes. For analytical purposes, a basic distinction has to be made on the way that the underlying policy setting is affected by the reform. Accordingly, a reform is said to be of an 'expanding' or 'increasing' (or 'contracting', 'decreasing') nature whenever the measure raises (or lowers) the scope and level of taxes or monetary benefits. It is said to be 'tightening' when a reform is aimed at increasing the stringency of a particular regulation and 'relaxing' when it is intended to have the opposite effect. Details are set out in Annex B.

Main characteristics of the LMRs in the lagging region countries

The main types of reform measure implemented in the 2000-2014 period were Active Labour Market Policies (ALMPs in Table 5.1). These were essentially aimed at increasing or improving the provision of vocational training, public employment services and their role in job-seeking assistance and job-counselling, employment subsidies and special schemes for young people. Nearly all measures taken were 'expanding' in nature, i.e. they consisted of increasing the availability, generosity, or effectiveness of ALMPs.

Other LMRs concerned labour taxation and more specifically income taxation and employers' and employees' social security contributions. While in the EU on average 70% of the measures taken in labour taxation were aimed at reducing the tax wedge between total labour costs and wages, in the lagging region countries, 'decreasing' measures accounted for a slightly smaller share (two thirds). A third of the measures taken therefore were aimed at increasing taxes in this area.

Job protection measures were more frequently implemented in the low growth region countries, i.e. in the 4 southern EU15 Member States, Italy, Spain, Greece and Portugal, than in the low income region countries, i.e. in Bulgaria, Romania, Hungary and Poland, the 4 EU13 countries, as well as in the EU on average. It should be noted that while in the EU28 on average the share of measures strengthening job protection (i.e. those consisting of increasing protection against job dismissals, rights and working conditions of workers) was slightly larger than the share of measures weakening it, there are marked differences between the lagging region countries. In the 4 EU15 countries, the focus was more on

weakening job protection. In the EU13 countries, on the contrary, the focus was more on strengthening it to give employees more protection, against dismissal in particular.

Policy areas	EU28	Lagging region countries	Low growth region countries	Low income region countries	EU28	Lagging region countries	Low growth region countries	Low income region countries
		Number of reforms			Relative share (%)			
ALMPs	1,109	371	214	157	29	27	25	30
Contracting measures	31	6	3	3	1	0	0	1
Expanding measures	1,069	363	211	152	27	26	25	29
No change in intensity	9	2	0	2	0	0	0	0
Early Withdrawal	127	51	34	17	3	4	4	3
Easing measures	77	27	15	12	2	2	2	2
Tightening measures	47	23	19	4	1	2	2	1
No change in intensity	3	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
Immigration/Mobility	210	69	47	22	5	5	5	4
Relaxing measures	154	45	31	14	4	3	4	3
Tightening measures	53	22	15	7	1	2	2	1
No change in intensity	3	2	1	1	0	0	0	0
Job Protection (EPL)	432	193	136	57	11	14	16	11
Relaxing measures	201	105	81	24	5	8	9	5
Strengthening measures	225	86	53	33	6	6	6	6
No change in intensity	6	2	2	0	0	0	0	0
Labour Taxation	657	239	139	100	17	17	16	19
Decreasing Labour Taxation	462	152	86	66	12	11	10	13
Increasing Labour Taxation	160	77	47	30	4	6	5	6
No change in intensity	35	10	6	4	1	1	1	1
Welfare-related benefits	421	112	55	57	11	8	6	11
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits	104	21	6	15	3	2	1	3
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	309	88	49	39	8	6	6	7
No change in intensity	8	3	0	3	0	0	0	1
Unemployment benefits	300	108	78	30	8	8	9	6
Decreasing Unempl. benefits	146	43	24	19	4	3	3	4
Increasing Unempl. benefits	148	62	52	10	4	4	6	2
No change in intensity	6	3	2	1	0	0	0	0
Wage Setting	248	115	86	29	6	8	10	6
Moderating measures	149	83	64	19	4	6	7	4
Increasing measures	87	28	19	9	2	2	2	2
No change in intensity	12	4	3	1	0	0	0	0
Working Time	386	126	69	57	10	9	8	11
Expanding measures	164	56	34	22	4	4	4	4
Reducing measures	217	68	33	35	6	5	4	7
No change in intensity	5	2	2	0	0	0	0	0
All LMP reform measures	3,890	1,384	858	526	100	100	100	100

Table 5.1 / Labour market reform measures implemented in the 2000-2014 period

Source: Own calculations based on data from the LABREF database.

A distinctive feature of the 4 EU15 countries is that they have implemented a relatively small number of welfare-related measures, such as social assistance in the form of housing or means-tested benefits, family-related benefits or in-work benefits (such as tax credits). In the EU, on average, measures consisting of increasing the generosity of benefits or easing entitlement conditions to in-work benefits, social assistance, sickness benefits or family-related benefits, represented over 73% of the measures

taken in this policy area. The share of such 'increasing' measures was larger than this in the 4 EU15 countries, nearly 90%, but smaller in the 4 EU13 countries, where it represented just 68%.

Unemployment benefit measures were more often implemented in the 4 EU15 countries than in the 4 EU13 ones. There is also a marked difference in the kinds of measure taken. In the 4 EU15 countries, over two thirds of the measures consisted of increasing the generosity of unemployment benefits (replacement rates, duration, coverage) or easing entitlement conditions while in the 4 EU13 countries such 'increasing' measures represented only a third; the main focus being on reducing unemployment benefits to increase incentives to work.

There were also marked differences in wage setting measures, which were more often taken in the 4 EU15 countries than in the 4 EU13 ones. While the focus in both was on measures consisting of amending legislation or agreements to relax framework conditions for wage setting on the part of employers, resulting ultimately in wage moderation, the share of such 'moderating' measures was larger in the 4 EU15 countries (74%) than in the 4 EU13 ones (65%). In both, the share of 'moderating' measures overall was larger than in the EU28 on average (60%).

Reforms to working time regulation were slightly more often undertaken in the 4 EU13 countries than the EU15 ones. While in the latter there was a balance between measures reducing working time and those increasing it, in the EU13, the focus was more on measures reducing working time such as on tightening regulatory requirements on working time, improving the rights and conditions of part-time workers, raising the generosity or duration of parental/paternity/maternity leave or increasing access to sabbatical or educational leave.

Only a small number of reforms were concerned with migration and mobility policy and there are no marked differences between lagging region countries in this area. Around two thirds of the measures taken consisted of relaxing regulatory restrictions on migration or increasing support to mobility. This is a slightly smaller share than in the EU28 where relaxing measures represented over 73% of all those taken in this policy area.

The number of reform measures in respect of early withdrawal from the labour force was also relatively small. In the 4 EU13 countries these were for the most part (70%) 'tightening' measures consisting of reducing the generosity of early withdrawal schemes (early retirement or disability benefits) or tightening eligibility conditions in order to reduce the number of workers withdrawing prematurely from the labour force. In the 4 EU15 countries, on the other hand, there was a larger share of 'easing' measures (56%).

5.5. ASSUMED EFFECTS OF LABOUR MARKET REFORMS ON EMPLOYMENT, PRODUCTIVITY, INVESTMENT AND COMPETITIVENESS

From the above overview of LMR measures, it should be clear that these cover a wide variety of different kinds of intervention, each of which is likely to affect different sections of the labour market, and each of which is likely also to work via different channels to affect productivity, investment and cost competitiveness, i.e. the main performance indicators considered here. Consequently, the analysis of the effects arising from LMRs needs to distinguish between the different measures.
The main 'guide' in setting the hypotheses about the expected transmissions from LMRs is economic theory. This forms the basis for the transmission mechanisms identified in the relevant literature which covers the publications by the European Commission, the ECB¹¹ and the OECD¹² among others. The aim of this section is to briefly summarise the main expected effects from each of the LMR areas as assumed in the literature. Table 6 provides a synoptic overview.

Active labour market programmes (ALMPs) aim at improving the efficiency of the matching process in the labour market, reducing frictions in the filling of vacancies by assisting job seekers. ALMPs act on the costs of recruitment (through job counselling, placement services, etc.) as well as, with passive measures (unemployment benefits) on labour costs and wages (making work pay). Such measures encourage firms to create new vacancies and unemployed workers to accept jobs. Active labour market programmes to the extent that they aim at improving the public employment services, training, increasing subsidies for employment or for direct job creation are therefore assumed to have a positive and direct impact on employment. Contracting measures which consist of reducing the generosity or availability of the support should have the opposite effect. There are a few ALMP reform measures, such as training for instance, which can have a direct impact on productivity and competitiveness, and, in a second round, on investment. Again, 'expanding' training measures are assumed to affect productivity and competitiveness positively while 'contracting' measures should have the opposite effect.

High taxes on labour can depress labour supply and reduce firms' labour demand by driving up the cost of labour (due to high employers' contributions or payroll taxes). Such detrimental effects seem to be stronger for young and low-skilled workers, second earners and lone parents who can often face significant disincentives for full-time labour force participation. Therefore, 'decreasing' reform measures, i.e. those that reduce the labour tax wedge, are assumed to increase employment and reduce the scale of 'informal' employment. 'Increasing' measures, i.e. those consisting of increasing the labour tax wedge, are assumed to have an adverse effect on employment. Tax reforms can also affect economic growth via their influence on private investment and productivity. Decreasing reforms in labour taxation are assumed to lead to higher profit margins of firms and, via this channel, to increased investment. Investment in turn is a driver of productivity which in turn may lead to increase cost competitiveness (as well as overall competitiveness). 'Increasing' reform measures, i.e. those which increase the labour tax wedge, are assumed to have the opposite effect.

Reforms in respect of employment protection legislation (EPL), according to the mainstream literature, increase labour market flexibility and should tend to reduce structural unemployment by inter alia increasing labour mobility and productivity. Less stringent employment protection legislation (EPL) according to this view promotes an efficient allocation of labour resources by making it easier for firms to respond quickly to changes in technology or product demand that require reallocation of staff or downsizing. Therefore, EPL reforms that reduce the costs of hiring and firing can lead to higher productivity. Consequently, measures taken to reduce the restrictive nature of employment protection, particularly in sectors where labour turnover is 'naturally' high, should lead to increases in productivity and investment and, as a consequence, in the longer term to increases in labour demand. On the other hand, new OECD analysis finds that less strict employment protection is associated with lower investment rates, though the effect is small. At the same time, relaxing EPL should make employers

¹¹ ECB (2015), 'Progress with structural reforms across the euro area and their possible impacts', *Economic Bulletin*, Issue 2 and ECB (2015), 'The short-term fiscal implications of structural reforms', *Economic Bulletin*, Issue 7.

¹² OECD (2015), 'Structural reforms: impact on growth and employment – Italy'.

more willing to take on labour since the cost of dismissing workers if output does not expand as expected is reduced. The OECD, in fact, finds some evidence of such relaxation being associated with increased employment, which in turn is associated with higher GDP and investment.

Welfare-related benefits in the form of in-work benefits or tax credits are assumed to increases the financial incentive in favour of employment for those at the lower end of the labour market. 'Increasing' measures are therefore expected to have a positive impact on labour supply but if these are small, sector-specific, or temporary as tends to be the case, the effects on the aggregate level of employment might also be small. Investment is supposed to be stimulated by the demand effects from increased employment to the extent that it occurs (though such effects are influenced by the way the benefits are financed). Decreasing welfare-related benefit schemes are assumed to have the opposite effect.

All other things being equal, it can be assumed that reductions in working time (i.e. 'reducing' measures) can create labour demand just to keep the overall time worked unchanged. According to the work-sharing assumption, working time reductions are indeed assumed to have a positive effect on employment. At the same time, flexible forms of work, such as part-time and temporary arrangements, can help certain groups enter the labour market (e.g. young, parents with childcare or older workers) and increase labour supply. Many of the empirical studies carried out however come to the conclusions that reductions in working time have a limited effect on employment.¹³ So far as the effect from reductions in working time on productivity are concerned, the empirical evidence suggests that shorter working hours are associated with higher labour productivity. Moreover, the literature suggests that 'flexible' working time arrangements can have positive effects on enterprise performance and keep down unit labour costs of production.¹⁴ According to a number of studies, the ability of workers to choose their working time arrangements has a positive effect on job performance and productivity. It results in a more satisfied workforce that are more committed and productive.¹⁵

There is a commonly shared view in the literature that wage rigidities and non-optimal wage setting can push up unemployment and increase the extent of labour market mismatches. Rigidities that reduce wage differentiation and flexibility can hinder the hiring of workers (e.g. the less skilled). Wage moderating reforms can therefore have a positive effect on labour demand. At the same time, however, they can have a negative impact on labour supply. The effect from wage setting reforms on employment is therefore uncertain, though in the present context, the demand effect can be assumed to predominate. The main effects from wage moderating measures are assumed to be on investment and competitiveness. According to the literature, the investment effect occurs via the higher profit margins

¹³ Crépon and Kramarz (2002) study the 1982 reduction of the work-week in France from 40 to 39 hours, finding that it did not create jobs but increased unemployment. Hunt (1999) finds similar results for gradual working time reduction in Germany. Investigating developments over the period 1984-94, she finds that working time reduction led to higher hourly wages and lower employment. Andrews et al. (2005) also find no evidence of positive employment effects of work-sharing in Germany. Skuterud (2007) presents an analysis of the Canadian province of Quebec where the standard workweek was gradually reduced from 44 to 40 hours, concluding that despite a 20% reduction among fulltime workers in weekly hours worked beyond 40, the policy failed to raise employment. Varejao (2006) investigates the effects of the 1996 working time reduction in Portugal, finding that the policy originated a negative scale effect, a substitution of overtime for normal hours and wage restraint. He finds that the firms' reaction to the policy is affected by the presence of minimum wage earners and the use of overtime hours.

¹⁴ See for instance Golden (2012), International Labour Office.

¹⁵ See for instance Hill et al. (1998); Igbaria et al. (1999); Kelliher and Anderson (2010); Messenger (2004); Golden (2012).

that firms have available for investment. Investment in turn should help to improve productivity and competitiveness. The opposite can be assumed from 'increasing' wage setting measures.

While efficient social benefit systems are important so that displaced workers are protected against poverty and given facilities to help find new jobs, overly generous benefit systems may constitute disincentives to work. Measures implemented to reduce or increase unemployment benefits might under specific circumstances lead to higher or lower supply of labour. While the unemployment benefit system does certainly influence productivity, competitiveness and investment, the effects can come through a variety of different channels. It is therefore difficult to assume a particular effect from these.

Policy areas	Employment	Investment	Productivity	Competitiveness
ALMPs				
Contracting measures	-	((-))	(-)	(-)
Expanding measures	+	((+))	(+)	(+)
Early Withdrawal				
Easing measures	?	?	?	?
Tightening measures	?	?	?	?
Immigration/Mobility				
Relaxing measures	?	?	?	?
Tightening measures	?	?	?	?
Job Protection (EPL)				
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	((+))	(+)	+	+
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)	((-))	(-)	-	-
Labour Taxation				
Decreasing Labour Taxation	+	+	(+)	(+)
Increasing Labour Taxation	-	-	(-)	(-)
Welfare-related benefits.				
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits	-	(-)	((-))	((-))
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	+	(+)	((+))	((+))
Unemployment benefits				
Decreasing Unemployment benefits	+	?	?	?
Increasing Unemployment benefits	-	?	?	?
Wage Setting				
Moderating measures	?	+	(+)	(+)
Increasing measures	?	-	(-)	(-)
Working Time				
Expanding measures	?	?	-	-
Reducing measures	?	?	+	+

Table 5.2 / Assumed effects of labour market reforms

Note: '+' indicates an expected positive effect, '-' a negative effect and '?' an undetermined effect. Brackets indicate that the effect is not a direct one but is assumed to occur via a transmission channel and is medium term in nature. Double brackets indicate that the effect is assumed to occur via several transmission channels and is long term in nature.

It is not easy to predict the effects from early retirement measures as the causal relationship between labour participation and employment is not always clear. 'Tightening' measures, i.e. those which decrease the generosity of early withdrawal schemes or tightening eligibility conditions, could have a positive impact on labour supply, output and living standards. Increasing the effective age of retirement should in addition alleviate the burden of ageing populations, so reducing the taxes or contributions needed to support those in retirement and improving public finances.

The immediate short-run effects of increased immigration on the wages and employment of existing workers depend particularly on the extent to which migrants have skills that are substitutes or complements to those of existing workers. If the skills of migrants and existing workers are substitutes, immigration can be expected to increase competition in the labour market and drive down wages in the short run. The closer they are substitutes, the greater the effect in pushing down wages will be. Whether and to what extent declining wages lead to workers withdrawing from the labour force depends not only on their willingness to accept the new lower wages but their access to alternative sources of income. If, on the other hand, the skills of migrants are complementary to those of existing workers, all workers might experience increased productivity which can be expected to lead to a rise in the wages of existing workers. In addition to expanding labour supply, immigration can also increase the demand for labour. Since migrants expand consumer demand for goods and services as well as potentially starting up new businesses, in the medium to long run, immigration can be expected to lead to more investment. Both effects result in greater demand for labour and thus increased wages and employment in the economy.

5.6. GAUGING THE EFFECTS

The approach adopted to verify if the assumed effects are reflected in the data is, as noted at the outset, a partial correlation analysis between the number of reform measures undertaken in the 2000-2014 period in the various LMR areas and the main variables of interest, namely growth of investment, productivity and cost competitiveness over the same period. Growth is measured in terms of either the annual average growth rate over the period in the variable concerned or the difference between the end and the start year of the period.

METHODOLOGICAL NOTE

It should be noted at the outset that the methodological approach adopted to gauge the effects at the level of the lagging regions is a two-step procedure which was adopted to overcome the constraint of the insufficient number of observations in relation to the number of independent variables. In a first step, four models were estimated, one for each dependent variable, which best explain the relationship between the dependent variables concerned and the various LMR measures, including a set of specific controls, covering all NUTS 2 regions in the EU (n=259). These models (which are set out in Annex C) were used to calculate the partial correlations for the full set of observations shown in Tables 5.3, 5.4, 5.7 and 5.8. In order to verify the predicted theoretical effect at the level of the lagging regions and the 8 Member States covered by the study, the two sets of residuals underlying each of the models, which are the basis of the partial correlations for the full sample of observations, were used in a second step. This consisted of calculating 'simple correlations' between the residuals for the lagging regions both overall and within each of the 8 countries. It should be noted that while for the full sample of observations these 'simple correlations between the residuals' are equal to the partial correlations obtained in the first step, this is not the case for any subset of observations. In consequence, the correlations for the lagging regions (overall and within each of the 8 countries) and for the 8 Member States cannot be interpreted as 'partial correlations' stricto sensu. The terms are nevertheless used interchangeably in what follows.

Employment

Many of the LMRs typically have a direct effect on labour demand and/or labour supply. Before looking at the effects of the reforms on investment, productivity and cost competitiveness, therefore, it is useful to verify if the assumed employment effects from LMRs are confirmed by the data. Many of the assumed productivity investment and cost competitiveness effects come in any case from the effect on employment which is supposed to affect demand and output and through this, investment and productivity.

Table 5.3 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and annual average growth rate in employment over the same period

		Employment	
		annual average growth rate	2000-2014
	expected relation	part. corr.	sign.
ALMPs			
Contracting measures		0.20	0.00
Expanding measures	+	0.16	0.01
Early Withdrawal			
Easing measures	?	0.11	0.08
Tightening measures	?	0.01	0.88
Immigration/Mobility			
Relaxing measures	?	0.02	0.82
Tightening measures	?	0.18	0.01
Job Protection (EPL)			
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	((+))	-0.04	0.52
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)	((-))	0.03	0.64
Labour Taxation			
Decreasing Labour Taxation	+	0.15	0.02
Increasing Labour Taxation	-	-0.18	0.01
Welfare-related benefits.			
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits		0.30	0.00
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	+	-0.13	0.05
Unemployment benefits			
Decreasing Unemployment benefits	+	-0.38	0.00
Increasing Unemployment benefits	-	0.05	0.44
Wage Setting			
Moderating measures	?	0.04	0.58
Increasing measures	?	0.38	0.00

Note: Cells highlighted in green indicate statistically significant correlations in line with expectations. Cells not highlighted indicate significant coefficients but ones which are not in line with expectations. Cells highlighted in yellow indicate significant coefficients for indeterminate effects. Cells highlighted in grey indicate statistically insignificant correlations at the 5% level. '+' indicates an expected positive effect, '-' a negative effect and '?' an indeterminate effect. Brackets indicate that the effect is not a direct one but is assumed to occur via a transmission channel and is medium term in nature. Double brackets indicate that the effect is assumed to occur via several transmission channels and is long term in nature.

For the specification of the underlying model, see Annex C.

The number of reforms concerning working time had to be excluded because they were strongly correlated with the number of reforms in wage setting.

Source of data: Labour market reform measures – LABREF database, all other data – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

The results from the partial correlation analysis between the various LMPs and growth in employment over the period 2000-2014 are summarised below. Details of the underlying econometric specification are set out in Annex C. For those reform measures in Table 5.3 which are statistically significantly partially correlated with growth in employment, the residuals underlying the partial correlations coefficients are shown in Figures 5.5 to 5.10. The correlation coefficients between the residuals (and their p-value of significance) for the low growth and the low income regions as well as for the lagging regions in each of the 8 Member States and the Member States themselves are summarised in the tables below the figures.¹⁶





correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incor	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.15	0.51	0.17	0.47	0.43	0.33	0.30	0.32	-0.20	0.70	0.15	0.72	-0.02	0.94	-0.80	0.02	0.20	0.00	0.33	0.09	0.51	0.02
lagging reg.	0.49	0.20	0.35	0.62	0.06	0.93	0.36	0.27	-0.73	0.12	-0.29	0.62	-0.38	0.51	-0.52	0.44						

The number of **Active Labour Market Programmes** (ALMPs in Table 5.3) undertaken in the 2000-2014 period and aimed at increasing the availability, generosity and effectiveness of support (i.e. the 'expanding' schemes in Table 5.3) is positively correlated with employment growth over the same period. This is the case in the EU overall and in the low income regions. The correlation in the latter is stronger than in the EU on average. It is strongest in Hungary for all regions but it is not significant for the lagging regions taken alone. It is also stronger for the lagging regions in Bulgaria as well as for all regions. In the low growth regions overall, the relationship is not statistically significant, though it is

¹⁶ The colour code in these summary tables is the same as in Table 5.3. Cells highlighted in green indicate statistically significant correlations in line with expectations; cells not highlighted indicate significant correlations but ones which are not in line with expectations; cells highlighted in grey indicate statistically insignificant correlations at the 10% level.

64

significant for regions in Italy and Portugal but not for the lagging regions considered alone (Figure 5.6). It should be noted that 'contracting' ALMP measures were however also positively correlated with employment growth in the EU on average but not in Hungary where the partial correlation is in line with the effect predicted by the literature (Figure 5.5).





correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low inco	me reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.60	0.00	0.35	0.14	0.85	0.01	0.07	0.82	0.86	0.02	0.27	0.51	0.14	0.60	0.97	0.00	0.16	0.01	0.03	0.88	0.57	0.01
lagging reg.	0.12	0.77	0.49	0.47	0.49	0.47	0.27	0.41	0.82	0.05	0.65	0.20	0.14	0.82	0.78	0.15						

The measures taken to reduce **labour taxation** (i.e. 'decreasing' schemes in Table 5.3) were also positively (and significantly) correlated with employment growth in the EU overall, in Bulgaria and Hungary among the 4 EU13 countries and in Italy and Portugal for the 4 EU15 one. For the lagging regions alone, the relationship only holds for Bulgaria. This result suggests that reductions in social security contributions or income taxes operated in these countries as incentives for enterprises to create additional jobs. The relationship for both the low growth and low income regions is not significant (Figure 5.7). Symmetrically, there is a statistically significant negative relationship between measures to increase labour taxation and the change in employment in the EU on average. In this case, the correlation is also significant in the low income regions. For individual countries, the expected relationship holds for in Romania for the lagging regions and in Hungary for all regions (Figure 5.8).

The assumed negative association between 'decreasing' **welfare-related benefits** and employment growth is only partly confirmed by the data. While such an association is found for Romania and Poland among the 4 EU13 countries, the association is positive rather than negative for the low income regions. It is also positive for the low growth regions and for the EU as a whole (Figure 5.9). Decreasing welfare-

related benefits, therefore, do not seem to be associated with lower employment growth in most countries.



Figure 5.7 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and decreasing labour taxation measures (scatter of residuals and trend)

correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grov	vth reg.	low inco	me reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.62	0.00	0.36	0.13	0.84	0.01	-0.12	0.69	0.85	0.02	-0.05	0.91	0.06	0.84	0.98	0.00	0.15	0.02	0.13	0.52	0.31	0.20
lagging reg.	0.36	0.38	0.34	0.64	0.34	0.64	-0.05	0.89	0.84	0.04	0.60	0.25	-0.11	0.85	0.78	0.15						

The assumed relationship between reductions or increases in **unemployment benefits** and increases or reductions in employment is not verified by the data for the EU or for the low growth and low income regions. However, among the 4 EU15 countries, reductions in unemployment benefits were associated with employment growth in line with the predicted effect for Greece overall and for the lagging regions and among the 4 EU13 countries for the lagging regions in Poland (Figure 5.10).

The reforms to **Job Protection** legislation (EPL) are assumed either to affect productivity by tightening or relaxing labour market flexibility or to lead to an increase or reduction in the willingness of employers to take on new workers. In practice, in line with the former hypothesis, no statistically significant relationship is apparent between 'relaxing' or 'strengthening' job protection.

Since the direct employment effects from **wage setting** reforms are uncertain as indicated above, it is not surprising that the correlations between the wage setting measures implemented and the change in employment are largely inconclusive. The same applies to reforms to **early retirement** schemes and the measures taken in respect of **immigration or mobility**.

agging re



Figure 5.8 / Partial correlation between growth in employment growth and increasing labour taxation measures (scatter of residuals and trend)

Figure 5.9 / Partial correlation between growth in employment and decreasing welfarerelated benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)





Figure 5.10 / Partial correlation between growth in employment growth and decreasing unemployment benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)

correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incor	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.18	0.44	0.18	0.45	0.33	0.47	0.50	0.08	-0.58	0.21	-0.72	0.03	-0.06	0.81	-0.91	0.00	-0.38	0.00	-0.57	0.00	-0.74	0.00
lagging reg.	-0.39	0.32	0.76	0.17	-0.57	0.38	0.63	0.03	-0.40	0.48	-0.81	0.06	0.78	0.09	-0.50	0.46						

Investment

As should be clear from the overview of expected effects from LMRs, labour taxation and wage setting are the main policy areas which are assumed to influence investment decisions directly. According to the literature, reductions in labour taxation and wages lead to higher profit margins of firms and, via this, to higher investment. Such an effect is expected to occur largely in the short term.

While most of the other LMR areas are also assumed to affect investment decisions, the effects essentially come from changes in either consumption or productivity and take consequently more time to occur. Reforms in ALMPs, for instance welfare-related benefits, working time and unemployment benefits – to the extent that they increase employment – can affect investment essentially via increased consumption. Reforms to job protection legislation – to the extent that they increase labour market flexibility – are assumed to increase labour mobility and productivity and through this, investment.

Verifying the assumptions – what the data tell us

To test the assumed effects from LMRs on investment, the annual average growth rate in real terms over the period 2000-2014 in Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF) is considered. The results from the partial correlation analysis between the various LMPs and growth in investment over the period 2000-2014 are summarised below.

67

Table 5.4 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and annual average growth rate in GFCF over the same period

	Inv	vestment	
	an	nual average growth rate 2000	0-2014
	expected relation	part. corr.	sign.
ALMPs			
Contracting measures	((-))	-0.10	0.11
Expanding measures	((+))	0.04	0.53
Early Withdrawal			
Easing measures	?	-0.11	0.09
Tightening measures	?	0.10	0.11
Immigration/Mobility			
Relaxing measures	?	0.07	0.26
Tightening measures	?	-0.03	0.64
Job Protection (EPL)			
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	(+)	-0.14	0.03
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)	(-)	0.14	0.03
Labour Taxation			
Decreasing Labour Taxation	+	0.06	0.37
Increasing Labour Taxation	-	-0.09	0.17
Welfare-related benefits.			
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits	(-)	0.11	0.10
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	(+)	0.17	0.01
Unemployment benefits			
Decreasing Unemployment benefits	?	-0.01	0.85
Increasing Unemployment benefits	?	-0.08	0.22
Wage Setting			
Moderating measures	+	-0.25	0.00
Increasing measures	-	-0.16	0.01
Source of data and Note: see Table 5.3			

Details on the underlying econometric specification are set out in Annex C. For those reform measures in Table 5.4 which are statistically significantly partially correlated with growth in investment, the residuals underlying the partial correlations coefficients are shown in Figures 5.11 to 5.15, together with a summary table of the correlations between the residuals for the lagging regions and for the 8 countries covered by the study.

Moderations in **wage setting** are assumed to increase investment via higher profits. While this assumption is not verified by the partial correlations for the EU as a whole, the low income regions and the low growth regions, it is for Spain among the 4 EU15 countries and Poland among the 4 EU13 countries (Figure 5.14). On the other hand, the symmetrical negative relationship between increases in wage setting and growth of investment, suggested by economic theory, is verified by the data for the EU28 as a whole. Increased wages are also associated with a slowdown in investment for Romania (Figure 5.15).

The predicted effects of reforms in **labour taxation** on investment decisions are only weakly verified by the data. While 'increasing' reform measures (i.e. higher taxes on labour) are associated with a

slowdown in the growth of GFCF and 'decreasing' reform measures with increased growth in investment for the EU as a whole, the partial correlation coefficients are statistically not significant (Table 5.4).



Figure 5.11 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and relaxing job protection (EPL) (scatter of residuals and trend)

The investment effects from other LMR areas than taxation and wage setting are assumed to come either through increased consumption and demand or through increased investment. The hypothesis that measures taken to relax **job protection** can increase productivity and, in a second round, investment is not verified by the data. For the EU as a whole and for Greece, the data on the contrary suggest a negative correlation. Among the 4 EU13 countries, the hypothesis, however, seems to hold for Hungary and Bulgaria though not for the lagging regions alone (Figure 5.11). The symmetrical hypothesis of a negative effect of strengthened job protection on investment is also rejected by the data for both the EU overall and Romania (Figure 5.12).

0.21 -0.60

0.25 0.64 0.31

-0.66

0.02 0.67 0.18 -0.64

0.38

lagging reg

0.28

0.49 -0.43

0.54 -0.57

The predicted effects from reforms in **ALMP** on investment growth are weakly verified by the data in that contracting measures are negatively correlated with growth in investment and expanding measures positively but the partial correlation coefficients are not statistically significant. The same is true for reforms in **immigration/mobility**. While the partial correlations go in the 'right' direction, they are not statistically significant (Table 5.4).

The hypothesis that **welfare-related benefits** affect investment via higher demand channelled through higher employment is partially verified by the data. Measures taken to increase benefits are associated with higher investment growth in the EU on average. However, among the 8 Member States covered by

the study this is the case only for Romania overall but for the lagging regions alone (Figure 5.13). The partial correlation between 'decreasing' schemes and investment is not statistically significant.



Figure 5.12 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and strengthening job protection (EPL) (scatter of residuals and trend)







Figure 5.14 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and moderating wage setting (scatter of residuals and trend)

Figure 5.15 / Partial correlation between growth in GFCF and number of increasing wage setting measures (scatter of residuals and trend)



71

Developments in investment in lagging regions

Low levels of investment are a common characteristic of lagging regions which are growing slowly. In all the low growth regions, except in the Spanish ones in the 2007-2014 period, gross fixed capital formation (GFCF) per person employed over the period 2000-2014 was lower than the national average. The difference with the national average was largest in the Italian low growth regions. At the same time, in all the low growth region countries with the exception of Spain, GFCF per worker was below the EU average. The gap was largest for Portugal where the additions to capital per worker each year were less than half of those in the rest of the EU15 over the period. It was also large for Greece.

Growth in GFCF per worker in 2000-2007 in low growth regions was, however, slightly higher in the low growth regions than the country averages as well as the EU15 average (Table 5.5). This was essentially due to the relatively large investment in the Spanish and Greek regions. But the catching up that occurred over this period in terms of the capital stock per worker was more than wiped out in the 2007-2014 period because of the crisis and the years of recession which depressed both private and public investment. Over the period 2007-2014 investment in the low growth regions, and in other parts of their respective countries, declined much more than the EU15 average. In Greece, the decline was particularly large, investment falling by over 11% each year, but it was also large in all the other three countries. Moreover, while in many of the EU15 countries, investment stopped declining in the 2010-2014 period, it continued to go down in the low growth regions.

	average				grow	rth p.a. GFC Employmen	F per t	
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions	10.3	9.6	8.7	9.9	2.8	-5.1	-4.7	-1.3
low growth regions IT	10.9	9.5	8.6	10.1	1.0	-5.8	-6.9	-2.5
low growth regions EL	9.2	7.4	5.9	8.3	3.4	-10.4	-9.0	-3.8
low growth regions ES	12.9	13.4	12.6	13.2	4.8	-3.0	-1.1	0.8
low growth regions PT	6.7	6.1	5.6	6.4	0.8	-4.1	-5.1	-1.7
IT, EL, ES, PT	12.2	10.9	10.1	11.5	1.6	-4.6	-3.9	-1.5
IT	12.7	11.2	10.5	11.9	0.8	-4.4	-4.7	-1.8
EL	9.4	7.8	6.0	8.6	4.1	-11.3	-9.8	-3.9
ES	13.4	12.2	11.4	12.8	2.2	-3.8	-1.9	-0.8
PT	7.5	6.4	5.9	6.9	-1.1	-4.6	-6.8	-2.9
EU15	12.7	12.6	12.2	12.7	1.4	-1.7	-0.2	-0.2
low income regions	1.7	2.6	2.6	2.2	10.8	0.3	3.1	5.4
low income regions BG	1.0	1.4	1.3	1.2	8.0	-1.4	3.0	3.2
low income regions RO	1.1	1.9	1.7	1.5	19.9	-6.7	-3.9	5.8
low income regions PL	2.0	3.5	3.8	2.8	5.3	7.1	7.3	6.2
low income regions HU	4.4	5.1	5.0	4.8	5.5	1.1	3.8	3.3
BG, RO, PL, HU	2.7	3.9	3.8	3.3	7.4	0.3	2.6	3.8
BG	1.4	2.0	1.8	1.7	12.9	-1.6	1.2	5.4
RO	1.7	3.2	2.9	2.5	19.5	-4.6	-0.9	6.7
PL	3.1	4.4	4.6	3.8	3.5	2.8	3.8	3.2
HU	4.7	5.0	4.7	4.8	4.1	-1.0	1.4	1.5
EU12	3.4	4.5	4.4	4.0	7.2	-0.7	1.7	3.2

Table 5.5 / Developments in GFCF per employment over the period 2000-2014

Source of data: GFCF, employment – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

Low income regions lag behind the national average in terms of GFCF per worker even more. In the Polish and Bulgarian low income regions, investment per worker was a quarter less than the country average, and it was over a third less in Romania. It was lowest overall in Bulgaria. The 4 countries concerned, with the exception of Hungary, themselves lag behind the EU12 average. Unlike the low growth regions, low income regions, except those in Poland, experienced less growth in investment in the 2000-2007 period than their respective country average.

Unlike the low growth regions as well, many of the low income regions were less affected by the crisis than the rest of the country. Only in Romanian low income regions did GFCF per worker decline more during the 2007-2014 period than the national average. Investment in Poland continued to increase over this period and in the lagging regions at even higher rates than in the other Polish regions taken together. This was also the case in the Hungarian low income regions. After the global recession, recovery of investment was significant in all the low income regions except in Romania. Growth rates of GFCF per worker over the 2010-2014 period were twice as high as the national average.

	average	GFCF/GV	A (€2005)		arowth	p.a. of GFC	F(€2005)	
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions	28	25	23	27	4.4	-7.0	-6.6	-1.5
low growth regions IT	25	22	20	23	1.9	-7.1	-8.0	-2.7
low growth regions EL	30	24	19	26	4.6	-12.7	-12.5	-4.4
low growth regions ES	33	33	29	33	9.1	-5.5	-3.3	1.5
low growth regions PT	29	24	21	26	0.7	-6.0	-7.1	-2.7
IT, EL, ES, PT	26	23	21	25	3.7	-6.0	-5.2	-1.3
IT	23	21	20	22	2.2	-4.9	-5.1	-1.4
EL	26	20	16	23	5.7	-13.8	-13.8	-4.6
ES	32	27	24	29	5.8	-5.9	-3.8	-0.2
PT	28	22	20	25	-1.1	-6.2	-8.6	-3.7
EU15	24	22	21	23	2.5	-1.8	0.0	0.3
low income regions	23	28	26	25	9.6	-0.7	1.9	4.4
low income regions BG	22	27	25	25	9.2	-3.2	1.5	2.8
low income regions RO	20	26	23	23	16.5	-8.0	-5.7	3.6
low income regions PL	20	27	28	23	6.7	7.0	6.6	6.8
low income regions HU	30	31	31	31	4.2	0.9	4.3	2.5
BG, RO, PL, HU	24	27	25	25	7.2	0.1	2.5	3.6
BG	25	30	27	28	15.2	-2.8	0.0	5.9
RO	25	33	29	29	17.1	-5.7	-2.2	5.1
PL	22	24	24	23	4.2	3.3	4.4	3.8
HU	28	26	24	27	3.9	-1.1	2.4	1.4
EU12	26	27	26	27	7.3	-0.9	1.8	3.1

Table 5.6 / Developments in investment rates (GFCF/GVA) over the period 2000-2014

Source of data: GVA, GFCF - Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

Productivity

Some of the LMRs are assumed to have direct effects on productivity. This is the case for measures on Job protection or Training (ALMPs). According to the mainstream literature, less stringent employment protection promotes an efficient allocation of labour resources making it easier for firms to respond quickly to changes in technology or product demand. Reducing the cost of hiring and firing is assumed to lead to higher productivity.

Other LMRs are assumed to influence productivity via investment. This is the case for reform of labour taxation and wage setting. To the extent that reforms in these areas lead to higher profit margins, firms

are assumed to increase investment resulting in higher productivity. While the other LMRs such as reforms in welfare-related benefits, in working time or unemployment benefit system might influence productivity, the main effect is assumed to come via changes in employment, demand and output.

Verifying the assumptions – what the data tell us

To test the assumed effects of the various LMRs on productivity, the relationship with the average annual growth rate in GVA per employment over the period 2000-2014 is examined. The results from the partial correlation analysis between the various LMPs and growth in productivity over the period 2000-2014 are summarised below. Details of the underlying econometric specification are set out in Annex C. For those reform measures in Table 5.7 which are statistically significantly partially correlated with growth in productivity, the residuals underlying the partial correlation coefficients are shown in Figures 5.16 to 5.23 together with a summary table of the correlations between the residuals for the lagging regions and for the 8 countries covered by the study.

Table 5.7 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and the average annual growth rate of GVA per employment over the same period.

		GVA per employment	
		annual average growth rate 2	000-2014
	expected relation	part. corr.	sign.
ALMP			
Contracting measures	(-)	-0.13	0.04
Expanding measures	(+)	-0.21	0.00
Early Withdrawal			
Easing measures	?	-0.17	0.01
Tightening measures	?	0.11	0.10
Immigration/Mobility			
Relaxing measures	(+?)	0.01	0.94
Tightening measures	(-?)	-0.15	0.02
Job Protection (EPL)			
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	+	-0.05	0.45
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)	-	0.02	0.73
Labour Taxation			
Decreasing Labour Taxation	(+)	-0.31	0.00
Increasing Labour Taxation	(-)	0.20	0.00
Welfare-related benefits.			
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits	((-))	-0.18	0.01
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	((+))	0.23	0.00
Unemployment benefits			
Decreasing Unemployment benefits	?	0.32	0.00
Increasing Unemployment benefits	?	-0.04	0.55
Wage Setting			
Moderating measures	(+)	-0.03	0.65
Increasing measures	(-)	-0.42	0.00
Source of data and Note: see Table 5.3.			

The assumption that **AMLPs** can have an impact on productivity is in part verified by the data. The measures taken in the 2000-2014 period to reduce interventions were associated with a slowdown in

productivity growth over the same period which is in line with expectations. This is the case for the EU on average and for the low income regions. Among the 4 EU13 countries, this is also the case for Romania and Hungary but not for the lagging regions alone. While the relationship is not statistically significant for the low growth regions as a whole, it is for these regions in Italy and Portugal and for the latter as well as in Spain for all regions too (Figure 5.16). The symmetrical hypothesis, however, of a positive relationship between expanding ALMPs and productivity is only verified by the data for regions in Hungary but not for the lagging ones alone. The data for the EU and for low income regions taken together tend to indicate the opposite effect, as do the data for lagging regions in Greece (Figure 5.17).





correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incor	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	-0.04	0.88	-0.47	0.04	-0.90	0.00	-0.38	0.19	0.55	0.24	-0.64	0.08	-0.40	0.12	-0.67	0.08	-0.13	0.03	-0.20	0.32	-0.52	0.02
lagging reg.	-0.84	0.00	-0.40	0.57	-1.00	0.00	-0.38	0.25	0.20	0.74	-0.21	0.72	0.24	0.68	-0.28	0.71						

The assumption of a positive productivity effect from decreasing **job protection** resulting in higher labour market flexibility is not verified by the data. The partial correlation coefficients are not statistically significant (Table 5.7).

As noted above, the effect on productivity from decreasing **labour taxation** and wage setting is expected to come in part via investment. Part of the effect is assumed also to come from increased employment, demand and output. As indicated above as well, the effect expected on both employment and investment from labour taxation reforms is reflected in the data. So far as the effect on productivity is concerned, the assumed relationship is no longer reflected in the partial correlations for the EU. Decreasing labour taxation is, however, associated with higher productivity growth in Portugal and Hungary for all regions, though not for lagging regions alone, as well as for lagging regions in Italy (Figure 5.19). While the symmetrical negative relationship between increasing labour taxation and increasing productivity is not verified by the data for these countries, it is for Romania and for the lagging regions in Greece (Figure 5.20).



Figure 5.17 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and expanding ALMP measures (scatter of residuals and trend)

of residuals corr. p-val. corr.	correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low inco	me reg.
country 0.19 0.41 0.14 0.56 -0.01 0.98 -0.40 0.18 -0.61 0.18 -0.46 0.24 0.20 0.46 0.82 0.01 -0.21 0.00 -0.11 0.58	of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
	country	0.19	0.41	0.14	0.56	-0.01	0.98	-0.40	0.18	-0.61	0.18	-0.46	0.24	0.20	0.46	0.82	0.01	-0.21	0.00	-0.11	0.58	-0.73	0.00
lagging reg. 0.50 0.20 -0.43 0.54 -0.48 0.48 -0.76 0.00 -0.34 0.56 -0.14 0.82 -0.68 0.17 0.18 0.81	lagging reg.	0.50	0.20	-0.43	0.54	-0.48	0.48	-0.76	0.00	-0.34	0.56	-0.14	0.82	-0.68	0.17	0.18	0.81						

Figure 5.18 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and tightening immigration/mobility measures (scatter of residuals and trend)



0.79

lagging reg.

0.01 0.20 0.79 0.79 0.14 -0.21



Figure 5.19 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing labour taxation measures (scatter of residuals and trend)

0.61 0.09

0.88 -0.40 0.48 0.18

0.81

Figure 5.20 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing labour taxation (scatter of residuals and trend)

0.54 -0.30



correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incon	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.28	0.21	0.15	0.54	-0.12	0.80	-0.41	0.16	-0.59	0.19	-0.64	0.08	0.19	0.48	0.86	0.01	0.20	0.00	0.12	0.56	0.48	0.04
agging reg.	0.44	0.26	-0.62	0.33	-0.57	0.38	-0.80	0.00	-0.34	0.56	-0.23	0.70	-0.74	0.12	0.20	0.79					1	



Figure 5.21 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing welfarerelated benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)

Figure 5.22 / Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing welfarerelated benefits (scatter of residuals and trend)



correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incor	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.05	0.83	0.57	0.01	0.97	0.00	0.65	0.01	-0.50	0.29	0.79	0.01	0.55	0.03	0.51	0.23	0.23	0.00	0.32	0.11	0.81	0.00
lagging reg.	0.72	0.03	0.60	0.34	0.97	0.01	0.84	0.00	-0.11	0.86	0.37	0.52	0.03	0.97	0.33	0.64						

78

agging re

There is some evidence from the correlation analysis of a negative productivity effect from increasing wage settings. For the EU as a whole and for both the low income and low growth regions, productivity growth is negatively correlated with increased wage settings as predicted. Among the 4 EU15 countries, the relationship is statistically significant in Italy and Greece for the lagging regions as well as overall. Among the 4 EU13 countries, the assumption holds for the lagging regions in Hungary and Romania and for all regions in Poland (Figure 5.23). The hypothesis of a positive productivity effect from wage moderation is not verified by the data (Table 5.7).

The hypothesis that **immigration** can have a direct effect on productivity if the skills of migrants are complementary to those of existing workers is in part verified by the data. Measures tightening regulatory restrictions on migration or reducing mobility are negatively correlated with productivity growth for the EU on average. Among the 4 EU15 countries, this is the case for the lagging regions in Italy and among the 4 EU13 countries, for all regions in Hungary (Figure 5.18). The symmetrical hypothesis of a positive productivity effect from relaxing regulations in respect of migration is not verified by the data since the partial correlation coefficient is not statistically significant (though it has the right sign) (Table 5.7).

Since the hypothesis of a positive investment effect from increased welfare-related benefits was verified by the data, it is not surprising that there is also a positive relationship with productivity growth. Measures increasing the generosity of benefits or easing entitlement conditions are positively related to productivity growth for the EU on average as well as for the low growth regions. Among the 4 EU13 countries, the relationship holds for the regions in Romania and Poland but not for lagging regions alone. Although the relationship is not verified by the data for the low growth regions taken together, it is verified for the lagging regions in Italy, Portugal and Greece taken separately. In the latter two, it is also verified for all regions as it is for those in Spain (Figure 5.22). A symmetrical, negative relation between decreasing welfare-related benefits and growth in productivity is observed for the EU on average and for the low income regions but not for individual countries (Figure 5.21).

Developments in productivity in lagging regions over the 2000-2014 period

The GVA produced per hour worked in the 27 low growth regions in Italy, Greece, Spain and Portugal is smaller than the respective country averages, by 20% overall (Table 5.8). GVA per hour worked in the low growth regions in Spain is closest to the national average, while the difference is largest in the low growth regions in Italy and Greece. Measured in this way, productivity at national level in Italy, Greece, Spain and Portugal is itself a fifth lower on average than in the EU15.

While in the period 2000-2007 growth in productivity was lower in the low growth regions taken together than the EU15 average, it was higher than the respective country averages. In the period 2007-2014 it was higher than both the national and EU average. In all the low growth countries the increase in productivity was higher in the low growth regions than the national average in the 2000-2007 period except in Greece. In Italy however there was virtually no growth in productivity in both 2000-2007 and 2007-2014. In Greece there was a decline in productivity in the years 2007-2014.

				average			gı	owth p.a.
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions all	20	21	21	20	0.9	1.0	1.1	0.9
low growth regions IT	24	25	25	25	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.3
low growth regions EL	15	15	15	15	2.1	-0.5	0.4	0.8
low growth regions ES	22	24	25	23	0.5	2.1	2.0	1.3
low growth regions PT	12	14	14	13	1.7	1.6	1.3	1.6
IT, EL, ES, PT	25	27	27	26	0.5	0.9	1.0	0.7
IT	30	30	31	30	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.2
EL	18	18	18	18	2.4	-0.4	-0.1	1.0
ES	24	27	28	26	0.4	1.8	1.7	1.1
PT	14	16	16	15	1.6	1.2	1.1	1.4
EU15	33	36	36	34	1.4	0.7	0.9	1.1
low income regions all	4	5	5	5	5.3	2.3	2.7	3.8
low income regions BG	3	3	3	3	1.7	1.3	1.3	1.5
low income regions RO	3	4	4	3	8.6	2.2	3.0	5.4
low income regions PL	5	6	7	6	2.9	3.0	3.2	2.9
low income regions HU	7	9	9	8	4.3	1.2	0.6	2.7
BG, RO, PL, HU	6	8	8	7	5.0	2.8	2.4	3.9
BG	3	4	4	4	3.5	1.5	1.2	2.5
RO	4	5	5	4	8.2	2.7	3.2	5.4
PL	7	9	9	8	4.1	3.0	2.2	3.5
HU	8	10	11	10	4.4	1.8	0.6	3.1
EU12	7	9	9	8	5.2	2.3	2.0	3.7

Table 5.8 / GVA per hour worked, 2005, in EUR

Source: Own calculations based on Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

The picture is roughly the same if productivity is measured in terms of GVA per person employed (Table 5.9).

In the 19 low income regions in Bulgaria, Romania, Poland and Hungary, productivity measured in terms of GVA per hour worked is a third lower than the national average. The difference with the national average is largest in the low income regions in Poland and Romania and smallest in Hungary. While Hungary and Poland have productivity levels close to the EU12 average, it is only half this in Bulgaria and Romania.

Over the period 2000-2007, Romania had much higher productivity growth than the EU12 average. In the other three countries, it was lower. In the 2007-2014 period, growth in productivity was also higher in Poland than in the rest of the EU12. In the low income regions in Romania, growth of productivity was higher than the Romanian average. In all other low income regions, productivity growth in both the 2000-2007 and 2007-2014 periods was lower than the respective national averages.

In sum, growth in productivity in low growth regions was higher than the national average but national growth rates were low and lower in Italy and Spain than in the rest of the EU15 in the 2000-2007 period and lower in the latter and in Greece in the 2007-2014 period. Growth in productivity in the low income regions was lower than the national level average, or similar to it, with the exception of the Romanian regions in the 2007-2007 period. Productivity growth was higher than the EU12 average in Romania over the whole period and in Poland in the 2007-2014 period.

				average			gr	owth p.a.
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions all	37	38	38	37	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.5
low growth regions IT	44	44	43	44	0.0	-0.4	-0.4	-0.2
low growth regions EL	31	31	31	31	2.1	-0.8	0.7	0.7
low growth regions ES	39	42	43	40	0.0	1.9	1.8	1.0
low growth regions PT	23	26	27	24	1.4	1.4	1.1	1.4
IT, EL, ES, PT	46	47	48	47	0.1	0.4	0.5	0.3
IT	55	54	53	54	-0.2	-0.6	-0.4	-0.4
EL	37	38	37	37	2.4	-1.0	0.0	0.7
ES	43	46	47	44	0.0	1.8	1.6	0.9
PT	27	30	30	28	1.4	1.0	0.7	1.2
EU15	54	57	57	55	1.2	0.3	0.6	0.7
low income regions all	7	9	10	8	5.4	1.9	2.3	3.6
low income regions BG	5	5	5	5	1.8	1.3	1.4	1.6
low income regions RO	5	7	7	6	8.7	1.7	2.2	5.2
low income regions PL	10	13	13	12	3.0	2.9	3.1	3.0
low income regions HU	15	16	16	16	3.8	-0.6	0.2	1.6
BG, RO, PL, HU	11	15	15	13	5.0	2.3	2.2	3.7
BG	5	7	7	6	3.6	1.4	1.2	2.5
RO	7	10	10	8	8.4	2.2	2.5	5.2
PL	14	18	19	16	4.0	2.7	2.1	3.4
HU	17	19	19	18	4.0	0.0	0.2	2.0
EU12	13	17	17	15	5.0	1.9	1.8	3.4

Table 5.9 / GVA per employment, 2005, in thousand EUR

Source: Own calculations based on Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

Cost competitiveness

Cost competitiveness effects from LMR measures can arise via investment and productivity (i.e. via higher profit margins in the case of decreasing wage setting or labour taxation). They can also arise from increased skills (i.e. training under ALMPs) or increased flexibility in the labour market (i.e. decreasing job protection). Decreasing wage setting or labour taxation can also affect cost competitiveness directly, not only indirectly via investment and productivity.

Verifying the assumptions – what the data tell us

The assumed effects of LMRs on investment are tested by examining the change over the period 2000-2014 on the basis of the following measure of cost competitiveness: [1–(compensation of employees/GVA)] where compensation of employees and GVA are expressed in real terms. The smaller the ratio between wages (or compensation of employees) and GVA, the more cost competitive the economy will be and the higher the cost competitiveness measure. The results from the partial correlation analysis between the various LMPs and changes in the cost competitiveness measure over the period 2000-2014 are summarised below. Details of the underlying econometric specification are set out in Annex C. For those reform measures in Table 5.10 which are statistically significantly partially correlated with growth in the cost competitiveness measure, the residuals underlying the partial correlations coefficients are shown in Figures 5.24 to 5.28 together with a summary table of the correlations between the residuals for the lagging regions and the 8 countries covered by the study.

According to the mainstream literature, more flexible labour market policies that do not constrain the adaptation of workers to technological and other changes and labour mobility should have positive effects on technological innovation and cost competitiveness. This assumption is not verified by the partial correlation analysis (Table 5.10). The symmetrical relationship, namely a negative competitiveness effect from stronger **job protection**, is not verified either (and the correlation coefficient even suggests the opposite for the EU as well as for the low income regions and Poland) (Figure 5.26). A negative competitiveness effect is, however, suggested by the correlations for Hungary, Spain and Portugal though in the former two, not for the lagging regions considered alone.

High taxes on labour are assumed to hinder investment, productivity and competitiveness all other things being equal. The assumption that **labour taxation** affects investment was not verified above and only in part that it affects productivity. It is, therefore, not surprising to find mixed results for the assumed relationship between cost competitiveness and labour taxation. While for the EU on average as well as for Poland, Bulgaria and Greece, increasing labour taxation is not associated with decreasing cost competitiveness, it is for both all regions in Hungary and lagging regions alone (Figure 5.28). Symmetrically, decreasing labour taxation is not associated with increasing cost competitiveness for all countries except Hungary. Indeed, the inverse relationship is statistically significant for Greece, Bulgaria and Poland as well as for lagging regions in Spain (Figure 5.27).

According to the mainstream literature, **wage setting**, as noted above, can affect cost competitiveness via investment and productivity as well as through a direct effect on prices. While the investment and the productivity effects are in part verified, as shown above, the results of the partial correlation analysis give no indication that the price effect might be at work. The predicted cost competitiveness effect from reductions or increases in wages are not apparent in the partial correlations (Table 5.10).

Table 5.10 / Partial correlation between the number of LMR measures taken in 2000-2014 and the change in cost competitiveness over the same period

		1-(Compensation	n/GVA)
		difference over perio	d 2000-2014
	expected relation	part. corr.	sign.
ALMP			
Contracting measures	(-)	0.05	0.44
Expanding measures	(+)	0.08	0.23
Early Withdrawal			
Easing measures	?	0.10	0.13
Tightening measures	?	0.05	0.40
Immigration/Mobility			
Relaxing measures	((+?))	0.24	0.00
Tightening measures	((-?))	0.15	0.02
Job Protection (EPL)			
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	+	-0.08	0.23
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)	-	0.27	0.00
Labour Taxation			
Decreasing Labour Taxation	(+)	-0.27	0.00
Increasing Labour Taxation	(-)	0.26	0.00
Welfare-related benefits.			
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits	((-))	-0.11	0.10
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	((+))	-0.11	0.09
Unemployment benefits			
Decreasing Unemployment benefits	?	0.14	0.03
Increasing Unemployment benefits	?	-0.16	0.01
Wage-setting			
Moderating measures	(+)	0.00	0.95
Increasing measures	(-)	0.12	0.06
Source and notes: see Table 7			

Figure 5.24 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and relaxing immigration/mobility measures (residuals and trend)

84

Reforms which affect **immigration and mobility** seem to have an effect on the change in GVA per person employed over the 2000-2014 period. There is also some indication from the partial correlation analysis that immigration might matter for the competitiveness in some of the lagging regions. While the reforms adopted to ease regulatory restrictions on migration or to increase support for mobility are associated with increases in cost competitiveness for the EU on average, for the individual countries (Figure 5.24), the measures taken to tighten restrictions are associated with a decline in cost competitiveness for Poland and Bulgaria among the 4 EU13 countries and Greece and Portugal among the 4 EU15 ones. In the latter, however, this is the case only for the lagging regions considered separately (Figure 5.25).

As noted above, the **unemployment benefit** system can affect investment, productivity and cost competitiveness through a variety of different channels and it is therefore difficult to assume a particular effect from measures taken to increase or reduce the benefit. The partial correlation coefficients are difficult to interpret in this context. Reductions in unemployment benefits are associated with increases in cost competitiveness and increases in benefits with losses in cost competitiveness (Table 1.14).

The partial correlation analysis does not suggest any significant relationship between **ALMP** measures, easing or tightening **early retirement** or changes in **welfare-related benefits** and the dependent variables.

Figure 5.25 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and tightening immigration/mobility measures (residuals and trend)

Figure 5.26 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and strengthening job protection (scatter of residuals and trend)

correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incor	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.07	0.77	-0.77	0.00	-0.78	0.03	0.42	0.15	-0.16	0.75	0.57	0.13	0.79	0.00	-0.66	0.09	0.27	0.00	0.24	0.22	0.79	0.00
lagging reg.	0.61	0.10	0.36	0.61	-0.87	0.07	0.37	0.25	0.64	0.21	0.47	0.39	0.85	0.04	-0.66	0.28						

Figure 5.27 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and decreasing labour taxation (scatter of residuals and trend)

correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low inco	me reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	-0.14	0.54	0.05	0.85	-0.13	0.78	-0.82	0.00	-0.97	0.00	-0.34	0.40	-0.77	0.00	0.75	0.04	-0.27	0.00	-0.19	0.34	-0.58	0.01
lagging reg.	-0.18	0.66	-0.84	0.09	-0.73	0.20	-0.90	0.00	-0.96	0.00	-0.66	0.19	-0.82	0.06	0.96	0.01						

85

Figure 5.28 / Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and increasing labour taxation (scatter of residuals and trend)

correlations	IT		ES		PT		EL		BG		RO		PL		HU		EU		low grow	th reg.	low incom	ne reg.
of residuals	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.	corr.	p-val.																
country	0.10	0.66	-0.32	0.18	-0.29	0.52	0.81	0.00	0.95	0.00	0.40	0.31	0.89	0.00	-0.89	0.00	0.26	0.00	0.21	0.30	-0.15	0.53
lagging reg.	0.54	0.15	0.81	0.12	-0.32	0.65	0.87	0.00	0.96	0.00	0.71	0.14	0.91	0.01	-0.99	0.00						

Developments in competitiveness in lagging regions over the period 2000-2014

The compensation of employees relative to GVA in the 2000-2014 period was lower in most of the lagging regions (i.e. in those in Spain, Portugal, Bulgaria, Romania and Poland) than the national average and only a little higher in Greece and Hungary (Table 5.11). A noticeable exception is the low growth regions in Italy, which had a labour cost share in GVA around 10% higher than the national average. A priori, therefore, except for these regions, lagging regions do not seem to be disadvantaged in terms of the cost of the goods and services they produce. Cost competitiveness in most lagging regions tends to be maintained via low wages (i.e. the compensation of employees). Over the 2000-2014 period, real compensation of employees per hour worked in low growth regions was nearly 20% lower than the respective national average and it was nearly a third lower in the low income regions (Table 5.12).

Lagging region countries had themselves lower employee compensation relative to GVA than the EU average. This is particularly the case for the low growth region countries, where the difference in relation to the EU15 average was over 13% in Italy and 20-30% in Greece. In the case of low income countries, however, the difference in the share relative to the EU12 average was small, except in Bulgaria and Rumania where it was 7-8% lower.

Cost competitiveness in the lagging region countries is to a large extent maintained through lower wages. Real compensation of employees per hour worked in low growth region countries is on average a third lower than in the EU15, and much lower than this in Greece and Portugal. In the low income

countries, real compensation per hour worked is around 15% lower than in the EU12 average but 50% lower in Bulgaria and Romania.

Over the 2000-2014 period, cost competitiveness, as measured by compensation of employees relative to GVA, declined very slightly in both the EU15 and the EU12. Among the low income countries, it fell in Spain and Portugal but not in Italy and Greece. In the Spanish lagging regions there was also a reduction in the labour cost share in GVA but less than at the national level. This is mirrored in the larger increase in compensation per hour worked in these regions. In Portugal, the decline in the lagging regions was much the same as at national level. While labour costs in Italy increased over the 2000-2014 period, as noted above, there was a reduction in the lagging regions. This again is reflected in the lower increase in real compensation per hour worked in the latter. This was not the case in Greece where the share of labour cost in GVA in the lagging regions and real compensation per hour worked rose more than in other regions in the country.

While there was a slight fall in the share of labour costs in GVA in the EU12 on average over the period 2000-2014, this was not the case in Bulgaria and Hungary. Moreover, labour costs in the Bulgarian low income regions increased more than the country average. The same was evident in Hungary. In Poland, although labour costs declined at national level, and even more so than the EU12 average, in the lagging regions, they increased. These developments are reflected in the growth of real compensation per hour worked which was significantly higher in the lagging regions. In Romania, labour costs relative to GVA in the lagging regions declined by more than the country average and this again is mirrored in real compensation per hour worked.

	average o employee	f real comp s in relatior	ensation of n to GVA	F	growth p. employee	a. of real co s in relation	ompensatio n to GVA	n of
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions	0.47	0.48	0.48	0.48	0.5	-0.6	-1.8	-0.1
low growth regions IT	0.47	0.47	0.46	0.47	0.5	-0.9	-1.9	-0.2
low growth regions EL	0.37	0.40	0.40	0.39	1.7	0.6	-0.6	1.1
low growth regions ES	0.51	0.52	0.51	0.51	0.5	-1.0	-2.6	-0.2
low growth regions PT	0.54	0.51	0.51	0.53	-0.6	-0.5	-0.7	-0.6
IT, EL, ES, PT	0.46	0.47	0.47	0.47	0.3	-0.2	-1.2	0.1
IT	0.42	0.43	0.43	0.43	0.5	0.1	-0.7	0.3
EL	0.37	0.39	0.39	0.38	1.2	0.1	-1.1	0.7
ES	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.0	-0.8	-2.1	-0.4
PT	0.55	0.53	0.52	0.54	-0.9	-0.3	-0.8	-0.6
EU15	0.54	0.53	0.53	0.54	-0.5	0.2	-0.3	-0.1
low income regions	0.45	0.43	0.42	0.44	-0.1	-0.5	-0.8	-0.3
low income regions BG	0.39	0.41	0.42	0.40	-1.3	2.6	-0.5	0.6
low income regions RO	0.43	0.38	0.35	0.40	-1.0	-2.6	-2.9	-1.8
low income regions PL	0.43	0.42	0.42	0.42	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.5
low income regions HU	0.53	0.54	0.54	0.54	1.0	-0.1	0.0	0.5
BG, RO, PL, HU	0.46	0.43	0.42	0.44	-1.5	-0.4	-0.5	-0.9
BG	0.40	0.43	0.44	0.41	-1.0	1.9	-0.2	0.4
RO	0.43	0.39	0.37	0.41	-1.0	-1.8	-1.7	-1.4
PL	0.45	0.42	0.41	0.43	-2.3	0.0	-0.4	-1.1
HU	0.53	0.53	0.52	0.53	0.4	-0.3	0.1	0.0
EU12	0.46	0.44	0.43	0.45	-1.1	-0.3	-0.5	-0.7

Table 5.11 / Real compensation of employees in relation to GVA

Source of data: GVA and Compensation of employees - Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

	Average r employee	eal comper s per hour	sation of worked		growth p. employee	a. of real co s per hour	ompensatio worked	n of
	2000-06	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14	2000-07	2007-14	2010-14	2000-14
low growth regions	9	10	10	10	1.3	0.3	-0.6	0.8
low growth regions IT	11	12	12	11	0.7	-0.4	-1.4	0.2
low growth regions EL	5	6	6	6	3.9	0.1	-0.2	2.0
low growth regions ES	11	13	13	12	1.0	1.1	-0.6	1.0
low growth regions PT	7	7	7	7	1.0	1.1	0.6	1.1
IT, EL, ES, PT	12	13	13	12	0.8	0.7	-0.2	0.7
IT	13	13	13	13	0.6	0.4	-0.2	0.5
EL	6	7	7	7	3.7	-0.3	-1.2	1.7
ES	13	14	15	14	0.4	1.0	-0.3	0.7
PT	8	8	8	8	0.7	0.9	0.2	0.8
EU15	18	19	19	18	0.9	0.9	0.6	0.9
low income regions	2	2	2	2	5.2	1.7	1.9	3.4
low income regions BG	1	1	1	1	0.4	3.9	0.9	2.1
low income regions RO	1	2	1	1	7.5	-0.4	-0.1	3.5
low income regions PL	2	3	3	2	3.3	3.5	3.5	3.4
low income regions HU	4	5	5	4	5.3	1.2	0.6	3.2
BG, RO, PL, HU	3	3	3	3	3.4	2.4	1.9	2.9
BG	1	2	2	2	2.4	3.4	1.0	2.9
RO	2	2	2	2	7.1	0.9	1.5	3.9
PL	3	4	4	3	1.7	3.0	1.8	2.3
HU	4	6	6	5	4.8	1.4	0.7	3.1
EU12	3	4	4	3	4.0	1.9	1.6	3.0

Table 5.12 / Real compensation of employees per hour worked

Source of data: Hours worked and real compensation of employees - Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

5.7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Employment

There is some evidence from the partial correlation analysis that the LMRs undertaken in the period 2000-2014 had an effect on employment. Expanding ALMPs were positively associated with employment growth in the EU as a whole, the low income regions in Bulgaria and in all regions in Hungary, Portugal and Italy but not in the lagging regions considered separately. Cutting back ALMPs seems to have had the effect of reducing employment growth as expected only in Hungary.

There is also some evidence from the correlation analysis that labour taxation matters for employment growth. Reducing labour taxation was associated with growth in employment in the EU as a whole and in two of the four EU15 countries – Italy and Portugal – as well as two of the four EU13 countries – Bulgaria and Hungary. Symmetrically, increasing labour taxation was associated with a slowdown in employment growth in the EU as a whole and in the low income regions taken together. The negative relationship between increasing taxation and employment is strongest in the lagging regions in Romania.

While there is no evidence of a negative effect on employment of reducing welfare-related benefits in the EU as a whole, the analysis suggests that there is such an effect in Romania and Poland though not in the lagging regions considered separately. Reducing unemployment benefits seems to have had an effect on employment growth in Greece and the lagging regions in Poland.

	IT	ES	РТ	EL	BG	RO	PL	HU	EU	low growth reg.	low income reg.
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	contract	ting ALN	IP meas	ures		
country	0.15	0.17	0.43	0.30	-0.20	0.15	-0.02	-0.80	0.20	0.33	0.51
lagging reg.	0.49	0.35	0.06	0.36	-0.73	-0.29	-0.38	-0.52			
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	expandi	ng ALM	P measu	res		
country	0.60	0.35	0.85	0.07	0.86	0.27	0.14	0.97	0.16	0.03	0.57
lagging reg.	0.12	0.49	0.49	0.27	0.82	0.65	0.14	0.78			
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	decreas	ing labo	ur taxati	on meas	ures	
country	0.62	0.36	0.84	-0.12	0.85	-0.05	0.06	0.98	0.15	0.13	0.31
lagging reg.	0.36	0.34	0.34	-0.05	0.84	0.60	-0.11	0.78			
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	increasi	ng labo	ur taxatio	on measu	ures	
country	-0.09	-0.17	-0.48	0.40	-0.57	-0.29	0.01	-0.94	-0.18	-0.26	-0.43
lagging reg.	-0.56	0.41	-0.42	0.42	-0.41	-0.80	0.77	-0.49			
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	decreas	ing welf	are-relat	ed benef	it measures)	
country	-0.18	-0.22	0.29	-0.37	-0.12	-0.78	-0.46	0.09	0.30	0.37	0.60
lagging reg.	0.19	-0.34	-0.33	-0.42	0.36	-0.45	0.20	0.34			
Partial correl	ation bet	ween gr	owth in	employn	nent and	decreas	ing une	nployme	ent benef	it measures	
country	0.18	0.18	0.33	0.50	-0.58	-0.72	-0.06	-0.91	-0.38	-0.57	-0.74
lagging reg.	-0.39	0.76	-0.57	0.63	-0.40	-0.81	0.78	-0.50			

Table 5.13 / Employment effects of LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis

Colour code: LMR measures highlighted in green are those which have statistically significant correlations with employment growth in line with expectations. LMR measures not highlighted are those which have statistically significant correlations with employment growth but not in line with expectations. Cells in grey indicate insignificant correlations at the 10% level.

Investment

There is some evidence from the correlation analysis that wage setting has an effect on investment as suggested by economic theory. Increases in wages were negatively associated with investment growth in the EU as a whole and, of the 8 countries covered by the study, in Romania. The relationship is not statistically significant in the lagging regions. Wage moderation in Poland and Spain was positively related to increased investment though not for lagging regions isolated from the others.

	IT	ES	PT	EL	BG	RO	PL	HU	EU	low growth reg.	low income reg.
Partial correlation	n betwe	en grow	th in inv	estment	and rela	axing job	protect	ion (EPL	_) meas	ures	
country	-0.09	0.05	-0.05	-0.58	0.79	-0.55	-0.41	0.67	-0.14	-0.14	0.02
lagging reg.	0.28	-0.43	-0.57	-0.66	0.67	-0.64	-0.60	0.64			
Partial correlation	n betwe	en grow	th in inv	estment	and stre	engtheni	ng job p	rotectio	n (EPL)	measures	
country	0.13	-0.09	-0.14	0.20	-0.65	0.83	0.21	-0.12	0.14	-0.08	-0.04
lagging reg.	-0.34	-0.54	0.65	0.18	-0.63	0.26	0.41	-0.71			
Partial correlation	n betwe	en grow	th in inv	estment	and Inc	reasing	welfare-	related b	enefit r	neasures	
country	-0.62	0.14	-0.09	-0.28	-0.38	0.64	-0.36	0.21	0.17	0.01	0.13
lagging reg.	-0.25	-0.53	0.33	-0.47	-0.36	-0.19	-0.82	-0.70			
Partial correlation	n betwe	en grow	th in inv	estment	and Mo	derating	wage se	etting m	easures	i	
country	-0.84	0.40	0.06	0.34	-0.44	-0.39	0.50	-0.27	-0.25	-0.33	0.17
lagging reg.	-0.50	0.28	-0.57	0.32	-0.13	0.73	0.53	0.46			
Partial correlation	n betwe	en grow	th in inv	estment	and Inc	reasing	wage se	tting me	asures		
country	0.32	-0.02	0.13	-0.23	0.71	-0.85	-0.29	0.11	-0.16	0.00	-0.33
lagging reg.	0.39	0.55	-0.64	-0.19	0.66	-0.33	-0.47	0.71			

Table 5.14 / Investment effects of LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis

The economic literature predicts positive investment effects from relaxing the EPL and negative ones from strengthening it. These effects are not verified by the data for the EU as a whole. In Hungary and

Bulgaria, however, it seems that relaxing job protection legislation has had a positive effect on growth of investment in the 2000-2014 period. The symmetrical relationship between stronger job protection and slower growth in investment is not verified by the data.

Changes in welfare-related benefits also seem to have had an effect on investment. In the EU as a whole increasing benefits were positively correlated with growth in investment as predicted by theory, but among the countries covered by the study, this is the case only in Romania, though not in the lagging regions considered separately.

Productivity

Increasing wages are clearly associated with a reduction in productivity growth in the EU as a whole as well as in the low income and low growth regions. Among the 8 countries covered by the study, the relationship is statistically significant in Italy, Portugal, Poland and in the lagging regions in Hungary and Romania.

Table 5.15 / Productivity effects from LMRs – results from partial correlation analysis											
	ІТ	ES	PT	EL	BG	RO	PL	HU	EU	low growth reg.	low income reg.
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and contracting ALMP measures											
country	-0.04	-0.47	-0.90	-0.38	0.55	-0.64	-0.40	-0.67	-0.13	-0.20	-0.52
lagging reg.	-0.84	-0.40	-1.00	-0.38	0.20	-0.21	0.24	-0.28			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and expanding ALMP measures											
country	0.19	0.14	-0.01	-0.40	-0.61	-0.46	0.20	0.82	-0.21	-0.11	-0.73
lagging reg.	0.50	-0.43	-0.48	-0.76	-0.34	-0.14	-0.68	0.18			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and tightening immigration/mobility measures											
country	-0.30	-0.34	-0.60	0.08	0.56	-0.37	-0.32	-0.75	-0.15	-0.15	0.08
lagging reg.	-0.79	-0.17	-0.63	0.32	0.23	-0.10	0.42	-0.26			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing labour taxation measures											
country	0.22	0.32	0.65	-0.03	-0.61	0.43	0.31	0.71	-0.31	-0.14	-0.76
lagging reg.	0.79	0.20	0.79	-0.21	-0.30	0.09	-0.40	0.18			
Partial corre	lation be	tween g	rowth in	product	ivity and	increasi	ng labou	ir taxatio	n measur	es	
country	0.28	0.15	-0.12	-0.41	-0.59	-0.64	0.19	0.86	0.20	0.12	0.48
lagging reg.	0.44	-0.62	-0.57	-0.80	-0.34	-0.23	-0.74	0.20			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and decreasing welfare-related benefits measures											
country	-0.30	0.40	0.89	0.58	-0.60	0.79	0.55	0.26	-0.18	-0.17	-0.57
lagging reg.	0.48	0.62	0.92	0.87	-0.21	0.39	0.13	0.22			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and Increasing welfare-related benefits measures											
country	0.05	0.57	0.97	0.65	-0.50	0.79	0.55	0.51	0.23	0.32	0.81
lagging reg.	0.72	0.60	0.97	0.84	-0.11	0.37	0.03	0.33			
Partial correlation between growth in productivity and increasing wage setting measures											
country	-0.85	-0.17	-0.63	-0.62	-0.20	0.55	-0.56	-0.59	-0.42	-0.64	-0.67
lagging reg.	-0.85	-0.64	-0.58	-0.63	-0.13	-0.83	-0.54	-1.00			

Economic theory predicts direct, positive productivity effects from expanding ALMPs. While this effect is not verified by the data for the EU and seems to be present only in Hungary, there is evidence of the symmetrical negative relationship between reducing ALMP measures and productivity. Among the countries covered by the study, the relationship seems to hold for Spain, Portugal, Romania, Hungary and the lagging regions in Italy.

The hypothetical effects from changing labour taxation are not verified by the data for the EU as a whole. Reducing taxation is, however, positively related to productivity growth as predicted by theory in Portugal and the lagging regions in Italy and Hungary. There is also evidence of the symmetrical negative relationship between increasing taxation and productivity growth in Romania and the lagging regions in Greece.

Increasing welfare-related benefits seems to have an effect on productivity growth as predicted by the literature in all the countries except Bulgaria and Hungary. In the 4 EU15 countries, the relationship is stronger in the lagging regions than in the others but not in Spain where it does not seem to hold. The relationship does not seem to hold either in the lagging regions in the 4 EU13 countries. The predicted negative effect on productivity of reducing welfare-related benefits is verified by the data for the EU as a whole and the low income regions considered together.

Cost competitiveness

There is not much evidence from the correlation analysis to support the predicted effects of LMRs on cost competitiveness. The exception is Hungary where such effects are evident. While restrictive measures on immigration are significantly negatively correlated with increased cost competitiveness in Greece and Portugal among the 4 EU15 countries, and in Bulgaria and Poland among the 4 EU13 countries, as predicted (whether the skills of migrants are either complementary to those of existing workers or substitutes), the finding needs to take account of the small number of such measures taken.

Table 5.16 / Cos	st competitiveness	effects from	LMRs – results	from partial	correlation
analysis					

	IT	ES	PT	EL	BG	RO	PL	HU	EU	low growth reg.	low income reg.
Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and relaxing immigration/mobility policy measures											
country	-0.03	-0.66	-0.73	-0.78	-0.97	-0.06	0.12	0.14	0.24	0.11	0.13
lagging reg.	0.56	-0.88	-0.95	-0.91	-0.90	-0.28	-0.30	0.23			
Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and tightening immigration/mobility policy measures											
country	-0.10	0.01	-0.18	-0.78	-0.97	-0.20	-0.66	0.72	0.15	0.08	0.75
lagging reg.	0.19	-0.80	-0.85	-0.88	-0.95	-0.41	-0.76	0.93			
Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and strengthening job protection (EPL) measures											
country	0.07	-0.77	-0.78	0.42	-0.16	0.57	0.79	-0.66	0.27	0.24	0.79
lagging reg.	0.61	0.36	-0.87	0.37	0.64	0.47	0.85	-0.66			
Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and decreasing labour taxation measures											
country	-0.14	0.05	-0.13	-0.82	-0.97	-0.34	-0.77	0.75	-0.27	-0.19	-0.58
lagging reg.	-0.18	-0.84	-0.73	-0.90	-0.96	-0.66	-0.82	0.96			
Partial correlation between growth in cost competitiveness and increasing labour taxation measures											
country	0.10	-0.32	-0.29	0.81	0.95	0.40	0.89	-0.89	0.26	0.21	-0.15
lagging reg.	0.54	0.81	-0.32	0.87	0.96	0.71	0.91	-0.99			

6. Business environment

This chapter focuses on two questions: 1) Are there significant differences in the rate of business creation and growth between lagging regions and others? 2) If so, is there a link between these differences and the underlying business environment? The first question is addressed on the basis of Eurostat Structural Business Statistics (SBS) and Employer Business Demography data. The second question is addressed by relating the findings to the nature of the business environment in the lagging regions as indicated by various enterprise surveys and changes in this which are possible to identify as well as to the reforms that have been carried out since 2006 to make it easier to do business.

The section starts by briefly summarising the main empirical findings from recent research to set the theoretical context underlying the research questions. It then provides a concise overview of the policy reforms implemented in the 8 Member States covered by the study and a summary of the challenges in the business environment, as indicated by the main business surveys. The remaining part focuses on the two research questions set out above. It identifies the main differences in the business demography between the 8 Member States covered by the study and the main distinctive features at regional level. The findings are related to the nature of the business environment and the reforms carried out.

6.1. THEORETICAL CONTEXT – LITERATURE REVIEW: REGULATION, BUSINESS DEMOGRAPHY AND GROWTH

The business dynamics of an economy – often measured in terms of the birth rate of enterprises or the 'churn' rate (i.e. the rate at which enterprises are created plus the rate at which existing ones are closed down) – does not only depend on the existence of business opportunities but also on the extent to which it is easy or not to start a firm and to do business. The framework conditions and the regulations within which economic activity takes place can act as a brake on entrepreneurship and constrain business dynamics rather than facilitating business activity and supporting it (Audretsch et al., 2006). In this context policy reforms most often aim at removing such obstacles so as to make it easier to start a business and develop it and by doing so, to stimulate productivity and growth (Nicoletti and Scarpetta, 2003).

A relatively large body of research has investigated the relationship between business entry regulation and social and economic outcomes. Using data collected from business registers in 100 countries over a period of 8 years (2000-2007), Klapper et al. (2009) show that simple procedures to start up a business are critical for fostering entrepreneurship. Similarly, cumbersome regulations and administrative requirements for starting a business are found to result in a smaller number of legally registered firms, greater informal activity, a smaller tax base and more corruption (Audretsch et al., 2006). The findings suggest that quick, efficient, and cost-effective business registration processes are critical for fostering firm creation and development. Klapper et al. (2009) also found that barriers to start a business and high entry costs are negatively correlated with business density. Many studies analysing the impact on enterprise dynamics of reforms in the business environment such as product market regulation, also investigate the effects on productivity and growth. Overall, the findings suggest that reforms which facilitate firm entry, reduce trade barriers, remove price controls and reduce public involvement in production have a positive effect on productivity and employment and tend to reduce economic rents (Nicodeme and Sauner-Leroy, 2004). There are at least two mechanisms giving rise to the positive effect on productivity. The first comes from 'internal' restructuring in incumbent firms (in terms of e.g. the organisation, the technology or inputs used) which they undertake to remain competitive vis-à-vis new entrants. This is called the 'within effect'. The second comes from 'external restructuring', i.e. the exit of least efficient firms or the shifts in market shares from least efficient firms to most efficient ones. This effect is what Schumpeter called 'creative destruction'. Barnes, Haskell and Maliranta (2001) find evidence for the 'within effect' in the OECD, Baily, Hulten and Campbell (1992) in the US and Griliches and Regev (1995) in Israel. Aghion et al. (2009) find evidence for the 'creative destruction' effect in technologically advanced industries in the UK and show that new firms play a critical role in developing innovations. There are also studies which disaggregate productivity growth into the part due to entry and exits of firms and the part due to restructuring in incumbent firms. They show that firm entry and exit play a crucial role in reallocating resources from low to higher productivity units (Scarpetta et al., 1992; Baldwin and Gu, 2003). It can be noted, moreover, that firm entry rates tend to be higher in industries with higher output and employment growth (Brandt, 2004), a result that might be related to the positive effect of firm entry on productivity noted above.

Among the factors which affect firm entry, product market regulations have a significant influence (Cincera and Galgau, 2005). The more regulations are restrictive, the lower the entry rate. Scarpetta et al. (2002) found that administrative barriers to start-ups have a negative impact on firm entry and Brandt (2004) that overly complicated licence and permit systems or badly designed tax systems discourage the creation of new enterprises.

SMEs tend to be more affected by regulatory burdens than large companies because they are less equipped to deal with complicated administrative procedures and regulatory requirements and have less resources (OECD, 1997). Overall, small enterprises have proportionally higher transaction costs than large ones.

That the business demography of an economy in terms of the size distribution of enterprises matters for economic growth is not only due to unequal capacity of small and large enterprises to deal with administrative procedures but above all to the fact that large firms can exploit increasing returns to scale. Productivity typically increases with firm size. In the manufacturing sector, where production tends to be more capital-intensive, larger firms have almost consistently higher levels of productivity than smaller ones as shown by the OECD (2016) which suggest a few additional stylised facts in this regard:

- In most EU28 countries, post-crisis labour productivity growth measured in terms of real value added per person employed in the manufacturing sector was higher in large firms than in SMEs.
- Labour productivity growth in the post-crisis period was higher in countries with higher start-up rates and churn rates, pointing to a possible positive effect of business dynamism (i.e. the entry and exit of firms) on productivity growth.
Based on the above settings, the following working hypothesis in respect of the relationship between enterprise environment and enterprise demography and growth can be formulated:

- Reforms to ensure a smooth business environment and easy procedures to start up a business are critical for fostering entrepreneurship. Such reforms are likely to have a positive effect on enterprise creation and business density. They are likely to affect productivity and employment positively.
- A business structure characterised by an over-representation of small firms is likely to have lower growth potential than one with a more balanced distribution of enterprises of different size. This is so because larger companies can exploit increasing returns to scale and are better able than small firms to take advantages of technological developments. This is also so because larger companies can act as a link between the local production system and the global value chain.

6.2. REFORMS IN THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Many policy reforms have been undertaken in the last decade to make business environments more 'enterprise friendly' and conducive to firm creation and growth. These reforms, as noted above, tackle cumbersome regulation and excessive administrative requirements. The Doing Business reform database established in 2006 on the initiative of the World Bank Group gives an indication of the number of reforms undertaken in the 8 countries covered by the study as well as their main focus (Table 6.1).

	Starting a business	Dealing with construction permits	Getting electricity	Registering property	Paying taxes	Enforcing contracts	Resolving insolvency	Other	Total
			Number	of reforms					
IT	4	0	1	3	2	3	5	5	23
ES	5	1	0	3	6	1	4	7	27
PT	5	4	1	3	5	5	4	7	34
EL	5	1	0	3	5	2	2	8	26
4 EU15: IT, ES, PT, EL	19	6	2	12	18	11	15	27	110
EU15	49	15	2	37	39	24	30	53	249
BG	6	1	1	2	5	2	4	3	24
RO	4	2	0	2	6	4	5	8	31
HU	4	1	0	3	5	1	2	7	23
PL	2	3	3	6	4	3	6	6	33
4 EU13: BG, RO, HU, PL	16	7	4	13	20	10	17	24	111
EU13	51	19	10	35	49	27	39	77	307
EU28	100	34	12	72	88	51	69	130	556
Share of reforms per type	e (%)								
IT	17	0	4	13	9	13	22	22	100
ES	19	4	0	11	22	4	15	26	100
PT	15	12	3	9	15	15	12	21	100
EL	19	4	0	12	19	8	8	31	100
4 EU15: IT, ES, PT, EL	17	5	2	11	16	10	14	25	100
EU15	20	6	1	15	16	10	12	21	100
BG	25	4	4	8	21	8	17	13	100
RO	13	6	0	6	19	13	16	26	100
HU	17	4	0	13	22	4	9	30	100
PL	6	9	9	18	12	9	18	18	100
4 EU13: BG, RO, HU, PL	14	6	4	12	18	9	15	22	100
EU13	17	6	3	11	16	9	13	25	100
EU28	18	6	2	13	16	9	12	23	100

Table 6.1 / 'Doing Business' reforms undertaken in the 8 Member States since 2006

Source: Doing Business reform database - World Bank Group.

Several interesting observations can be made from the data presented. Among the 4 EU15 countries, the rate of reform activity over the last decade in absolute terms was lowest in Italy (23 reforms) and highest in Portugal (34 reforms). In per capita terms, the activity in Italy was only slightly over half the EU15 average while in Portugal it was over five times higher than the average and in Greece over three times higher. One of the main areas of the reforms undertaken in all 4 EU15 countries was to reduce the procedures and cost needed to start a business, as was the case in the rest of the EU15. In Italy, however, most reforms were carried out to resolve insolvency more efficiently and in Spain to simplify procedures for paying taxes. Dealing with construction permits was a focus in Portugal, much less in Spain and Greece and not at all in Italy.

Ranking of the main focus areas of reforms in the 4 EU15:

- Italy: (1) Resolving insolvency, (2) Starting a business, (3) Registering property and Enforcing contracts
- > Spain: (1) Paying taxes, (2) Starting a business, (3) Resolving insolvency
- > Portugal: same rank for Starting a business, Paying taxes and Enforcing contracts
- > Greece: (1, 2) Starting a business and Paying taxes (same rank), (3) Registering property

Reform intensity in terms of the number of reforms carried out in relation to population was much higher in the EU13 than in the EU28 over the past decade. In the 4 EU13 countries covered, however, it was only half the EU13 average. In absolute terms Poland implemented most reforms (33) and Hungary least (23), whereas in per capita terms, reform intensity in Hungary was close to the EU13 average but in Poland, only a third of the average.

Unlike in the 4 EU15 countries, the main focus of the reforms was on procedures for paying taxes and resolving insolvency except in Bulgaria where it was on simplifying business start-ups.

Ranking of the main focus areas of reforms in the 4 EU13:

- > Bulgaria: (1) Starting a business, (2) Paying taxes, (3) Resolving insolvency
- Romania: (1) Paying taxes, (2) Resolving insolvency, (3) Starting a business and Enforcing Contracts (same rank)
- > Hungary: (1) Paying taxes, (2) Starting a business, (3) Registering property
- > Poland: (1,2) Registering property and Resolving insolvency (same rank), (3) Paying taxes

6.3. THE MAIN REMAINING CHALLENGES IN THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

This section summarises the challenges that remain to be addressed in the business environment of the 8 Member States covered by the study as well as in the lagging regions within these countries so far as the data allow.

Italy

There are 6 areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Italy is less favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 as shown in Table 6.2. These are paying taxes and enforcing contracts, obtaining credit, dealing with construction permits, getting electricity and starting a business, while a 7th area, resolving insolvency, is assessed as around the average. These could deter entrepreneurs from creating a new company, companies from expanding their operations or multinationals from investing in the country.

Table 6.2 / Business environment indicators in Italy, 2016

	Italy (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	15
Dealing with construction permits	22
Getting electricity	20
Registering property	8
Obtaining credit	23
Protecting minority investors	11
Paying taxes*	28
Enforcing contracts	25
Resolving insolvency	14

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here.

* Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015. Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

'Enforcing contracts' has been one of the three main focus areas of reform in Italy in the last decade. Despite the distance to the situation in the most favourable country being reduced (Figure 6.1), Italy is still regarded as one of the least favourable countries in this respect. Both the time taken and the cost involved in resolving commercial disputes through local courts are still more in Italy than in the rest of the EU on average. While the cost is only slightly higher, the time taken, despite the reduction in the latest years, remains almost double the EU average (Table 6.3). Firms, therefore, often do not have the financial means to continue an action because of the length of time it takes for a court to reach a final judgement. In 2013, in five of the lagging regions, moreover, the time taken was longer than in the rest of the country, especially in Puglia, where it was more than 40% higher than the national average. In Puglia too, the cost involved was much higher than elsewhere in the country in 2013, whereas in other lagging regions it was lower than the national average (Table 6.3).



Figure 6.1 / Italy – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016

Note: The distance to frontier shows how far on average an economy is from the best situation in any economy as regards each Doing Business indicator on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas shown in the graph are those in which the situation in Italy is less favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017.

Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Region (city)	Time (days)	Cost (% of claim)
Puglia (Bari)	2022	34.1
Sardegna (Cagliari)	1507	21.5
Molise (Campobasso)	1338	25.5
Calabria (Catanzaro)	1427	24.1
Abruzzo (L'Aquila)	1435	22.9
Campania (Naples)	1280	21.7
Sicilia (Palermo)	1366	25.2
Basilicata (Potenza)	1461	20.5
Italy 2013	1400	26.2
Italy 2016	1120	23.1
EU average 2016	594	22

Table 6.3 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Italy, 2013 and 2016

Note: Regional values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2013 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Complying with building regulations and **dealing with construction permits** in Italy is more costly in terms of time as well as money than elsewhere in the EU and this area was not really subject to reform over the last decade. This may discourage construction or possibly lead to bribery in order to pass inspections or even to illegal construction. In 2013, in all the lagging regions, with the exception of Campania, the number of procedures which needed to be gone through to obtain a permit was equal or lower than in other parts of the country. In addition, the time taken to obtain a permit was shorter than the national average in 5 of the regions and only in Sicilia, Campania and Calabria was it longer. The cost was also less than the national average in 5 of the regions and in 3 of these, Calabria, Abruzzo and Campania, less than the 2016 EU average. In Puglia, Molise and Basilicata, however, it was more expensive than the national average and in the last 5 times more expensive (Table 6.4).

97

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Puglia (Bari)	12	223	4.1
Sardegna (Cagliari)	10	222	3.3
Molise (Campobasso)	13	192	4.0
Calabria (Catanzaro)	13	279	0.8
Abruzzo (L'Aquila)	12	208	0.7
Campania (Naples)	14	232	1.1
Sicilia (Palermo)	13	301	2.2
Basilicata (Potenza)	13	178	18.0
Italy 2013	13	231	3.6
Italy 2016	10	228	3.5
EU average 2016	13	169	2.0

Table 6.4 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Italy, 2013 and 2016

Note: Regional values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Cost of dealing with construction permits in 2013 was expressed as % of income per capita. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2013 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Italy was ranked 15th out of the 28 Member States in respect to **starting a business**, and so slightly less favourable than average but improvements have been made over recent years, especially in relation to the number of procedures necessary and the time needed. Nevertheless, the cost involved remains almost four times higher than the average in the EU. In 2013, lagging regions were not disadvantaged as compared with other regions in the country in terms of the number of procedures and time taken for starting a business. Molise was the exception for what concern the number of procedures while in Campania and Abruzzo the time was longer. Also, in 5 out of 8 regions, the cost involved was lower than the national average, except, again, in Campania, Molise and Sardegna (Table 6.5).

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Puglia (Bari)	6	9	12.2
Sardegna (Cagliari)	6	9	15.3
Molise (Campobasso)	7	8	15.3
Calabria (Catanzaro)	6	7	12.4
Abruzzo (L'Aquila)	6	13	13.3
Campania (Naples)	6	16	16.0
Sicilia (Palermo)	6	8	13.5
Basilicata (Potenza)	6	8	12.6
Italy 2013	6	9	14.5
Italy 2016	5	5.5	13.8
EU average 2016	5.3	10.4	3.7

Table 6.5 / Starting a	business	indicators i	in Italy,	2013	and 201	6
------------------------	----------	--------------	-----------	------	---------	---

Note: Regional values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital is the same in all the regions and slightly less than the EU average. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2013 – Italy; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Although a number of reforms have been carried out to reduce taxes (i.e. the corporate income tax rate and the regional tax in 2009) and to make it easier to pay taxes, Italy is still considered the most

problematic country in the EU with respect to '**Tax paying**'. '**Getting electricity**' is also problematic but no reform measures were taken to make it any easier.

Spain

According to the Doing Business Report 2017, in 8 of the 9 areas distinguished, the regulatory environment for businesses in Spain is less favourable than in most other EU countries as shown in Table 6.6. There is only one area where Spain is ranked as being more favourable than the EU average, which is 'protecting minority investors', though there are three areas – 'obtaining credit', 'enforcing contracts' and 'resolving insolvencies' – where Spain is ranked close to the average.

Table 6.6 / Business environment indicators in Spain, 2016

	Spain (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	22
Dealing with construction permits	24
Getting electricity	24
Registering property	18
Obtaining credit	16
Protecting minority investors	8
Paying taxes*	17
Enforcing contracts	16
Resolving insolvency	16

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here.

* Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015.

Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

A number of reforms have been carried out over the last decade to make it easier to **start a business**. Although they seem to have had effects as shown by the reduction of the distance with the best performing countries, particularly with respect to the time needed and the minimum capital required, there is still room for improvement (Figure 6.2). In 2015, in three of the four lagging regions, moreover, the number of procedures involved and the time needed was higher than in the rest of the country. In the fourth, Andalucía, both indicators were the same as the national average. On the other hand, in all the lagging regions the cost was lower. Indeed, in 2015 in Andalucía and Extremadura, the cost was also less than the 2016 EU average (Table 6.7).

100



Figure 6.2 / Spain – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016

Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Spain is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)	Paid-in Min. Capital (% of income per capita)
Andalucía (Sevilla)	7	14.0	3.4	13.8
Castilla- La Mancha (Albacete)	10	15.5	5.0	13.8
Extremadura (Badajoz)	9	14.5	3.4	13.8
Murcia (Murcia)	10	15.0	4.6	13.8
Spain 2015	7	14.0	5.3	13.8
Spain 2016	7	13.0	5.0	12.9
EU average 2016	5.3	10.4	3.7	10.9

Table 6.7 / Starting a business indicators in Spain, 2015 and 2016

Note: Regional values refer to 2015. Regional values higher than the national average in 2015 are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average in 2016 are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Obtaining and **dealing with construction permits** is more expensive and time-consuming in Spain than elsewhere in the EU in 2016 but no reform has been carried out in the last decade to change this and compliance with requirements for building has become more difficult after 2010 as suggested by the increasing distance of the situation in Spain with that in the best performing countries. The situation in some of the lagging regions is slightly better than in the rest of the country. In 2015, it cost less than the national average in three of the lagging regions (Andalucía is the exception) to obtain a permit, though it was still much more costly than the EU average (between 2 and 3 times more costly). It is less time-consuming too than in other Spanish regions in all apart from Murcia, which is the only lagging region where the time needed is more than the EU average (Table 6.8).

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Andalucía (Sevilla)	13	162	6.1
Castilla- La Mancha (Albacete)	11	153	4.8
Extremadura (Badajoz)	10	147	4.2
Murcia (Murcia)	12	247	4.4
Spain 2015	13	205	5.3
Spain 2016	13	205	5.2
EU average 2016	13	169	2.0

Table 6.8 / Dealing with construction permits in Spain, 2015 and 2016

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital is the same in all the regions and slightly less than the EU average Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

While the time needed in Spain for **registering property** is on average around half the EU average, the cost is higher than in the rest of the EU. In all lagging regions in 2015, the time needed to register a property was longer than the national average but significantly shorter than the EU average. The cost was also higher and accordingly higher than the EU average, markedly so in Andalucía and Extremadura, in the latter over twice as high (Table 6.9).

Table 6.9 / Registering property indicators in Spain, 2015 and 2016

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Andalucía (Sevilla)	5	17	9.1
Castilla- La Mancha (Albacete)	5	15	8.1
Extremadura (Badajoz)	5	16	9.9
Murcia (Murcia)	5	17	8.1
Spain 2015	5	12.5	6.1
Spain 2016	5	12.5	6.1
EU average 2016	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital is the same in all the regions and slightly less than the EU average Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Table 6.10 / Getting electricity indicators in Spain, 2015 and 2016

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Andalucía (Sevilla)	8	134	232.7
Castilla- La Mancha (Albacete)	8	129	235.5
Extremadura (Badajoz)	7	125	232.2
Murcia (Murcia)	7	178	232.0
Spain 2015	7	107	232.0
Spain 2016	7	107	216.1
EU average 2016	5	90	128.5

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital is the same in all the regions and slightly less than the EU average

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Spain; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Obtaining electricity is also more difficult in Spain than in the majority of the EU Member States. Despite the cost being reduced between 2015 and 2016 so that the distance between Spain and the best performing countries narrowed, access to electricity remains more expensive than in the rest of the EU. In 2015, in all lagging regions, the time needed to obtain electricity supply was longer than the national average and even more so than the EU average. The cost too was higher in all the lagging regions except Extremadura (Table 6.10).

Greece

According to the Doing Business Report 2017, the regulatory environment for businesses in Greece is less favourable than in most other EU Member States in all areas apart from protecting minority investors, where it is around average. 'Getting electricity', however, is considered to be only slightly more difficult than average, in contrast to 'registering property' and 'enforcing contracts', for which Greece is regarded as either the most problematic or almost the most problematic country in the EU as shown below (Table 6.11).

Table 6.11 / Business environment indicators in Greece, 2016

	Greece (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	17
Dealing with construction permits	17
Getting electricity	15
Registering property	28
Obtaining credit	20
Protecting minority investors	14
Paying taxes*	19
Enforcing contracts	27
Resolving insolvency	23

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here..

* Data for 'paying taxes' indicator cover the period January-December 2015. Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

Although a number of reforms were carried out in relation to **registering property** in Greece, not all of them made it easier, so the country is still considered the most difficult in the EU in this respect. For instance, the reform undertaken in 2010 made property transfer more expensive (by increasing the property transfer tax from 1% to 10% of the property value). This was in part changed by the reform in 2014 which reduced registration taxes and legal requirements. The cost of registration therefore and the time needed are no longer higher in Greece than in the rest of the EU but the number of procedures entailed is twice the average in the EU (Table 6.12).



Figure 6.3 / Greece – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016

Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Greece is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Table 6.12 / Registering property indicators in Greece, 2016

	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Greece	10	20	4.8
EU average	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 - Greece; World Bank Doing Business 2017 - EU.

Contract enforcement is also more difficult than in almost all other Member States. Whereas the cost is below the EU average, the time needed is over twice as long (Table 6.13). Reforms were undertaken in 2014 and 2016 to tackle the problem but it remains to be seen whether they produce the intended effects and begin reducing the substantial distance that separates Greece from the best performing countries (see Figure 6.3).

Table 6.13 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Greece, 2016

	Time (days)	Cost (% of claim)
Greece	1580	14.4
EU average	594	22.0

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Greece; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU. The average number of procedure at EU level is not indicated.

Greece is ranked 17th in the EU in terms of the ease of **starting a business**, the time needed being longer than the EU average but the costs being less (Table 6.14). The area has been subject to a

number of policy reforms in the last decade which seem to have produced effects as reflected by the decreasing distance of Greece with best performing countries (Figure 1.69).

Table 6.14 / Starting a business indicators in Greece, 2016

	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Greece	5.0	13.0	2.2
EU average	5.3	10.4	3.7

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital in Greece is 0. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Greece; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Greece is also ranked 17th as regards dealing with construction permits and while the number of procedures involved is more than the EU average, both the time needed and the cost are less than average (Table 6.15).

Table 6.15 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Greece, 2016

	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Greece	17	124	1.8
EU average	13	169	2.0

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 - Greece; World Bank Doing Business 2017 - EU.

Portugal

For most of the areas which are relevant for judging the regulatory environment for businesses, Portugal is assessed as being relatively favourable according to the Doing Business Report 2017. It is only in respect of 'obtaining credit', 'protecting minority investors' and 'paying taxes' where it is ranked below the majority of other EU countries, as shown below (Table 6.16). For the first two, in particular, however, the situation seems much less favourable than on average in the EU which could well deter or hinder business expansion as well as setting up new businesses.

Table 6.16 / Business environment indicators in Portugal, 2016

	Portugal (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	2
Dealing with construction permits	10
Getting electricity	8
Registering property	10
Obtaining credit	23
Protecting minority investors	22
Paying taxes*	18
Enforcing contracts	8
Resolving insolvency	3

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here..

* Data for 'paying taxes' indicator cover the period January-December 2015. Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.



Figure 6.4 / Portugal – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016

Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier.

Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

There are no regional data available for Portugal. According to the World Bank Doing Business reform database, no measures were taken in the last decade to make it easier to obtain credits and just one to protect minority investors. On the other hand, there were a number of reforms relating to paying taxes but these do not seem to have made it noticeably easier to do so. The distance between the situation in Portugal and the best performing economies in this respect has therefore narrowed only slightly essentially because of a reduction in the tax rate (Figure 6.4).

Starting a business, registering property, dealing with construction permits and enforcing contracts are no longer regarded as problematic, as noted above, so that the numerous reforms carried out in these areas seem to have been effective.

Portugal is now among the countries in the EU where it is easiest to **start a business**, the time needed and the cost involved being well below the EU average (Table 6.17). (There are no data available below national level to enable the state of affairs in lagging regions to be assessed.)

Table 6.17 / Starting a	a business	indicators	in	Portuga	I, 2016
-------------------------	------------	------------	----	---------	---------

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Portugal	5.0	4.5	2.1
EU average	5.3	10.4	3.7

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. There is no paid-in minimum capital in Portugal Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Portugal; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Since 2006, three major reforms have made it easier to transfer **property** by computerising property registration and establishing a one-stop shop. Accordingly, one day only is needed now to resister property, but the cost remains around 50% higher than the EU average (Table 6.19).

106

Table 6.18 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Portugal, 2016

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Portugal	14	113	1.3
EU average	13	169	2.0

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 - Portugal; World Bank Doing Business 2017 - EU.

Table 6.19 / Registering property indicators in Portugal, 2016

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Portugal	1	1	7.3
EU average	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Portugal; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

As a result of the measures taken to increase the efficiency of the judicial system by speeding up procedures and reducing the time needed, **enforcing contracts** in Portugal is now quicker and less costly than the EU average (Table 6.20).

Table 6.20 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Portugal, 2016

Region (city)	Time (days)	Cost (% of claim)
Portugal	547	13.8
EU average	594	22.0

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Portugal; World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU. The average number of procedure at EU level is not indicated.

Hungary

The regulatory environment for business in Hungary is less favourable than the EU average in 6 of the 9 areas considered. According to the Doing Business Report 2017 (Table 6.21), this is particularly the case in respect of 'getting electricity', 'paying taxes', 'protecting minority investors and 'resolving insolvency', in all of which Hungary is considered among the least favourable countries in the EU.

It is more costly and time-consuming in Hungary than in most other EU countries to get access to **electricity** – the country is ranked 27th among the 28. According to the World Bank, no reform has been carried out in the last decade to tackle the problem. The distance to the frontier represented by best performing countries, therefore, remained wide (see Figure 6.5). Nevertheless, most of the enterprises surveyed by the World Bank Group in 2013 did not identify electricity as a major constraint on business activity. In Alföld és Észak – the NUTS 1 region which covers three of the four (NUTS 2) lagging regions, namely Észak-Magyarország, Észak-Alföld and Dél-Alföld – the proportion that did so, however, is over twice the national average. More enterprises in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country also considered transport infrastructure as a major constraint on business activity (Table 6.22).

Table 6.21 / Business environment indicators in Hungary, 2016

	Hungary (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	18
Dealing with construction permits	23
Getting electricity	27
Registering property	11
Obtaining credit	2
Protecting minority investors	25
Paying taxes*	26
Enforcing contracts	9
Resolving insolvency	25

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here.

* Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015.

Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

Figure 6.5 / Hungary – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016



Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Hungary is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Table 6.22 / Share of entrepreneurs considering electricity and transport infrastructure as major constraints for doing business in Hungary, 2013

Region	Energy (% of firms identifying electricity as a major constraint)	Transport infrastructure (% of firms identifying transportation as a major constraint)
Alföld és Észak	24.9	8.6
Hungary	11.3	5.6
EU13*	22.2	14.2

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Data for Dél-Dunántúl not available.

* EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013 Hungary.

Although several policy reforms have been implemented over the last decade aimed at making **paying taxes** easier and less costly for companies (e.g. by allowing additional deduction for new acquisitions) Hungary is still ranked among the least favourable countries in the EU in this respect (being ranked 26th out of the 28) and the situation has only marginally improved in terms of the distance with the most favourable countries. Tax paying issues are perceived as more difficult in the lagging regions than in the rest of the country according to the World Bank Enterprise survey in 2013. Almost a third of the enterprises surveyed in the lagging regions considered tax administration as a major constraint on business activity, while 40% were of the same opinion as regards tax rates (Table 6.23). Despite this, taxation was regarded as less of a problem in Hungary than in the other EU13 countries.

Complying with building regulations and **dealing with construction permits** is more time-consuming and involves more procedures than in the rest of the EU, though the cost is only a tenth of the EU average (Table 6.24). In addition, according to the World Bank survey, in Alföld és Észak, complying with business permits as well as dealing with the requirements of the government regulation was perceived as even more of a constraint than elsewhere in the country (Table 6.23).

Table 6.23 / Indicators on regulations, taxation, and business licences as problems for doing business in Hungary and lagging regions, 2013

Region	Time (% of senior management time spent dealing with the requirements of government regulation)	Tax rates (% of firms identifying tax rates as a major constraint)	Tax administration (% of firms identifying tax administration as a major constraint)	Licences and permits (% of firms identifying business licensing and permits as a major constraint)	Trade regulation (% of firms identifying customs and trade regulations as a major constraint)
Alföld és Észak	14.6	40	31.9	6.4	2.6
Hungary	11.3	28.1	19.8	3.7	4.8
EU13*	15.5	38.3	22.4	7.6	6.3

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Data for Dél-Dunántúl not available.

* EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013 Hungary

Table 6.24 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Hungary, 2016

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Hungary	17	202	0.2
EU average	13	169	2.0

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Hungary and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Despite the reforms undertaken to make it easier to **start a business** (the minimum capital requirement being reduced and online registration being introduced – which meant that registration is confirmed within an hour) (Table 6.25), the distance between the situation in Hungary and that in the best performing countries has not changed much. Starting a business is still regarded as more difficult than in the majority of other EU countries, mainly because of the cost involved, which is twice the EU average.

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Hungary	6.0	7.0	7.1
EU average	5.3	10.4	3.7

Table 6.25 / Starting a business indicators in Hungary, 2016

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Hungary, and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Although measures have been taken since 2006 to secure creditors rights, '**resolving insolvency**' is also still more difficult in Hungary than in most other EU countries and the situation has not improved much since 2004.

Romania

In 6 of the 9 areas covered, the regulatory environment for business in Romania is considered to be less favourable than in most other EU countries, though in one of these areas (paying taxes), only slightly less so. The situation is particularly unfavourable as regards 'getting electricity' and 'dealing with construction permits', for which Romania is assessed as being one of the most problematic countries in the EU, as shown below (Table 6.26).

	Romania (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	14
Dealing with construction permits	25
Getting electricity	28
Registering property	22
Obtaining credit	1
Protecting minority investors	19
Paying taxes*	15
Enforcing contracts	14
Resolving insolvency	21

Table 6.26 / Business environment indicators in Romania, 2016

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. An indicator for 'trading across borders' is also included in the report, but since 16 out of the 28 EU Member States are ranked as 1, it is not included here.

* Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015.

Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

Problems of electricity supply (as well as in transport infrastructure) are considered as major constraints on business activity by a larger share of enterprises in Romania than in the EU13 according to the World Bank survey in 2013 (Table 6.27). In all the lagging regions, except for Nord-Vest, this is considered as more of a constraint than in the other regions. This was particularly so in Sud-Vest Oltenia, where almost half of the enterprises surveyed identified problems in electricity supply as a major constraint to their business activity. No reforms have been carried out since 2006 according to the World Bank to alleviate the problem. Transport infrastructure is also seen as a major obstacle in all the lagging regions, except in Sud-Muntenia.



Figure 6.6 / Romania – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016

Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Romania is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Table 6.27 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Romania, 2013

Region	Energy	Transport
	(% of firms identifying electricity as a	(% of firms identifying transportation as a major
	major constraint)	constraint)
Nord-Est	38.2	23.0
Nord-Vest	16.7	26.0
Sud - Muntenia	32.6	13.3
Sud-Est	30.7	22.0
Sud-Vest Oltenia	47.9	49.5
Romania	27.1	21.9
EU13*	22.2	14.2

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group – Enterprise Surveys 2013 Romania.

Making it easier to '**deal with construction permits**' has also not been a central objective of reforms, which is reflected in Romania losing ground as compared with the best performing countries in this respect. Although both the cost and number of days required to obtain construction permits are much the same as the EU average, the number of procedures involved remains much larger, potentially discouraging construction and possibly encouraging bribery or even illegal construction (Table 6.28).

The difficulty of obtaining permits and licences in Romania is confirmed by the 2013 World Bank Enterprise Survey, this being regarded as one of the main constraints on business activity by a much larger proportion of enterprises in Romania than in the rest of the EU13, especially in Nord-Vest and in the three lagging regions in the south of the country (Sud-Muntenia, Sud-Est and Sud-Vest Oltenia) (Table 6.29).

Table 6.28 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Romania, 2016

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Romania	20	171	2.0
EU average	13	169	2.0

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey Source: World Bank Doing Business.

Table 6.29 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as problems for doing business in Romania and lagging regions, 2013

Region	Time (% of senior management time spent dealing with the requirements of government regulation)	Tax rates (% of firms identifying tax rates as a major constraint)	Tax administration (% of firms identifying tax administration as a major constraint)	Licenses and permits (% of firms identifying business licensing and permits as a major constraint)	Trade regulation (% of firms identifying customs and trade regulations as a major constraint)
Nord-Est	11.6	70.0	50.2	3.4	4.5
Nord-Vest	15.5	70.7	47.8	15.4	8.0
Sud - Muntenia	20.1	69.5	53.1	16.3	10.0
Sud-Est	16.0	81.5	51.8	18.6	12.1
Sud-Vest Oltenia	13.5	84.5	68.1	18.4	20.9
Romania	15.8	73.8	48.9	12.6	11.3
EU13*	15.5	38.3	22.4	7.6	6.3

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank group data.

Source: World Bank Group – Enterprise Survey.

Registering property is also assessed as being more difficult in Romania than in most other Member States (the country being 22nd of the 28). Despite speeding up property registration by introducing quicker procedures for land registration, the number of procedures required remains higher than the EU average. Nonetheless, the time needed and, more especially, the cost, is less (Table 6.30).

Table 6.30 / Registering property indicators in Romania, 2016

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Romania	7	21	1.4
EU average	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Romania and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

As regards '**starting a business**', Romania was ranked around the EU average. Nevertheless, despite being among the main focus areas for reform, starting a business involves slightly more procedures and days in Romania than in the rest of the EU on average but a lower cost (Table 6.31).

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Romania	6.0	12.0	2.0
EU average	5.3	10.4	3.7

Table 6.31 / Starting a business indicators in Romania, 2016

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Paid-in minimum capital is the same in all the regions and slightly less than the EU average Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Romania, and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

The level of corruption, crime and the importance of the informal sector are all regarded as more of a constraint on business activity in Romania than in the rest of the EU13. According to the World Bank survey in 2013 over twice as many enterprises than in the EU13 on average considered corruption and crime as major constraints, while a third regarded practices of competitors in the informal sector in a similar way. In three of the lagging regions, Sud-Est, Sud-Muntenia and Sud-Vest Oltenia, especially the latter two, corruption was seen as more of a problem than elsewhere in the country and similarly as regards crime, though in this case, more in Sud-Est than in the other two regions. The informal sector was also considered to be more of a constraint on activities in Sud-Muntenia and Sud-Vest Oltenia than in other parts of the country and this was the case as well in Nord-Vest (Table 6.32).

Region	Corruption (% of firms identifying corruption as a major constraint)	Crime (% of firms identifying crime, theft and disorder as a major constraint)	Informality (% of firms identifying practices of competitors in the informal sector as a major constraint)
Nord-Est	36.3	16.6	19.4
Nord-Vest	44.5	12.0	37.2
Sud – Muntenia	50.4	31.2	35.1
Sud-Est	47.2	36.7	27.6
Sud-Vest Oltenia	57.2	27	33.9
Romania	46.1	22.3	32.9
EU13*	18.5	9.3	19.3

Table 6.32 / Corruption, crime and informality as problems for doing business in Romania and lagging regions, 2013

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data. Source: World Bank Group – Enterprise Surveys 2013 Romania.

So far as **insolvency procedures** are concerned, although a number of reforms have been carried out, e.g. to reduce the duration of proceedings and to introduce a procedure for out-of-court workouts, Romania is still regarded as among the least favourable countries in the EU.

Bulgaria

There are 6 areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Bulgaria is less favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017. These include, in particular, 'getting electricity' and 'paying taxes' for which the situation is among the most unfavourable and which is likely to deter investment and hinder growth significantly. 'Resolving insolvency' and 'registering property' are also more problematic than in most other parts of the EU as shown below (Table 6.33). 'Starting a business' and 'enforcing contract' are considered only slightly more difficult than in the EU on average.

Table 6.33 / Business environment indicators in Bulgaria, 2016

	Bulgaria (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	16
Dealing with construction permits	14
Getting electricity	26
Registering property	21
Obtaining credit	6
Protecting minority investors	4
Paying taxes*	24
Enforcing contracts	17
Resolving insolvency	22

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. * Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015.

Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

Figure 6.7 / Bulgaria – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016



Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Bulgaria is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Access to electricity is more problematic in Bulgaria than in the EU on average and there has been virtually no improvement over the past few years (as indicated by the unchanged distance between the country and the best performing countries – see Figure 6.7). There was just one reform measure taken

in this area, though this does not seem to have helped to improve supply. Access to electricity, however, is not seen as a major problem by businesses, a smaller proportion of enterprises identifying this as a major constraint on their activity than in the rest of the EU13, according to the World Bank 2013 survey. While the proportions were larger in three of the five lagging regions, particularly in Severen tsentralen and Severoiztochen, they were still below the EU13 average (Table 6.34).

Table 6.34 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Bulgaria, 2013

Region	Energy (% of firms identifying electricity as a major constraint)	Transport (% of firms identifying transportation as a major constraint)
Severen tsentralen	16.8	11.1
Severoiztochen	16.3	7.9
Severozapaden	2.2	5.2
Yugoiztochen	12.4	2.8
Yuzhen tsentralen	2.9	2.6
Bulgaria	11.8	4.7
EU13*	22.2	14.2

Note: * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data. Source: World Bank Group – Enterprise Surveys 2013 Bulgaria.

Making it easier and less costly to '**pay taxes**' has been at the centre of the reform agenda in Bulgaria. Measures have been taken to introduce an electronic tax paying system and to reduce corporate income tax as well as employers' social security contributions. Nevertheless, Bulgaria is still ranked among the least favourable countries in the EU in this respect (24th of the 28). Paying taxes, however, was not seen as a major constraint on business by most enterprises according to the 2013 survey, the proportion that considered it so being smaller than in the EU13 on average. But the proportion was larger than in the rest of the country in Severen tsentralen, Yugoiztochen and Severoiztochen as regards tax rates and in the two latter as regards tax administration (Table 6.35).

Table 6.35 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as a problem for doing business inBulgaria, 2013

Region	Time (% of senior management time spent dealing with the requirements of government regulation)	Tax rates (% of firms identifying tax rates as a major constraint)	Tax administration (% of firms identifying tax administration as a major constraint)	Licences and permits (% of firms identifying business licensing and permits as a major constraint)	Trade regulation (% of firms identifying customs and trade regulations as a major constraint)
Severen tsentralen	14.9	14.4	10.6	5.3	0.0
Severoiztochen	19.2	17.2	19.8	7.6	12.5
Severozapaden	12.3	8.7	2.3	0.0	2.3
Yugoiztochen	23.9	28.1	20.6	30.7	4.0
Yuzhen tsentralen	7.9	2.9	2.6	0.1	0.0
Bulgaria	16.1	13.0	11.4	11.1	3.1
EU13*	15.5	38.3	22.4	7.6	6.3

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013 Bulgaria.

Although Bulgaria is ranked around the EU average as regards '**dealing with construction permits**', this is largely because the time needed to do so is much shorter than the average (Table 6.36). The cost involved, on the other hand, is almost twice the average in the EU. In addition, obtaining business permits and licences was regarded as more of a problem in Bulgaria than in other parts of the EU13. The perception of enterprises in the lagging regions was, however, more favourable except in Yugoiztochen where nearly a third considered obtaining business licences and permits as a major constraint (Table 6.35).

Table 6.36 / Dealing	with construction	permits indicators	in Bulgaria	i. 2016
		permite maleatere		.,

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Bulgaria	16	105	3.9
EU average	13	169	2.0

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Bulgaria and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Registering property is assessed as being more difficult in Bulgaria than in most other Member States, mainly because of the larger number of procedures required. The cost involved and the time needed are, in fact, less than the EU average (Table 6.37). There was no reduction over the last decade or so with respect to the best performing countries (see Figure 6.7).

Table 6.37 / Registering property indicators in Bulgaria, 2016

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Bulgaria	8	11	2.9
EU average	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Bulgaria, and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

'Resolving insolvency' is also more difficult in Bulgaria than in the majority of the other EU Member states (Bulgaria is ranked 22nd of the 28). Despite being among the three main focus areas of reform in Bulgaria according to the World Bank, it has not become noticeably easier to resolve insolvency (as reflected in the distance to the frontier in this respect remaining wide). (The reforms undertaken involved the adoption of a new civil procedure code in 2008 and the extension of creditor rights with the insolvency proceedings becoming more transparent.)

Table 6.38 / Starting a business indicators in Bulgaria, 2016

Country	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Bulgaria	6.0	23.0	1.3
EU average	5.3	10.4	3.7

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Bulgaria, and World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Over the past decade, **starting a business** in Bulgaria has become easier. A number of reforms were undertaken to rationalise registration procedures and to reduce the minimum capital required (it is now

116

possible to start a business with one euro). Nonetheless, the time needed remains over twice as long as the average in the EU (Table 6.38).

The level of corruption and the size of the informal sector are regarded as much more of an obstacle for doing business in Bulgaria than in other EU13 countries. According to the World Bank survey, nearly a third of enterprises considered this a major problem. The situation is even more problematic in some of the lagging regions – in Severoiztochen but also in Yuzhen tsentralen as regards the informal sector and in Severen tsentralen as regards corruption (Table 6.39).

Table 6.39 / Corruption,	crime and information	al sector as problem	is for doing b	usiness in
Bulgaria, 2013				

Region	Corruption (% of firms identifying corruption as a major constraint)	Crime (% of firms identifying crime, theft and disorder as a major constraint)	Informal sector (% of firms identifying practices of competitors in the informal sector as a major constraint)
Severen tsentralen	11.2	16.1	7.7
Severoiztochen	37.1	10.5	41.7
Severozapaden	12.7	2.3	10.4
Yugoiztochen	16.1	2.6	31
Yuzhen tsentralen	23.3	2.4	53.3
Bulgaria	27.5	8.3	32.9
EU13*	18.5	9.3	19.3

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. * EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013.

Poland

The regulatory environment for businesses in Poland is assessed as being less favourable than in most other EU Member States in 8 of the 9 areas covered (all apart from 'obtaining credit') (Table 6.40). In 6 of these 8 areas, however, the situation is considered only slightly less favourable than average in the EU. The two areas where the situation is regarded as being clearly less favourable are 'starting a business' and 'resolving insolvency'.

Resolving insolvency is much more difficult in Poland than in the majority of other EU Member states. Although no less than 6 reforms have been carried out over the past decade to make insolvency resolving more efficient according to the World Bank and although the distance between the situation in the country and that in the best performing countries has narrowed, there is still a long way to go to close the gap (Figure 6.8). There are no data available to assess the situation in the lagging regions.

Table 6.40 / Business environment indicators in Poland, 2016

	Poland (rank in the EU, 1-28)
Starting a business	24
Dealing with construction permits	15
Getting electricity	17
Registering property	16
Obtaining credit	2
Protecting minority investors	16
Paying taxes*	16
Enforcing contracts	17
Resolving insolvency	24

Note: Values which are in the bottom half of the EU28 ranking are highlighted in grey. A ranking of 1 indicates that the country has the most favourable environment of the EU Member States, 28, the least favourable. * Data for paying taxes indicator cover the period January-December 2015. Source: World Bank: Doing Business Report 2017.

Figure 6.8 / Poland – Distance to the frontier of best performing countries, 2003-2016



Note: The distance to frontier score shows how far on average an economy is from the best performance achieved by any economy on each Doing Business indicator. It is indicated on a scale from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the worst performance and 100 the frontier. The areas in which the regulatory environment for business in Poland is more favourable than the EU average according to the Doing Business Report 2017 are not included in the graph. Source: World Bank Doing Business Dataset.

Poland is regarded as one of the least favourable countries for **starting a business** (it is ranked 24th of 28). The reform measures taken over the past decade (in terms of reducing the minimum capital required) reduced the distance to the frontier as shown above but did not close the gap. In particular, the time and the cost involved in starting a business remain almost three times the EU average. The situation in terms of cost and the number of procedures is the same in the lagging regions as elsewhere in the country, but the time needed is longer in Podkarpackie and Świętokrzyskie (Table 6.41).

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of income per capita)
Lubelskie (Lublin)	4	29	12.9
Podkarpackie (Rzeszów)	4	37	12.9
Świętokrzyskie (Kielce)	4	36	12.9
Podlaskie (Białystok)	4	26	12.9
Warmińsko-Mazurskie (Olsztyn)	4	22	12.9
Poland 2015	4	30	12.9
Poland 2016	4	37	12.1
EU average 2016	5.3	10.4	3.7

Table 6.41 / Starting a business indicators in Poland, 2015 and 2016

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Poland; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Poland, World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Nevertheless, most of the enterprises surveyed by the World Bank in 2013 did not identify business licensing and permits as a major constraint on business activity, although the share of those that did was slightly larger (9%) than the average in the EU13 (7%). It seems, however, to be less of a problem in the lagging regions (Table 6.42).

Table 6.42 / Regulations, taxes, and business licensing as problems for doing business inPoland, 2013

Region	Time (% of senior management time spent dealing with the requirements of government regulation)	Tax rates (% of firms identifying tax rates as a major constraint)	Tax administration (% of firms identifying tax administration as a major constraint)	Licences and permits (% of firms identifying business licensing and permits as a major constraint)	Trade regulation (% of firms identifying customs and trade regulations as a major constraint)
Lubelskie					
Świętokrzyskie	11.9	42.8	15.5	3.0	10.3
Podlaskie	-				
Poland	19.7	37.4	22.7	9.1	7.4
EU13*	15.5	38.3	22.4	7.6	6.3

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Data for Warmińsko-Mazurskie not available.

* EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013 Poland.

Dealing with the government regulations and tax administration are considered as slightly more timeconsuming in Poland than in other EU13 countries. Except for trade regulation, smaller shares of the enterprises surveyed considered these as major constraints on business in lagging regions than in other parts of the country, though a larger share regarded tax rates as a constraint (Table 6.42).

As noted above, **enforcing contracts** is also more difficult in Poland than in the EU on average. Despite the measures taken over the last ten years – such as stricter rules on procedures to increase the speed and efficiency of court proceedings and the appointment of more judges to commercial courts – the proceedings still take much longer than in the rest of the EU (Table 6.43).

Table 6.43 / Enforcing contracts indicators in Poland, 2016

Region (city)	Time (days)	Cost (% of claim)
Poland	685	19.4
EU average	594	22.0
Poland EU average	685 594	19.4 22.0

Note: Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey.

Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 - Poland; World Bank Doing Business 2017 - EU.

Getting electricity is also more difficult in Poland than in the majority of EU Member States. However, between 2012 and 2014, the cost of electricity was reduced by revising the charging structure and by responding more quickly to applications for connections. Access to electricity, however, is not seen as a major constraint by firms. According to the World Bank survey in 2013, there were fewer enterprises in Poland than in the rest of the EU13 which considered it to be so and even fewer in the lagging regions (Table 6.44).

Table 6.44 / Electricity and transport infrastructure as a problem for doing business in Poland, 2013

Region	Energy (% of firms identifying electricity as a major constraint)	Transport (% of firms identifying transportation as a major constraint)	
Lubelskie			
Podkarpackie	6.6	9.3	
Świętokrzyskie	6.9		
Podlaskie			
Poland	13.8	11.2	
EU13*	22.2	14.2	

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Data for Warmińsko-Mazurskie not available.

* EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group - Enterprise Surveys 2013 Poland.

Table 6.45 / Registering property indicators in Poland, 2016

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of property value)
Lubelskie (Lublin)	6	45	0.3
Podkarpackie (Rzeszów)	6	33	0.3
Świętokrzyskie (Kielce)	6	39	0.3
Podlaskie (Białystok)	6	18	0.4
Warmińsko-Mazurskie (Olsztyn)	6	28	0.4
Poland 2015	6	33	0.3
Poland 2016	6	33	0.3
EU average 2016	5	24	4.8

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Poland; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Poland, World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

The situation in Poland with respect to '**property registration**' is only slightly less favourable than in the majority of EU countries (it is ranked 16th of the 28). This is perhaps at least in part because of intense reform activity between 2009 and 2012, which reduced the distance between the situation in the country

and that in the best performing countries (see Figure 6.8). While the time required remains longer than the EU average, the cost involved in registering property is only a small fraction. Lagging regions do not seem to be in a significantly less favourable position, except Lubelskie and Świętokrzyskie where the delays are longer (Table 6.45).

Dealing with construction permits is no more difficult in Poland than in other EU countries on average. The cost and the time involved are less, but only slightly so, as is the number of procedures, which were reduced markedly between 2015 and 2016. The situation is not very different in the lagging regions though in two of them there are more procedures involved, in one it takes longer and in another it costs more than the national average (Table 6.46).

Region (city)	Procedures (number)	Time (days)	Cost (% of warehouse value)
Lubelskie (Lublin)	21	155	0.2
Podkarpackie (Rzeszów)	19	168	0.3
Świętokrzyskie (Kielce)	22	171	0.2
Podlaskie (Białystok)	20	196	0.2
Warmińsko-Mazurskie (Olsztyn)	22	154	0.2
Poland 2015	21	175	0.2
Poland 2016	12	153	0.3
EU average 2016	13	169	2.0

Table 6.46 / Dealing with construction permits indicators in Poland, 2016

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Source: World Bank Doing Business 2017 – Poland; World Bank Doing Business 2015 – Poland, World Bank Doing Business 2017 – EU.

Table 6.47 / Corruption, crime and the informal sector as problems for doing business in Poland and lagging regions, 2013

Region	Corruption (% of firms identifying corruption as a major constraint)	Crime (% of firms identifying crime, theft and disorder as a major constraint)	Informal sector (% of firms identifying practices of competitors in the informal sector as a major constraint)		
Lubelskie					
Podkarpackie	0.0	0.5			
Świętokrzyskie	8.0	3.5	8.7		
Podlaskie					
Poland	13.0	8.2	15.3		
EU13*	18.5	9.3	19.3		

Note: Values higher than the national average are shown in red. Values higher than the EU average are highlighted in grey. Data for Warmińsko-Mazurskie not available.

* EU13 average: own estimation based on World Bank Group data.

Source: World Bank Group – Enterprise Surveys 2013 Poland.

Other factors which might prevent or reduce the likelihood of doing business are **corruption, crime and the extent of the informal sector**. However, according to the 2013 World Bank survey, these are considered less of a problem in Poland than in the other EU13 countries. In addition, in all the NUTS 2 lagging regions covered (four out of the five, Warmińsko-Mazurskie is not covered), these issues are even less of a concern for businesses than in other parts of the country (Table 6.47).

6.3.1. Demography and dynamics of business enterprises

The concern here is to bring out the main differences in business structure and dynamics between lagging regions and others, focusing initially on the country-level differences since data available at regional level are less complete. The analysis concentrates on the tradable goods and services sector which covers production activities in which enterprises are most exposed to international competition and which is most important so far as investment and the potential for growth is concerned. The sector encompasses Manufacturing (Section C of NACE classification Rev. 2), Transportation and storage (Section H), Accommodation and food service activities (Section I), Information and communication (Section J) and Professional, scientific and technical activities (Section M). The sector, as defined, accounts for around 30% of total employment in the EU, though only 22% in Romania, 25% in Greece, 27% in Poland, and 28% in both Spain and Bulgaria (Table 6.48).

EL	25.2	BG	28.5
IT	32.3	HU	33.1
РТ	30.1	PL	26.8
ES	28.4	RO	22.5
Low growth countries	30.1	Low income countries	26.6
EU15	30.7	EU13	29.4
EU28	30.4		

Table 6.48 / Employment share in the tradable sector

As indicated at the outset, the structure of this sector in terms of the balance between smaller and larger firms is likely to have a major effect on its growth potential, in terms not only of the ability of firms to comply with the various regulations which exist but also of their ability to exploit economies of scale and the most advanced technology. While small firms may have a role in helping to extend the frontier of knowledge in this respect, it is likely to require firms of at least a certain size - which will vary according to the sector concerned - to put many new technological advances into practice and to make the most of them. This implies, as also noted above, a balanced structure of enterprises and, in particular, one which is not heavily characterised by small firms, especially very small ones.

6.3.2. The structure of enterprises in the 8 Member States

There were 9.2 million enterprises which were active in the EU in 2014 in the tradable business sector (defined as above). This implies that there were 20.5 enterprises per thousand of population, around 10% more than in 2008, though all of the increase is accounted for by one-person businesses and micro-enterprises (those with less than 10 people employed) (Table 6.49). (It should be noted that, unlike the business demography analysis set out below, it is not possible from the data available to isolate 'employer' businesses (i.e. those that employ people) from one-person businesses which in general do not contribute to a region's growth potential, or at most only to a limited extent.)

The low growth countries in the south of the EU had a higher enterprise density than in the rest of the Union. This, however, is entirely due to the large number of micro-sized enterprises (as well as small ones - those with 10-49 people employed - in Italy and Portugal). Indeed, the density of medium-sized 122

firms (those with 50-249 people employed) and large enterprises (those with 250 or more people employed) is lower in these countries than in other EU Member States.

Hungary and Bulgaria apart, the number of enterprises relative to population is smaller in the low income countries in Central and Eastern Europe than in the rest of the EU. Again this is primarily due to the number of micro-sized and small firms, which in this case is smaller than in the rest of the EU. In Hungary, the number of micro-sized enterprises is close to that in the southern countries and is the reason why the overall number of enterprises is large. This is not the case in Bulgaria, where there are relatively few micro-sized firms, but larger numbers of small and medium-sized enterprises than elsewhere.

In all four low income countries, the density of medium-sized and large enterprises is relatively similar to the EU average, which may be a favourable feature for the capacity of the economies to innovate and to export and, accordingly, to generate growth.

	Number of enterprises per 1,000 population									
Country	Total	Total		oyees	10-49 empl	oyees	50-249 employees		>= 250 employees	
	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014
EL	35.5	30.3	34.4	29.2	0.9	0.9	0.15	0.13	0.02	0.02
IT	28.7	26.9	26.4	25.1	2.0	1.6	0.23	0.20	0.04	0.03
PT	32.3	28.8	30.1	26.8	1.9	1.6	0.32	0.29	0.04	0.04
ES	25.0	21.9	23.1	20.5	1.6	1.2	0.23	0.18	0.04	0.03
Low growth countries	28.2	25.5	26.2	23.9	1.8	1.4	0.23	0.20	0.04	0.03
BG	13.9	17.5	11.9	15.6	1.6	1.6	0.39	0.35	0.06	0.06
HU	26.3	25.4	24.7	23.9	1.2	1.2	0.25	0.25	0.06	0.06
PL	16.7	17.7	15.8	16.8	0.6	0.7	0.22	0.21	0.05	0.05
RO	9.5	9.5	8.2	8.2	1.0	1.0	0.25	0.23	0.06	0.05
Low income countries	15.7	16.5	14.5	15.3	0.9	0.9	0.25	0.23	0.06	0.05
EU28	18.5	20.5	16.8	18.8	1.4	1.4	0.26	0.25	0.05	0.05

Table 6.49 / Business density in the tradable sector

Note: SBS include non-employer firms.

Source: Eurostat, Structural Business Statistics (SBS).

The division of employment between firms of different size tells a similar story. They show, in particular, that the majority of employment in Greece in the tradable goods and services sector is in micro-sized enterprises and a much smaller proportion in large enterprises than the average in the EU (Table 6.50). The latter is also true of the other southern countries where the share of employment in micro-sized firms is also, as in Greece, far larger than in the rest of the EU. Although firms of this size are major providers of employment, it is open to question how far they are important for innovation and competitiveness, the forces underlying growth. Indeed, many of the firms of this size are suppliers to larger enterprises and often dependent on them for technology.

The share of employment in the sector in micro-sized firms is also larger than the EU average in Poland and Hungary, in the former in contrast to the number of firms of this size relative to population, reflecting both the smaller proportion of the population in employment in Poland than elsewhere in the EU and the smaller size of the tradable sector. This is offset, however, by a smaller share of employment in small firms, the share in medium-sized and large firms being similar to the EU average. This is also the case in Hungary. In Bulgaria, on the other hand, there is a larger share of employment in medium-sized firms

which is offset by a much smaller share of employment in large ones. In Romania, the share of tradable sector employment in medium-sized firms is also larger than average, but in this case, so is the share in large firms. Indeed, Romania is the exact opposite to Greece in terms of the division of employment in the tradable sector between different sizes of enterprises.

The size of the tradable sector in terms of employment, however, is much smaller in Romania than in the rest of the EU, as noted above, with less than a quarter of the total in work being employed in it, the proportion showing no increase over the 2008-2014 period. It is relatively small in Poland, as noted above, as it is in Bulgaria, though less so. In Hungary, by contrast, the proportion employed in the sector is larger than in the rest of the EU, though it has declined since 2008.

The size of the sector is larger than the EU average in Italy too and it also diminished in relative size over the 2008-2014 period. In Portugal, it was much the same as the average, while in both Spain and Greece, it was smaller, especially in the latter. Moreover, in both cases, the relatively small size is not a consequence of the crisis, the share of employment in the tradable sector being almost the same in 2014 as in 2008.

	% Employe tradable se	ed in ector	Division of employment by enterprises class size (%)				ze (%)			
Country		Total	0-9 emp	oloyees	10-49 em	nployees	50-249 em	nployees	>= 250 e	mployees
	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014	2008	2014
EL	26.5	26.4	55.7	56.5	16.2	17.4	11.9	13.3	16.2	12.7
IT	34.0	31.8	37.5	39.0	24.7	23.1	15.6	15.6	22.1	22.4
PT	30.7	30.6	35.5	35.2	25.0	23.8	21.3	21.4	18.2	19.6
ES	28.9	28.3	36.1	38.0	23.7	21.2	16.6	16.3	23.6	24.5
Low Growth Countries	31.2	30.0	38.2	39.5	23.8	22.1	16.2	16.2	21.8	22.2
BG	28.1	29.3	19.4	23.6	22.8	23.0	27.6	25.1	30.2	28.3
HU	34.8	32.5	28.1	28.5	17.1	17.4	18.2	18.1	36.6	36.0
PL	27.4	27.2	29.6	30.2	12.1	13.0	21.2	20.6	37.1	36.1
RO	24.0	23.5	16.9	17.6	18.5	19.7	24.0	22.9	40.7	39.8
Low Income Countries	27.5	27.2	25.0	26.2	15.7	16.5	22.2	21.3	37.1	36.1
EU28	30.6	30.8	25.1	25.9	20.3	20.2	19.2	19.0	35.4	34.9

Table 6.50 / Share of employment in the tradable sector and employment by firm size

Note: SBS include non-employer firms.

Source: Eurostat Structural Business Statistics (SBS).

6.3.3. The business demography in the 8 Member States

The creation, or birth, of new enterprises (in this case 'employer' enterprises only) can to some extent be taken as an indicator of the dynamism of the business environment in a country, though the view cannot be pushed too far since there are other factors at work as well, so that there is no simple relationship between growth and the rate of birth of firms.

Among the four EU15 countries, the birth rate of enterprises in the tradable sector relative to population was higher in Spain and Portugal in 2014 than the average in the EU (Table 6.51). On the other hand, in Italy, the rate was below the EU average (there are no data for Greece) and it had declined over the preceding three years, whereas in Spain, it had increased. On the other hand, employment in newly

created enterprises in relation to total employment in Italy was in line with the average in the EU, implying that the average size of the firms created was slightly larger than the average.

Enterprise birth rates show marked differences between the four low income countries. The rate is over twice the EU average in Hungary but the average size of the newly created enterprises is much smaller as indicated by the smaller employment share in these. In Bulgaria and Romania the birth rates are close to the EU average but the employment share in newly created enterprises is larger. In Poland the birth rate of enterprises is far below EU average but the employment share in the newly created businesses was larger implying that their average size was also larger than average.

Table 6.51 / Enterp	prises birth rate a	and employment ir	 the tradable sector
---------------------	---------------------	-------------------	---

	Number of enterpr popu	ise births per 1,000 lation	Employ	ed per birth
	2011	2014	2011	2014
IT	1.0	0.9	2.7	2.8
ES	1.3	1.5	2.9	2.9
PT		1.5		2.8
Low growth countries	1.2	1.2	2.8	2.9
BG	1.3	1.5	3.2	3.1
HU	2.4	3.2	2.4	2.2
PL*		0.9		3.4
RO	0.8	1.2	4.2	3.4
Low income countries	1.3	1.8	3.1	2.8
EU (excl. IE, EL, FR, CY, RO)		1.2		2.8

Note: * Data for Poland refer to 2013. No data for Greece. Data for Portugal only for 2011. Source: Eurostat, Employer Business Demography statistics for the tradable goods and services sector.

Table 6.52 / High-growth enterprises (growth in employment of 10% or more) in the tradable sector, 2012-2014

Country	Number of high-growth enterprises per 1,000 population average 2012-2014	Employed in high-growth enterprises as % total employment average 2012-2014
IT	0.11	6.1
ES	0.11	7.3
PT	0.16	9.0
Low growth countries	0.11	6.9
BG	0.21	14.6
HU	0.18	14.4
PL	0.12	11.5
RO	0.04	5.6
Low income countries	0.11	10.8
EU27 (EL not covered)	0.16	10.2

Note: No data for Greece.

Source: Eurostat Business Demography statistics.

The relative number of high-growth enterprises provides a further insight into the dynamism of the business environment, especially if the focus is confined to the tradable sector. A relatively high rate, therefore, at least indicates that the environment is conducive to growth, though there are other factors at work – the macroeconomic context, in particular – which can offset any favourable effect that the

business environment might have. Over the 2012-2014 period, the number of high-growth firms relative to population was much smaller than in the EU as a whole in both Italy and Spain among the low growth countries but much the same in Portugal (Table 6.52). The share of employment in high-growth firms shows a similar pattern, though in this case, the share is smaller than the EU average in Portugal as well as the other two countries, indicating that the relative size of the firms concerned was smaller than in other countries.

Among the low income countries, the number of high-growth enterprises relative to population was larger than in the rest of the EU in both Bulgaria and Hungary but much smaller in Poland and Romania, especially the latter. The share of employment in these enterprises was also above the EU average in the first two countries and well below average in Romania. In Poland, however, the share of employment was larger than average rather than smaller as in the case of the number of firms relative to population. This implies that the high growth firms in Poland were larger in employment size (as, noted above, were the new firms created) than in the rest of the EU instead of being smaller as in Portugal.

6.3.4. Business demography in the lagging regions

Employer business demography statistics are not available at the regional level for Greece, as in the case of national-level data, or for Poland. For Portugal the only data available are for 2014.

In all three southern EU15 countries for which data are available, lagging regions have a lower density of enterprises than other regions, although in Spain and Portugal it is higher than the EU average (Table 6.53). The average employment size of enterprises in the tradable sector is much smaller in the lagging regions than in the non-lagging ones in all three countries (Figure 6.10). In the lagging regions in Italy and Spain, it is only around half the EU average. Consequently, the employment concentration in the tradable sector is much lower in the lagging regions than in non-lagging ones and in Italy it is only slightly more than half of this (Figure 6.11). Only in Portugal is the employment concentration in the tradable sector in the lagging regions close to the EU average.

In the lagging regions in the four EU13 countries, the density of enterprises is also lower than in other regions in the countries. In this case, however, the density is significantly lower than the EU average, except in Hungary where the number of small enterprises is proportionally larger than in the other countries.

Enterprise density is overall lowest in the lagging regions in Romania where it is only half the average in the non-lagging one. While the average size of enterprises in the lagging regions is smaller than in the non-lagging ones as in the EU15 countries, the difference is less marked. In Hungary, the average size is smallest because of the larger number of small enterprises but this is also the case in the other regions of the country.

The share of employment in the tradable sector was smallest in the lagging regions in Romania where it accounted for less than 20% of total employment. In Bulgaria and Hungary, the share was much the same as the EU average, but smaller than in the rest of the country.

Table 6.53 / Enterprise density and employment

Country	Density		Employe	d in tradable	Employment ner	
	Total no. of e	enterprises	Employe	% of the total	Employi	nent per
	per 1,000 population		300101 43		enterprise	
	2011	2014	2011	2014	2011	2014
IT	12.6	12.0	33.4	33.0	11.0	11.0
lagging regions IT	9.5	9.4	19.8	19.6	6.9	6.6
non-lagging regions IT	14.3	13.4	38.7	38.0	12.4	12.6
ES	13.8	14.1	31.4	33.3	9.3	9.1
lagging regions ES	11.9	12.0	21.4	22.6	6.2	6.1
non-lagging regions ES	14.6	14.9	34.4	36.6	10.2	10.1
РТ		14.2		33.7		10.3
lagging regions PT		13.8		29.8		9.1
non-lagging regions PT		15.1		41.3		12.5
IT, ES, PT	13.1	13.0	32.5	33.2	10.2	10.1
lagging regions	10.4	11.0	20.4	22.7	6.6	7.0
non-lagging regions	14.4	14.1	36.8	37.5.	11.4	11.4
BG	10.9	11.7	32.8	33.8	14.5	13.8
lagging regions BG	9.0	9.6	29.3	30.1	14.2	13.7
non-lagging regions BG	15.4	16.7	39.1	40.6	15.0	14.0
RO	8.1	8.3	26.9	28.4	14.9	14.8
lagging regions RO	6.2	6.6	18.3	19.7	13.2	13.0
non-lagging regions RO	12.3	12.0	45.6	46.6	16.8	16.9
HU	16.8	17.9	37.8	38.9	9.1	8.9
lagging regions HU	11.5	12.1	32.5	32.6	8.7	8.4
non-lagging regions HU	21.8	23.5	41.0	42.6	9.2	9.2
PL*		7.0		27.6		15.8
BG, RO, HU	11.0	11.5	30.8	32.2	12.4	12.2
lagging regions	7.9	8.4	23.0	24.2	12.1	11.8
non-lagging regions	16.3	17.0	43.6	44.9	12.9	12.6
EU (excl. IE, EL, FR, CY, RO)		11.0		30.5		12.6

* Data for Poland refer to 2013 only.

Note: No data for Greece and for Poland at regional level.

Source: Eurostat, Employer Business Demography statistics for the tradable goods and service sector.

Figure 6.9 / Enterprise density, 2014

(number of enterprises per 1,000 inhabitants)





Figure 6.10 / Average employment size of enterprises in the tradable sector, 2014

Figure 6.11 / Employment concentration in the tradable sector, 2014

6.3.5. Enterprise birth rates

The birth of new enterprises is a key indicator of the dynamism of the business environment as noted above. It reflects not only the extent of entrepreneurial spirit in the economy concerned but also the extent to which the regulatory system makes it easy or otherwise to start a business.

Table 6.54 shows the rate of enterprise births in the lagging regions in relation to population and the number of employees in newly created enterprises both in comparison with the national and EU averages. Among the southern EU15 countries, enterprise births are lowest in the lagging regions of Italy and the employment per newly created enterprise is smallest (Figure 6.12, Figure 6.13). While the enterprise births in the other regions of the countries are equally low, the employment created by enterprise births is a third higher than in the lagging regions. In Spain and Portugal there is not much difference in the enterprise births rate between the lagging regions and the others; in both it is close to the EU average.

The difference in the enterprise birth rates between lagging and non-lagging regions is more marked in the three EU13 countries for which data at regional level are available. It is overall highest in Hungary where the birth rate of enterprises in the lagging regions is nearly twice the EU average but just half of that in the other regions. The new enterprises are however much smaller than the EU average in both, the lagging and non-lagging regions. They are also smaller than in the lagging regions in Romania and Bulgaria.

Country	ry Number of enterprise births per 1,000 population		Employed	l per birth
	2011	2014	2011	2014
IT	1.0	0.9	2.7	2.8
lagging regions IT	1.0	1.0	2.2	2.3
non-lagging regions IT	1.1	0.9	2.9	3.1
ES	1.3	1.5	2.9	2.9
lagging regions ES	1.2	1.4	3.0	2.9
non-lagging regions ES	1.4	1.5	2.9	2.9
PT		1.5		2.8
lagging regions PT		1.4		2.9
non-lagging regions PT		1.7		2.6
IT, ES, PT	1.2	1.2	2.8	2.9
lagging regions	1.1	1.2	2.6	2.7
non-lagging regions	1.2	1.2	2.9	3.0
BG	1.3	1.5	3.2	3.1
lagging regions BG	1.0	1.2	3.3	3.1
non-lagging regions BG	2.0	2.3	3.1	3.1
RO	0.8	1.2	4.2	3.4
lagging regions RO	0.6	1.0	4.1	3.1
non-lagging regions RO	1.1	1.7	4.5	3.7
HU	2.4	3.2	2.4	2.2
lagging regions HU	1.5	2.2	2.1	2.0
non-lagging regions HU	3.2	4.2	2.5	2.3
Poland*		0.9		3.4
BG, RO, HU	1.3	1.8	3.1	2.8
lagging regions	0.9	1.3	3.2	2.7
non-lagging regions	2.1	2.8	3.1	2.8
EU (excl. IE, EL, FR, CY, RO)		1.3		2.8

Table 6.54 / Enterprise birth rate and employment in new enterprises

Note: * Data for Poland refers to 2013. No data for Greece and no regional data for Poland. Source: Eurostat, Employer Business Demography statistics for the tradable goods and service sector.



Table 6.55 shows the enterprise 'churn' rates, measured by the sum of birth and death rates relative to the total number of enterprises. The latter to some extent reflects the competitive nature of the regional economy (it is used in the literature as an indicator of the rate of what Schumpeter' called 'creative destruction').

Country	Churn rate (birth rate + death rate)			
	2011	2013		
IT	16.2	15.6		
lagging regions IT	20.3	19.4		
non-lagging regions IT	14.7	14.3		
ES	19.1	21.8		
lagging regions ES	20.6	24.0		
non-lagging regions ES	18.6	21.1		
PT		21.2		
lagging regions PT		20.9		
non-lagging regions PT		21.7		
IT, ES, PT	17.5	18.8		
lagging regions	20.5	21.3		
non-lagging regions	16.5	17.7		
BG	24.2	20.5		
lagging regions BG	23.3	20.0		
non-lagging regions BG	25.5	21.3		
RO*	15.9	21.7		
lagging regions RO*	16.4	21.6		
non-lagging regions RO*	15.3	21.8		
HU	29.0	26.2		
lagging regions HU	28.1	25.2		
non-lagging regions HU	29.4	26.8		
Poland		25.6		
BG, RO, HU	22.8	24.3		
lagging regions	21.6	22.7		
non-lagging regions	23.9	25.5		
EU (excl. IE, EL, FR, CY, RO)		20.1		

Table 6.55 / Churn rate in the lagging regions (% total enterprises)

Note: * Data for Romania refer to 2011 and 2012.

Source: Eurostat, Employer Business Demography statistics for the tradable goods and services sector.

Figure 6.14 / Churn rate

(birth rate + death rate, % total enterprises, 2013)



Source and Note: See Table 6.55.
	Enterprises		Enterprise births					
Country	per 1,00	00 popn.	per 1,0	00 popn	Chur	n rate	Employee	d per birth
	2011	2014	2011	2014	2011	2013	2011	2014
Low growth regions								
Italy	12.6	12.0	1.0	0.9	16.2	15.6	2.7	2.8
ITF1 – Abruzzo	13.1	12.5	1.4	1.2	19.3	18.5	2.4	2.8
ITF2 – Molise	10.4	10.3	1.2	1.1	21.2	21.4	1.9	2.0
ITF3 - Campania	8.9	9.1	1.0	1.1	21.0	20.1	2.4	2.6
ITF4 – Puglia	10.1	10.1	1.1	1.0	19.4	18.3	2.4	2.2
ITF5 - Basilicata	9.6	9.5	1.0	0.9	19.8	18.5	2.1	2.2
ITF6 - Calabria	8.6	8.4	1.0	1.0	22.3	21.1	2.0	1.8
ITG1 – Sicilia	8.5	8.3	0.9	0.9	20.4	19.8	2.1	2.1
ITG2 - Sardegna	11.2	10.5	1.1	1.0	19.2	18.4	2.1	2.1
Spain	13.8	14.1	1.3	1.5	19.1	21.8	2.9	2.9
ES42 - Castilla-la Mancha	12.4	12.6	1.0	1.4	17.8	21.4	2.9	2.9
ES43 - Extremadura	10.3	11.1	1.0	1.3	19.0	24.9	2.8	2.9
ES61 - Andalucía	11.9	11.9	1.3	1.4	21.6	24.8	3.0	3.0
ES62 - Región de Murcia	12.8	12.7	1.2	1.2	20.4	22.9	3.1	3.0
Portugal		14.2		1.5		21.2		2.8
PT11 – Norte		14.2		1.5		21.1		3.3
PT15 - Algarve		17.0		1.9		22.3		2.7
PT16 - Centro (PT)		13.1		1.2		19.8		2.6
PT18 - Alentejo		11.6		1.2		21.7		2.4
Low income regions								
Bulgaria	10.9	11.7	1.3	1.5	24.2	20.5	3.2	3.1
BG31 - Severozapaden	6.5	7.0	0.7	0.8	21.8	19.1	3.6	3.2
BG32 - Severen tsentralen	8.3	8.9	0.9	1.1	21.3	19.7	3.9	3.5
BG33 - Severoiztochen	9.8	10.3	1.2	1.3	26.0	22.1	3.3	2.9
BG34 - Yuqoiztochen	9.8	10.4	1.3	1.3	25.3	20.7	2.9	2.7
BG42 - Yuzhen tsentralen	9.7	10.3	1.0	1.2	21.4	18.5	3.3	3.5
Romania	8.1	8.3	0.8	1.2	15.9	21.7*	4.2	3.4
RO11 - Nord-Vest	9.8	10.3	1.0	1.6	16.4	23.7*	4.0	3.0
RO21 - Nord-Est	4.9	5.2	0.5	0.8	15.7	23.6*	3.7	2.8
RO22 - Sud-Est	67	7 1	0.7	10	16.9	23.9*	3.9	3.5
RO31 - Sud – Muntenia	5.1	53	0.6	0.8	16.3	23.5*	4.6	3.4
RO41 - Sud-Vest Oltenia	5.2	53	0.5	0.8	16.8	26.1*	42	2.6
Poland*	0.2	7.0	0.0	0.9		25.6		3.4
Hungary	16.8	17.9	2.4	3.2	29.0	26.2	2.4	2.2
HI 123 - Dél-Dunántúl	12.9	13.8	17	2.6	28.8	26.1	1 9	2.0
HU31 - Észak-Magyarország	9.6	10.0	13	1 9	28.9	27.0	2.6	2.0
HI 132 - Észak-Alföld	10.8	11.2	1.5	2.0	28.4	24.5	2.0	2.0
HU33 - Dél-Alföld	13.0	13.9	1.5	23	26.7	24.0	2.0	20
EU (excl. IE, EL, FR, CY, RO)		10.8		1.3		19.9		2.8

Table 6.56 / Number of enterprises, number of enterprise births, churn rate of enterprises and average size of enterprises, 2011 and 2014 (2013 for churn rate)

Note: * Data for Poland refer to 2013. Churn rates for Romania refer to 2012. No regional data for Greece and for Poland. Churn rate = births plus deaths relative to total number of enterprises. Shaded figures indicate instances where the rate is above the national average.

Source: Eurostat, Employer Business Demography statistics for the tradable goods and service sector.

Table 6.56 summarises the information on business demography in all the lagging regions. Since there are no employer business demography data at the regional level for Poland, Table 6.57 compares the situation for all enterprises (i.e. including the firms with no employees) in the lagging regions with the national average, which is likely to be indicative of the relative situation for Employer businesses.

Country	Enterprises per 1,000 popn. (average 2010-14)	Enterprise births per 1,000 popn. (2010)	Churn rate (2010)
Poland	60.6	7.5	24.7
PL31 – Lubelskie	45.2	6.9	25.1
PL32 – Podkarpackie	41.5	6.0	23.9
PL33 – Swietokrzyskie	47.5	6.8	25.4
PL34 – Podlaskie	46.4	6.5	23.7
PL62 - Warminsko-Mazurskie	49.0	7.3	26.0
Low income regions	34.7	4.0	22.5
EU13	60.8	7.4	23.7
EU28 (without EL)	59.8	5.8	18.5

Table 6.57 / Business demography in Poland

Source: Eurostat, Business demography statistics - non-employer enterprises included.

The main features suggested by the data in Table 6.55, Table 6.56 and Table 6.57 are summarised for each country below and are linked to the challenges in the business environment identified and set out at the beginning of the section and the reforms carried out.

6.3.6. Country-specific summaries and conclusions

Low growth regions

Italy

The Italian lagging regions have on average a much lower enterprise density in the tradable sector than the other regions and a smaller employment share in these reflecting a relative 'underdevelopment' of the tradable sector in the economy in these regions. They also have a much smaller average size of enterprises which is only half of that in the other Italian regions. Since the size distribution of enterprises matters for economic growth as noted at the outset, the 'overrepresentation' of small firms in the lagging regions is likely to be an obstacle to growth.

Enterprise births relative to population in the lagging regions were not very different in the period 2011-2014 than in the rest of the country – in both, the lagging and non-lagging regions they are much below the EU average. The low enterprise birth rate in Italy as a whole might be related to the unfavourable position of the country with respect to the ease of starting a business. As noted, it takes longer in Italy than in most other EU countries to start a business and there are more procedures required. The cost involved is four times higher than the EU average. In a number of the lagging regions, in particular, Campania, Molise and Sardegna, the situation is even more problematic. It is also noteworthy that that newly created businesses in the lagging regions are much smaller than elsewhere in the country.

At the same time, the churn rate of enterprises was higher in lagging regions taken together than in the rest of the country and close to the EU average. It was higher in Molise, Campania, Sicilia and Calabria, though this is because of higher death rates.

Overall, the Italian economy seems to be burdened not only by the high cost of starting a business but also by an ineffective and time-consuming judicial system especially with respect to contract enforcement – which takes twice as long as the EU average and even longer in the lagging regions – and the difficulties posed by tax administration. In addition, business creation and development might be hindered as well by the long time it takes to comply with building regulation and the high cost involved. The situation in the lagging regions in many of these areas is more problematic than in Italy as a whole.

Spain

In Spain, the density of enterprises in the tradable sector relative to population was lower in the lagging regions than in others, though it was above the EU average. The average size of enterprises was also smaller in lagging regions, a third less on average than that in other regions. Since the size distribution of enterprises may affect the ability of enterprises to innovate and export, the relatively small share of medium and large enterprises may limit the potential for growth in the Spanish lagging regions.

In addition, the rate of birth of enterprises relative to population was slightly lower in lagging regions than in others, but slightly above the EU average. There was, however, a difference between the regions concerned, with a lower birth rate in Murcia especially.

The relative high enterprise birth rate in Spain as compared with the EU average might in part be a result of many reforms introduced over the past decade to make it easier to start a business. Nevertheless, according to the Doing Business Report 2017, the regulatory business environment in Spain remains less favourable than in the rest of the EU. Starting a business requires more time and more capital. In Murcia, Extremadura and Castilla-La Mancha the situation was even less favourable, as the number of procedures involved and the time needed were more than in the rest of the country.

The relatively high churn rate in three out of four lagging regions (Andalucía, Murcia and Extremadura) and the high death rate in Andalucía and Murcia reflect the difficulties that firms have in surviving perhaps more than in a highly competitive economy.

Obtaining electricity supply and registering property remains more expensive in Spain than in the rest of the EU and even more so in the lagging regions, which could further inhibit the development and growth of the business sector.

Portugal

As in Spain, lagging regions in Portugal had a lower density of enterprises in the tradable sector than others, though it is much higher than the EU average. At the same time, the average size of firms in these regions is much smaller than the EU average and slightly smaller than in the rest of the country. Although the average size is bigger than in Italy or Spain, the concentration of employment in small firms and the relative small share in medium-sized and large ones could be an obstacle to innovation and growth.

In 2014, the birth rate of enterprises relative to population was much the same in lagging regions as in the rest of the country and slightly higher than the EU average. The relatively high rate might be a

consequence of the reforms adopted in the last 10 years, which have made Portugal one of the easiest and least costly countries in the EU in which to start a business (according to the Doing Business Report).

There are differences, however, between regions. In both Alentejo and Centro, the business environment seems less favourable than in the other two lagging regions (Norte and Algarve) and the enterprise birth rates are below the national and the EU average. In both Norte and Algarve, a higher birth rate is accompanied by a lower death rate, indicating a business environment more conducive to enterprise growth and development.

On the other hand, although data at regional level are not available, there are problems as regards paying taxes, obtaining credit and protecting minority shareholders. Although a number of reforms have been undertaken with regard to the first, the time involved remains around 40% longer than the EU average.

Greece

Overall, Greece has a very high density of businesses, though this was reduced considerably between 2008 and 2014 as a result of the economic crisis. Most of the enterprises, however, are micro-sized and there are many fewer medium-sized and large enterprises relative to population than elsewhere in the EU. The majority of employment in the tradable sector, therefore, was concentrated in very small firms, which is likely to limit the potential for growth.

'Starting a business' has been one of the main focus areas of reforms in Greece over the past decade. As a result, it is only slightly more difficult to start a business here than everywhere in Europe and the cost involved and the number of procedures are below the EU average, though the time needed is still longer.

On the other hand, registering property and enforcing contracts is more difficult than in the rest of the EU. The number of procedures needed in respect of the first is double the EU average; while the time need for the second is twice as long as average, both potentially limiting the development of existing businesses.

Low income regions

Bulgaria

The density of enterprises in the tradable sector in lagging regions in Bulgaria is lower than in the capital city region (the non-lagging one), though only slightly lower than the EU average. The tradable sector in these regions, while smaller in terms of employment than in the capital city region is, however, much the same as in the EU on average. Accordingly, the lagging regions do not seem to be at a disadvantage in this respect. Nor do they seem to be disadvantaged in terms of the size distribution of enterprises since the average size of companies is much the same as in the capital city region.

The birth rate of enterprises in the tradable sector is, however, much lower in the lagging regions though higher than the EU average, which, accordingly, does not seem to be affected by the relative difficulty of starting a business.

The business environment in which Bulgarian firms operate, however, is in many respects less favourable than in most other EU countries and this is particularly so in the lagging regions. This is especially the case as regards obtaining electricity supply, an area where virtually no improvements have been made over the past few years and which seems to be a major constraint on business development in Severen tsentralen and Severoiztochen, especially. Enterprises also point to the problems caused by the complicated tax administration system, despite the measures taken over the past few years to pay taxes. 'Obtaining construction permits' is much more costly and time-consuming than elsewhere as is 'registering property' and 'resolving insolvency', while the level of corruption and the influence of the informal sector are considered much more of an obstacle for doing business than in other EU13 countries.

Romania

The density of enterprises in the tradable sector in lagging regions in Romania is the lowest among the 8 countries covered by the study. It is only half of that in the non-lagging regions and much lower than the EU average. On the other hand, there is no marked difference between lagging and non-lagging regions in the average size of enterprises. Nevertheless, the size of the tradable sector in terms of the share of employment is only a third of the national and EU averages, which is likely to constrain the development of lagging regions.

The relative under-development of the tradable sector can be related to the very low birth rate of enterprises. Enterprise births per 1,000 population in lagging regions are (with those in Italy) the lowest in the 8 countries analysed. The lowest rates are in Sud-Munenia Nord-Est and Sud-Vest Oltenia which have also lowest density of enterprises.

The rate of creation of new enterprises, however, does not seem to result from particularly cumbersome business start-up regulations (Romania is ranked around the EU average in this regard) but it could be a reflection in part of the difficulty in lagging regions to obtain business permits and licences, which is regarded as a major constraint on business activity by a relatively large proportion of enterprises, especially in Nord-Vest and the three lagging regions in the south of the country (Sud–Muntenia, Sud-Est and Sud-Vest Oltenia).

The extent of corruption, crime and the informal sector is also likely to limit development. The World Bank survey in 2013 indicates that over twice as many enterprises than the EU13 average considered corruption and crime as major constraints on business, while a third regarded practices of competitors in the informal sector in a similar way. In three of the lagging regions, Sud-Est, Sud–Muntenia and Sud-Vest Oltenia, crime and corruption was seen as more of a problem than elsewhere in the country, while this was the case with regard to the influence of the informal sector in Nord-Vest as well as Sud-Muntenia and Sud-Muntenia and Sud-Vest Oltenia, crime and Sud-Vest Oltenia,

In addition, the time and costs involved in getting electricity, obtaining construction permits and resolving insolvency is more in Romania than in most of the other EU countries and even more so in lagging regions.

Poland¹⁷

The density of enterprises in the tradable sector in Poland was the lowest among the low income countries covered and much lower than the EU average. At regional level, enterprise density in lagging regions seems to be much lower than in non-lagging ones, particularly in Podkarpackie, though the latest data relate to 2010 and cover all of the business sector rather than only the tradable sector. This may serve to limit growth potential in these regions.

The birth rate of enterprises relative to population in the tradable sector is also lower in Poland than the EU average, which suggests that the business environment is less conducive to business growth than in other parts of the EU. (The data for 2010 also suggest that the birth rate was even lower in lagging regions, especially in in Podkarpackie and Podlaskie.) Starting a business seems to be more difficult than in most other EU countries, though no more so in lagging regions than elsewhere, except for Podkarpackie and Świętokrzyskie, where it takes longer than in the rest of the country.

A further factor with a potentially adverse effect on growth is the difficulty of resolving insolvency, which despite this being a focus of reforms and notwithstanding the narrowing of the gap with the situation in the most favourable EU countries in this respect, remains more of a problem in Poland than in most other EU countries. Unfortunately, there are no data available to assess the situation in the lagging regions specifically.

Hungary

The lagging regions in Hungary have a lower density of enterprises in the tradable sector than the nonlagging ones, though this is still higher than the average in the EU (markedly so in Dél-Alföld and Dél-Dunántúl). Similarly, the tradable sector is smaller in the lagging regions than in the non-lagging regions in terms of its share of employment, but again larger than the EU average. The average size of enterprises in the tradable sector, however, is smaller than in non-lagging ones and significantly smaller than the EU average, which could limit growth potential.

While the birth rate of firm in relation to population is lower in lagging regions than in non-lagging ones, it is higher than the EU average. At the same time, the average size of newly created enterprises is much smaller than in the rest of Hungary or elsewhere in the EU, which again could adversely affect growth potential.

As in most of the 8 countries covered by the study, it is more difficult in Hungary to start a business than in the majority of other EU countries and this is even more the case in lagging regions. This applies equally to obtaining business permits and licences and construction permits, securing creditor rights and

¹⁷ Data on regional basis for Poland come from the business demography statistics and refer to 2010 only, therefore, they allow for comparison on the national basis only.

paying taxes as well as getting connected to electricity supply, all of which are likely to hinder the development and growth of businesses.

6.3.7. Cross-country/region summary and conclusion

There is evidence that both the density of enterprises and their average size differ in lagging regions from those in others in most of the countries examined and that this adversely affects their growth potential. In all 8 countries, there are fewer enterprises in the tradable sector (which is of key importance for growth) in relation to population in lagging regions and they tend to be smaller in size, which might reflect the greater obstacles and costs which exist to both starting a business and operating one.

Across the low growth countries (excluding Greece for which there are no data), the difference between lagging and other regions was less pronounced than in low income countries. In Italy, where the difference was widest, enterprise density in the tradable sector in lagging regions was around 30% less than in the rest of the country, while, in the low income countries, in Romania and Hungary, it was close to 50% less.

On the other hand, the average size of enterprises in the tradable sector in lagging regions in low income countries was not much smaller than in other regions, whereas in low growth countries, it was substantially smaller. In Italy, it was only around half that in other regions and in Spain, only around 60%, while in Portugal, though the difference was less, firms on average were still only just over 70% of the size in the other regions in the country. This reflects the larger number of enterprises that are microsized or small in the lagging regions, which in the tradable sector is likely to put them at a significant disadvantage in terms of their growth potential.

In line with the evidence on the density of enterprises, the birth rate of firms in the tradable sector is not much lower in lagging regions in the low growth countries than elsewhere, at least in Spain and Portugal. In lagging regions in low income countries, however, the enterprise birth rate was substantially lower than in other regions, only just over half the rate in the latter in Bulgaria and Hungary.

The relatively small difference in the enterprise birth rate between lagging and other regions in the low growth countries, in particular, in Spain and Portugal, might reflect the effect of the reforms that have been implemented over the past 10 years or so to make it easier to do business and to reduce the obstacles to business creation. In Italy, on the other hand, where reforms have been less marked, the birth rate of enterprises is not only lower in lagging regions than elsewhere in the country but it is also well below the EU average.

In low income countries, on the contrary, where significant differences are evident between lagging and other regions in both the birth rate of enterprises and their density, major reforms have been implemented over the past decade to reduce the obstacles to starting a business as well as to operating one. These seem to have helped to improve the overall business environment in all regions, lagging and non-lagging alike, and this is reflected in an increase in both the enterprise birth rate and enterprise density over recent years. The large differences which remain between regions, however, suggests that the business environment in lagging regions continues to be less favourable than in others and that more needs to be done to close the gap.

7. Annexes

7.1. ANNEX A: CLASSIFICATION OF POLICIES IN THE LABREF DATABASE

The database covers 52 labour market and welfare policy fields, which are grouped in 9 broad policy domains as follows:

1. Active labour market programmes:

- > Public Employment Services (job assistance, job counselling etc.)
- > Training
- > Direct job creation and employment subsidies
- > Employment subsidies
- > Special schemes for the disabled
- Special schemes for youth
- > Active labour market policies Other

2. Early withdrawal

- > Early retirement
- Disability schemes

3. Immigration and mobility

- > Immigration
 - Immigration control
 - Selective immigration policies
 - Measure to facilitate labour market integration of immigrants
- > Mobility
 - Internal mobility
 - Mobility Other

4. Job protection

- > Permanent contracts
 - Procedural requirements
 - Notice and severance payments
 - Definition of fair dismissal
 - Permanent contracts Other

- > Temporary contracts
 - Maximum number of renewals of fixed-term contracts
 - Maximum duration of fixed-term contracts
 - Temporary agency work
 - Definition of valid reasons for fixed-term contracts
 - Temporary contracts Other
- > Collective dismissals
 - Collective dismissals

5. Labour taxation

- > Employers' social security contributions
- > Employees' social security contributions
- > Social security contributions of the self-employed
- > Income tax
- > Labour taxation Other

6. Other welfare-related benefits

- > Short-time working schemes
- > In-work benefits (employment conditional benefit or tax credit)
- > Social assistance (housing, means-tested benefits)
- > Sickness schemes
- > Family-related benefits

7. Unemployment benefits

- > Net replacement rate
- > Duration of unemployment benefits
- > Coverage and eligibility
- > Search and job availability requirements
- > Unemployment benefits Other

8. Wage setting

- Statutory minima (only derogations from existing rules and practice or changes in minimum wage setting modalities)
- > Social pacts, bipartite or tripartite framework agreements on wage setting
- > Regulation by the government of the wage bargaining framework (e.g. extension of collective agreements, representativeness of social partners, etc.)
- Public wages (only derogations from existing rules and practice affecting large parts of the public sector or changes in wage setting modalities in substantial shares in general government or SOEs)
- > Wage setting Other

9. Working time

- > Working hours management
- Part-time work
- > Family-related working-time organisation
- > Sabbatical and other special leave schemes
- Working time Other

7.2. ANNEX B: DEFINITION OF REFORM DIRECTIONS

Labour taxation: Those measures that raise the tax burden on labour are called 'Increasing measures'. 'Decreasing measures' reduce the burden.

Unemployment benefits: 'Increasing measures' are those which increase the generosity of unemployment benefits (i.e. replacement rates, duration, coverage) or which relax entitlement conditions. 'Decreasing measures' have the opposite effect.

Other welfare-related benefits: 'Increasing measures' are those which increase the generosity of benefits or which relax entitlement conditions. 'Decreasing measures' reduce the generosity of benefits or tighten entitlement conditions.

Active labour market programmes: 'Expanding measures increase the availability, generosity, or effectiveness of ALMPs. 'Contracting measures' aim at the opposite.

Job protection (EPL): 'Strengthening measures' increase protection against job dismissals (strengthening procedural requirements, increasing notice and severance payments, strengthening the definition of fair dismissal, or restricting the conditions for the use of temporary contracts and temporary agency work), increase rights of workers and improve working conditions. 'Weakening measures' do the opposite.

Early withdrawal schemes: 'Easing measures' increase the generosity of early withdrawal schemes (early retirement or disability benefits) or ease eligibility conditions. 'Tightening measures' do the opposite.

Wage setting: Measures, legislation or agreements that tighten the framework conditions for wage setting on the part of employers are likely to produce upward pressures on wages and are therefore called 'Increasing measures'. Relaxing conditions on the part of employers to set wages are likely to limit wage increases and are therefore called 'Moderating measures'.

Working time regulation: Measures tightening regulatory requirements on working time, increasing rights and conditions of part-time workers, tightening availability of or access to childcare, increasing generosity or duration of parental/paternity/maternity leaves, or increasing access to sabbatical or educational leaves are likely to result in reduced working time and are therefore called 'Reducing measures'.

140

Immigration and mobility: Measures tightening regulatory restrictions on migration or reducing support to mobility are likely to result in less immigration and mobility and are therefore called 'Tightening measures'. 'Easing measures' relax regulatory restrictions and increase support to mobility.

7.3. ANNEX C: SPECIFICATIONS UNDERLYING THE PARTIAL CORRELATION ANALYSIS AND THE RESULTS FROM OLS REGRESSIONS

Table A 1 / Employment

Specification: Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of employment = f (number of LMP reform measures per kind in 2000-2014 period, Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GVA, GVA per person employed in 2000, Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GFCF, GFCF in GVA in 2000).

Annual average growth r	ate (2000-14) of Employment	Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t
Contracting ALMP measur	es	0.19	0.06	3.08	0.00
Expanding ALMP measure	es	0.02	0.01	2.55	0.01
Easing Early withdrawal m	easures	0.05	0.03	1.78	0.08
Tightening Early withdrawa	al measures	0.00	0.03	0.15	0.88
Relaxing Immigration/Mob	ility measures	0.01	0.02	0.23	0.82
Tightening Immigration/Mc	bility measures	0.09	0.03	2.82	0.01
Relaxing Job Protection (E	PL)	-0.01	0.01	-0.64	0.52
Strengthening Job Protect	ion (EPL)	0.01	0.02	0.47	0.64
Decreasing Labour Taxation	วท	0.01	0.01	2.27	0.02
Increasing Labour Taxation	n	-0.05	0.02	-2.80	0.01
Decreasing Welfare-rel. be	enefits	0.10	0.02	4.93	0.00
Increasing Welfare-rel. ber	nefits	-0.05	0.03	-1.95	0.05
Decreasing Unemployment benefits		-0.13	0.02	-6.30	0.00
Increasing Unemployment. benefits		0.01	0.02	0.77	0.44
Moderating Wage Setting measures		0.01	0.01	0.55	0.58
Increasing Wage Setting n	neasures	0.19	0.03	6.30	0.00
Annual average growth rat	e 2000-2014 of GVA	0.35	0.04	8.54	0.00
GVA per employed in 2000	0	0.02	0.00	9.41	0.00
Annual average growth rat	e 2000-2014 of GFCF	0.04	0.02	2.07	0.04
GFCF in GVA in 2000		2.15	0.65	3.32	0.00
Constant		-2.95	0.46	-6.44	0.00
Number of observations	259				
F(20, 238)	25.06				
Prob > F	0				
R-squared	0.678				
Adjusted R-squared	0.6509				
Root MSE	0.44089				

Note: Policy reforms concerning working time excluded because highly correlated with Wage Setting measures. Source of data: Labour market reform measures – LABREF database; all other data – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data. Specification: Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GFCF = f (number of LMP reform measures per kind in 2000-2014 period, GFCF/GVA in 2000, GVA per hour worked in 2000, Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of Compensation of employment per hour worked).

Annual average growth rate	in 2000-14 of (GFCF	Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t
Contracting ALMP measures			-0.31	0.20	-1.59	0.11
Expanding ALMP measures			0.01	0.02	0.63	0.53
Easing Early withdrawal measu	ures		-0.16	0.09	-1.73	0.09
Tightening Early withdrawal me	easures		0.16	0.10	1.62	0.11
Relaxing Immigration/Mobility	measures		0.08	0.07	1.14	0.26
Tightening Immigration/Mobility	/ measures		-0.05	0.10	-0.47	0.64
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)			-0.10	0.05	-2.18	0.03
Strengthening Job Protection (EPL)		0.15	0.07	2.20	0.03
Decreasing Labour Taxation			0.02	0.02	0.90	0.37
Increasing Labour Taxation			-0.08	0.06	-1.37	0.17
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefi	ts		0.10	0.06	1.65	0.10
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits	6		0.21	0.08	2.65	0.01
Decreasing Unemployment benefits			-0.01	0.07	-0.19	0.85
Increasing Unemployment. benefits			-0.07	0.06	-1.23	0.22
Moderating Wage Setting measures			-0.13	0.03	-4.00	0.00
Increasing Wage Setting meas	ures		-0.24	0.09	-2.57	0.01
GFCF/GVA in 2000			-10.42	1.83	-5.69	0.00
GVA per hour worked in 2000			-0.05	0.01	-4.12	0.00
Annual average growth rate 20	00-2014 of Co	mpensation of empl. per hour	0.82	0.09	8.65	0.00
worked						
constant			1.77	1.53	1.16	0.25
Number of observations	259					
F(19, 239)	32.71					
Prob > F	0.00					
R-squared	0.72					
Adiusted R-squared	0.70					
Root MSE	1.42					

Note: Policy reforms concerning working time excluded because highly correlated with Wage Setting measures. Source of data: Labour market reform measures – LABREF database; all other data – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

Table A 3 / Productivity

Adjusted R-squared

Root MSE

Specification: Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GVA per employment = f (number of LMP reform measures per kind in 2000-2014 period, Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GFCF, GVA per employment in 2000).

Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GVA per employment		Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t
Contracting ALMP measures	-0.18	0.09	-2.05	0.04	
Expanding ALMP measures		-0.03	0.01	-3.38	0.00
Easing Early withdrawal meas	ures	-0.11	0.04	-2.69	0.01
Tightening Early withdrawal m	easures	0.07	0.04	1.67	0.10
Relaxing Immigration/Mobility	measures	0.00	0.03	0.08	0.94
Tightening Immigration/Mobilit	y measures	-0.11	0.05	-2.33	0.02
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)		-0.02	0.02	-0.75	0.45
Strengthening Job Protection	(EPL)	0.01	0.03	0.34	0.73
Decreasing Labour Taxation		-0.04	0.01	-4.99	0.00
Increasing Labour Taxation		0.08	0.02	3.18	0.00
Decreasing Welfare-rel. benefits		-0.08	0.03	-2.77	0.01
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefits		0.13	0.04	3.58	0.00
Decreasing Unemployment benefits		0.16	0.03	5.21	0.00
Increasing Unemployment. benefits		-0.02	0.03	-0.60	0.55
Moderating Wage Setting mea	isures	-0.01	0.01	-0.45	0.65
Increasing Wage Setting measure	sures	-0.30	0.04	-7.09	0.00
Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GFCF		0.11	0.02	4.99	0.00
GVA per employment in 2000		-0.03	0.00	-9.17	0.00
constant		3.87	0.60	6.50	0.00
Number of observations	259				
F(18, 240)	37.85				
Prob > F	0.00				
R-squared	0.74				

Note: Policy reforms concerning working time excluded because highly correlated with Wage Setting measures. Source of data: Labour market reform measures – LABREF database; all other data – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

0.72

0.63

Specification: Change in real Unit labour cost (1-Compensation/GVA) over period 2000-2014 = f (number of LMP reform measures per kind in 2000-2014 period, Real Unit labour cost in 2000, Annual average growth rate 2000-2014 of GVA per employment).

Change in real unit labour cost (1-Compensation/GVA) over period 2000-2014		014 Coef.	Std. Err.	t	P>t
Contracting ALMP measures		0.004	0.01	0.77	0.44
Expanding ALMP measures		0.001	0.00	1.22	0.23
Easing Early withdrawal measure	sures	0.004	0.00	1.51	0.13
Tightening Early withdrawal m	neasures	0.002	0.00	0.85	0.40
Relaxing Immigration/Mobility	measures	0.008	0.00	3.84	0.00
Tightening Immigration/Mobili	ty measures	0.007	0.00	2.40	0.02
Relaxing Job Protection (EPL)	-0.002	0.00	-1.20	0.23
Strengthening Job Protection	(EPL)	0.009	0.00	4.39	0.00
Decreasing Labour Taxation		-0.002	0.00	-4.33	0.00
Decreasing Welfare-rel. bene	fits	0.007	0.00	4.23	0.00
Increasing Welfare-rel. benefi	its	-0.003	0.00	-1.64	0.10
Decreasing Unemployment be	enefits	-0.004	0.00	-1.70	0.09
Increasing Unemployment. be	enefits	0.004	0.00	2.19	0.03
Decreasing Welfare-rel. bene	fits	-0.004	0.00	-2.50	0.01
Moderating Wage Setting me	asures	0.000	0.00	0.07	0.95
Increasing Wage Setting mea	sures	0.005	0.00	1.89	0.06
Real Unit labour cost in 2000		-0.812	0.03	-23.23	0.00
Annual average growth rate 2	2000-2014 of GVA per employment	0.033	0.00	10.21	0.00
constant		0.201	0.04	4.84	0.00
Number of observations	259				
F(18, 240)	40.39				
Droh > C	0.00				

 Prob > F
 0.00

 R-squared
 0.75

 Adjustedj R-squared
 0.73

 Root MSE
 0.04

Note: Policy reforms concerning working time excluded because highly correlated with Wage Setting measures. Source of data: Labour market reform measures – LABREF database; all other data – Cambridge Econometrics, European Regional Data.

8. References

Aghion, P. and Howitt, P. (1992), 'A model of growth through creative destruction', Econometrica, 60, 323-351

Aghion, P., Blundell, R., Griffith, R., Howitt, P. and Prantl, S. (2009), 'The Effects of Entry on Incumbent Innovation and Productivity', Review of Economics and Statistics, 91, 20-32.

Aghion, P., Fally, T. and Scarpetta, S. (2007), 'Credit constraints as a barrier to the entry and post-entry growth of firms', Economic Policy, 22(52), 731-790.

Alberto, A., Ardagna, S., Nicoletti, G. and Schiantarelli, F. (2005), 'Regulation and investment', Journal of the European Economic Association 3(4), 791-825.

Andrews, M.J., Schank, T. and Simmons, R. (2005), Does worksharing work? Some empirical evidence from the IAB-establishment panel, Scottish Journal of Political Economy, 52, 141-176.

Audretsch, D.B., Lehmann, E. and Keilback, M. (2006), Entrepreneurship and Economic Growth, Oxford University Press.

Auerbach, A.J. (2002), 'Taxation and Corporate Financial Policy', in: Handbook of Public Economics, Volume 3, ed. Alan J. Auerbach and Martin Feldstein, Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1251-1292.

Baily, M.N., Hulten, C. and Campbell, D. (1992), 'Productivity dynamics in manufacturing plants', Brookings Papers on Economic Activity: Microeconomics, 187-267.

Baldwin, J. and Wulong, Gu. (2003), 'Export-market participation and productivity performance in Canadian manufacturing.' Canadian Journal of Economics. 36(3), 634-657.

Barro, R.J. and Lee, J.-W. (2010), "A New Data Set of Educational Attainment in the World, 1950–2010", NBER Working Paper 15902, National Bureau of Economic Research (April), Cambridge, MA.

Barro, R.J. and Lee, J.-W. (1993), "International Comparisons of Educational Attainment", Journal of Monetary Economics 32, 363-394.

Bayoumi, T., Laxton, D. and Pesenti, P. (2004), 'Benefits and Spillovers of Greater Competition in Europe: A Macroeconomic Assessment, NBER Working Paper No. 10416.

Bellone, F., Musso, P., Nesta, L. and Schiavo, S. (2010), 'Financial Constraints and Firm Export Behaviour', The World Economy, 33(3), pp. 347-373.

Berman, N. and Héricourt, J. (2010), 'Financial Factors and the Margins of Trade: Evidence from the Cross-Country Firm-level Data, Journal of Development Economics, 93, 206-217.

Bertola, G., Blau, F. and Kahn, L. (2002), 'Labor Market Institutions and Demographic Employment Patterns', NBER Working Paper 9043, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

Blanchard, O. and Wolfers, J. (2000), 'The Role of Shocks and Institutions in the Rise of European Unemployment: The Aggregate Evidence', The Economic Journal, 110, C1-C33.

Brandt, N. (2004), Business dynamics and policies, OECD Economic Studies, n. 38.

Cacciatore, M., Duval, R. and Fiori, G. (2012), 'Short-Term Gain or Pain? A DSGE Model-Based Analysis of the Short-Term Effects of Structural Reforms in Labour and Product Markets', OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No 948, 2012, OECD Publishing.

Cacciatore, M., Duval, R. and Fiori, G. (2012), 'Short-Term Gain or Pain? A DSGE Model-Based Analysis of the Short-Term Effects of Structural Reforms in Labour and Product Markets', OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 948, OECD.

Carpenter, R. E. and Petersen, B.C. (2002): 'Is the Growth of Small Firms Constrained by Internal Finance?' Review of Economics and Statistics, 84(2), 298–309.

Cincera, M. and Galgau, O. (2005), Impact of market entry and exit on EU productivity and growth performance, ECFIN Economic Ppaers, n. 222.

Ciriaci, D. (2014), Business Dynamics and Red Tape Barriers, EC, Economic Papers 532, September.

Ciriaci D., Grassano N. and Vezzani A. (2016) Regulation, Red Tape and Location Choices of Top R&D Investors, EC Discussion paper 031/May.

Coenen, G., McAdam, P., Straub R. (2007), 'Tax reform and labour-market performance in the Euro Area', ECB, Working paper series No 747.

Coenen, G., P. McAdam and Straub, R. (2008a), Tax Reform and Labour-Market Performance in the Euro Area: A Simulation-Based Analysis Using the New Area-Wide Model. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 32(8), 2543-2583.

Cohen, D. and Soto, M. (2007), "Growth and Human Capital: Good Data, Good Results", Journal of Economic Growth 12, 51-76.

Crépon, B. and Kramarz, F. (2002), Employed 40 Hours or not-employed 39: lessons from the 1982 workweek reduction in France, Journal of Political Economy, 110, 1355-1389.

De la Fuente, A. and R. Doménech (2006), "Human Capital in Growth Regressions: How Much Different does Data Quality Make?", Journal of the European Economic Association 4, 1-36.

Devereux, M. P., Griffith R., Klemm A.(2002), 'Corporate Income Tax Reforms and International Tax Competition.' Economic Policy, 17(35), 449-495.

Djankov, S., Ganser, T., McLiesh, C., Ramalho, R., Shleifer, A. (2010), 'The Effect of Corporate Taxes on Investment and Entrepreneurship', American Economic Journal, July, 31-64.

Drabek, Z. and Payne, W. (2002), 'The Impact of Transparency on Foreign Direct Investment', Journal of Economic Integration 17(4), December 2002; 777-810.

ECB (2015), 'Progress with structural reforms across the euro area and their possible impacts', Economic Bulletin, Issue 2 and ECB (2015) 'The short-term fiscal implications of structural reforms', Economic Bulletin, Issue 7.

European Commission (2013), 'Growth Effects of Structural Reforms in Southern Europe: The case of Greece, Italy, Spain and Portugal', Economic Papers 2011, December.

European Commission (2014), 'Market reforms at Work in Italy Spain, Portugal and Greece, European Economy 5/2014, DG Economic and Financial Affairs.

Gal, P. and Theising, A. (2015), 'The macroeconomic impact of structural policies on labour market outcomes in OECD countries – a reassessment, OECD, Economics Department Working Papers No. 1271.

Glewwe, P., Hanushek, E.A., Humpage, S.D. and Ravina, R. (2011), "School Resources and Educational Outcomes in Developing Countries: A Review of the Literature from 1990 to 2010", NBER Working Paper 17554, National Bureau of Economic Research (October), Cambridge, MA.

Golden, L. (2012), The Effects of Working Time on Productivity and Firm Performance: a research synthesis paper, International Labour Office, Geneva.

146

Goldin, C. and Katz, L.F. (2008), The Race Between Education and Technology, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.

Gomes, S., Jacquinot, P., Mohr, M., and Pisani, M. (2011), 'Structural Reforms and Macroeconomic Performance in the Euro Area Countries: A Model-based Assessment', European Central Bank, Working Paper No. 1323.

Gordon, R. H. and Hines R. Jr. (2002), 'International Taxation', in: Handbook of Public Economics, Volume 4, ed. Alan J. Auerbach and Martin Feldstein, Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1935-1995.

Griffith, R., Harrison, R. and Simpson, H. (2006), 'The link between product market reform, innovation and EU macroeconomic performance, European Economy, Economic Papers 243.

Griliches, Z. and Regev, H. (1995), 'Firm Productivity in Israeli Industry', Journal of Econometrics, 65(1), 175-203.

Habib, M. and Zurawickil, L. (2002), 'Corruption and Foreign Direct Investment', Journal of International Business Studies, 33(2).

Hanushek, E. A. and Woessmann, L. (2008), "The Role of Cognitive Skills in Economic Development", Journal of Economic Literature, 46, 607-668.

Hanushek, E. A. and Woessmann, L. (2011b), "How Much do Educational Outcomes Matter in OECD Countries?", Economic Policy, 26, 427-491.

Hanushek, E. A. and Woessmann, L. (2012), "The Economic Benefit of Educational Reform in the European Union", CESifo Economic Studies, 58, 73-109.

Hassett, K.A. and Hubbard, R.G. (2002), 'Tax Policy and Business Investment', in: Handbook of Public Economics, Volume 3, ed. Alan J. Auerbach and Martin Feldstein, Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1293-1343...

Hill, E.J., Miller, B.C., Weiner, S.P. and Colihan, J. (1998), 'Influences of the virtual office on aspects of work and work–life balance', Personnel Psychology, 51, 667-683.

Hines, J. R., Jr. (2007), 'Corporate Taxation and International Competition', in: Taxing Corporate Income in the 21st Century, ed. Alan J. Auerbach, James R. Hines, Jr., and Joel Slemrod, New York: Cambridge University Press, 268-295.

Hunt, J. (1999), Has work-sharing worked in Germany?, Quarterly Journal of Economics, 114, 117-148.

Igbaria, M. and Guimaraes, T. (1999), 'Exploring differences in employee turnover intentions and its determinants among telecommuters and non-telecommuters', Journal of Management Information Systems, 16(1),,147-164.

Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. and Zoido-Lobatón, P. (1999), Aggregating Governance Indicators, Policy Research Paper 2195, The World Bank.

Kaufmann, D. and Kraay A. (2002), Growth Without Governance, The World Bank.

Kelliher, C. and Anderson, D. (2010), 'Doing more with less? Flexible working practices and the intensification of work', Human Relations, 63(1), 83-106.

Kinoshita, Y. and Campos, N. (2003), 'Why Does FDI Go Where it Goes? New Evidence from the Transition Economies', IMF, WP/03/228.

Klapper, L., Lewin A. and Quesada Delgado, J.M. (2009), The Impact Of The Business Environment On The Business Creation Process, The World Bank.

Levchenko, A. (2004), 'Institutional Quality and International Trade', IMF Working Paper, 04/231.

Lusinyan, L. and Muir, D. (2013), 'Assessing the Macroeconomic Impact of Structural Reforms: The Case of Italy', Working Paper Series, No 13/22, IMF, January.

Manova, K. (2008), 'Credit Constraints, Equity Market Liberalizations and International Trade', Journal of International Economics, 76, 33-47.

Messenger, J.C. (ed.) (2004), Working Time and Workers' Preferences in Industrialized Countries: Finding the Balance, Routledge, London.

Mihir, D.A., Foley, F.C. and Hines Jr., R. (2004b), 'Foreign Direct Investment in a World of Multiple Taxes', Journal of Public Economics, 88(12), 2727-2744.

Mohnen, P., Palm, F.C., Loeff, S. S. and Tiwari, A. (2008), Financial Constraints and Other Obstacles: Are they a Threat to Innovation Activity?', De Economist, 156(2), 201-214.

Moreno-Badi, M and Slootmaekers, V. (2008), The Missing Link Between Financial Constraints and Productivity, LICOS Discussion Paper 208.

Musso, P. and Schiavo, S. (2008), 'The impact of financial constraints on firm survival and growth', Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 18, 135-149.

Nickell, S., Nunziata, L. and Ochel, W. (2005), 'Unemployment in the OECD since the 1960s. What Do We Know?', The Economic Journal, 115, 1-27.

Nicodeme G., and Sauner-Leroy, J.B., (2004), Product market reforms and productivity: a review of the theoretical and empirical literature on the transmission channels, ECFIN Economic papers, n. 218.

Nicoletti, G. and Scarpetta S. (2003), Regulation, Productivity and Growth: OECD Evidence, Economic Policy, 18(36), 9-72.

OECD (1997), Small Business, Job Creation and Growth: Facts Obstacles and best Practices

OECD (2006), 'Reassessing the Role of Policies and Institutions for Labour Market Performance: A Quantitative Analysis' in OECD Employment Outlook 2006, OECD Publishing.

OECD (2015), Structural reforms: impact on growth and employment - Italy.

OECD (2016), Entrepreneurship at a Glance 2016, OECD Publishing, Paris.

OECD (2016), Economic Policy Reforms: Going for Growth; OECD surveys on policy reforms in countries (Greece (2016), Poland (2016), Italy (2015), Hungary (2014), Portugal (2014), Spain (2014); OECD indicators and database of Product Market Regulation.

Sala-i-Martin, X., Doppelhofer, G. and Miller, R.I. (2004), "Determinants of Long-Term Growth: A Bayesian Averaging of Classical Estimates (BACE) Approach", American Economic Review, 94, 813-835.

Savignac, F. (2008), 'The impact of financial constraints on innovation: what can be learned from a direct measure?', Economics of Innovation and New Technology, 17(6), 553-569.

Scarpetta, S., Hemmings, P., Tressel, T. and Woo, J. (2002), 'The role of policy and institutions for productivity and firm dynamics: evidence from micro and industry data', Economic Working Paper, (2002)15, OECD, Paris.

Skuterud, M. (2007), Identifying the potential of work-sharing as a job-creation strategy, Journal of Labor Economics, 25, 265-287.

Varejao, J. (2006), Work-sharing revisited – lessons from a natural experiment, Working paper, Faculdade de Economia do Porto.

Varga, J. and in 't Veld, J. (2014), 'The potential growth impact of structural reforms in the EU. A benchmarking exercise', European Economy. Economic Papers 541.

Varga, J., Roeger, W. and in 't Veld, J. (2013), 'Growth effects of Structural Reforms in Southern Europe: The case of Greece, Italy, Spain and Portugal', European Economy Economic Papers 2013.

Wash, J.P. and Yu, J. (2010), 'Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: A Sectoral and Institutional Approach', IMF Working Paper.

Wei, S.-J. (2000), 'How taxing is corruption on internal investors ?', The Review of Economics and Statistics, 82(1), 1-11.

World Bank (2016), Doing Business reports – Measuring Regulatory Quality and Efficiency.

SHORT LIST OF THE MOST RECENT WIW PUBLICATIONS

(AS OF DECEMBER 2017)

For current updates and summaries see also wiiw's website at www.wiiw.ac.at

ECONOMIC CHALLENGES OF LAGGING REGIONS II: RECENT STRUCTURAL REFORMS, OUTSTANDING NEEDS AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

by Roman Römisch (coordinator), Ruggero Fornoni, Lydia Greunz, Nirina Rabemiafara and Terry Ward

wiiw Research Reports, No. 422, December 2017151 pages including 77 Tables and 81 Figureshardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

ECONOMIC CHALLENGES OF LAGGING REGIONS I: FISCAL AND MACROECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

by Roman Römisch (coordinator), Adam Brown, Ben Gardiner and Jonathan Stenning

wiiw Research Reports, No. 421, December 2017 75 pages including 10 Tables and 62 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

FINANCIAL CYCLES IN CREDIT, HOUSING AND CAPITAL MARKETS: EVIDENCE FROM SYSTEMIC ECONOMIES

by Amat Adarov

wiiw Working Papers, No. 140, December 2017 81 pages including 14 Tables and 31 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

TRADE IN SERVICES VERSUS TRADE IN MANUFACTURES: THE RELATION BETWEEN THE ROLE OF TACIT KNOWLEDGE, THE SCOPE FOR CATCH-UP, AND INCOME ELASTICITY by Eddy Bekkers, Michael Landesmann and Indre Macskasi

wiiw Working Papers, No. 139, December 2017 63 pages including 38 Tables and 10 Figures hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website) 150

WIIW MONTHLY REPORT 2017/12

ed. by Vasily Astrov and Sándor Richter

- Graph of the month: Gross domestic product, real growth in %, average 2012-2016
- > Opinion Corner: Do trade imbalances affect economic growth?
- > Trade effects of EU integration arrangements in the Western Balkan countries
- > Corruption and firm-level productivity: greasing or sanding effect?
- > Kyrgyzstan: suffering from 'Dutch disease'?
- > The editors recommend for further reading
- > Monthly and quarterly statistics for Central, East and Southeast Europe
- Index of subjects December 2016 to December 2017

wiiw Monthly Report, No. 12, December 2017 47 pages including 4 Tables and 32 Figures exclusively for wiiw Members

UKRAINE: SELECTED ECONOMIC ISSUES by Vasily Astrov and Leon Podkaminer

wiiw Policy Notes and Reports, No. 19, December 2017 29 pages including 3 Tables, 8 Figures and 1 Box hardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

WIIW HANDBOOK OF STATISTICS 2017: CENTRAL, EAST AND SOUTHEAST EUROPE by Alexandra Bykova, Nadya Heger, Beate Muck, Renate Prasch, Monika Schwarzhappel, Galina Vasaros and David Zenz

Countries covered: Albania, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Kazakhstan, Kosovo, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Turkey, Ukraine

wiiw Handbook of Statistics No. 2017, November 2017 (ISBN: ISBN- 978-3-85209-056-6)
334 pages including 248 Tables and 15 Maps
Hardcopy + CD-ROM with PDF: EUR 70.00 (time series given for 2000, 2005, 2010, 2014-2016)
Download PDF: EUR 50.00 (PDF with identical content as hardcopy)
Download Excel tables + PDF: EUR 245.00
USB drive Excel tables + PDF + hardcopy: EUR 250.00

GLOBAL VALUE CHAINS AND STRUCTURAL UPGRADING by Roman Stöllinger

wiiw Working Papers, No. 138, November 201741 pages including 6 Tables and 2 Figureshardcopy: EUR 8.00 (PDF: free download from wiiw's website)

WIIW MONTHLY REPORT 2017/11

ed. by Vasily Astrov and Sándor Richter

- > Graph of the month: Total Forbes billionaire wealth in selected countries, in % of national income
- > Opinion Corner: What may be the future of EU cohesion policy in the light of currently discussed reforms?
- > Self-imposed food embargo and consumer prices in Russia
- > Can economics explain the current bad EU-Russia relations?
- > Non-tariff barriers in the EU inhibiting DCFTA trade
- The editors recommend for further reading
- > Monthly and quarterly statistics for Central, East and Southeast Europe
- > Index of subjects November 2016 to November 2017

wiiw Monthly Report, No. 11, November 2017 47 pages including 3 Table and 21 Figures exclusively for wiiw Members

CESEE BACK ON TRACK TO CONVERGENCE

by Vladimir Gligorov, Richard Grieveson, Peter Havlik, Leon Podkaminer, et al.

wiiw Forecast Report. Economic Analysis and Outlook for Central, East and Southeast Europe, Autumn 2017
wiiw, November 2017
149 pages including 31 Tables, 51 Figures and 1 Box hardcopy: EUR 80.00 (PDF: EUR 65.00)

WIIW MONTHLY REPORT 2017/10

ed. by Vasily Astrov and Sándor Richter

- > Graph of the month: Regional GDP per capita in the EU, 2014
- Opinion Corner: What are the potential consequences of decertifying the nuclear deal with Iran by US President Trump?
- Austria's economic geography position in Europe
- > Visit thy neighbour: Compositional trends in the Austrian tourism sector
- > Economic relations between Austria and Slovakia
- > The editors recommend for further reading
- Monthly and quarterly statistics for Central, East and Southeast Europe
- Index of subjects October 2016 to October 2017

wiiw Monthly Report, No. 10, October 2017 48 pages including 4 Table and 32 Figures exclusively for wiiw Members

IMPRESSUM

Herausgeber, Verleger, Eigentümer und Hersteller: Verein "Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche" (wiiw), Wien 6, Rahlgasse 3

ZVR-Zahl: 329995655

Postanschrift: A 1060 Wien, Rahlgasse 3, Tel: [+431] 533 66 10, Telefax: [+431] 533 66 10 50 Internet Homepage: www.wiiw.ac.at

Nachdruck nur auszugsweise und mit genauer Quellenangabe gestattet.

Offenlegung nach § 25 Mediengesetz: Medieninhaber (Verleger): Verein "Wiener Institut für Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche", A 1060 Wien, Rahlgasse 3. Vereinszweck: Analyse der wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung der zentral- und osteuropäischen Länder sowie anderer Transformationswirtschaften sowohl mittels empirischer als auch theoretischer Studien und ihre Veröffentlichung; Erbringung von Beratungsleistungen für Regierungs- und Verwaltungsstellen, Firmen und Institutionen.



wiiw.ac.at

